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2013Registration Document

This Registration Document was filed with the 
French Financial Markets Authority (Autorité des 
Marchés Financiers - AMF) on 26 May 2014 under 
reference number R. 14-035, in accordance with its 
General Regulation, specifically Article 212-13. This 
document may only be used to support a financial 
transaction if it is supplemented by a securities 
note, approved by the AMF. It has been prepared by 
the issuer and engages the liability of its signatories.

In accordance with the provisions of Article 
L. 621-8-1-I of the French Monetary and Financial 
Code, this Registration Document was filed 
following verification by the AMF that the document 
is complete and comprehensible and that the 
information it contains is consistent. This does not 
imply the AMF’s authentication of the financial and 
accounting information presented.
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Profile  
Profile

Established in the Vendée region of France since 1905, the majority of Fleury Michon’s share capital is 
family-owned. Acknowledged as one of the leading French food brands with 100% brand recognition 
and a presence in more than 76%(1) of French households, the Fleury Michon brand constitutes an 
essential asset in the Group’s strategy. The Group’s development is structured around three strategic 
growth areas: French Supermarkets (86.7% of revenue), international operations and Out of Home 
Catering. In international operations Fleury Michon has been building its know-how over 30 years in 
the fresh prepared meals segment (6.3% of revenue in 2013). In the Out of Home Catering segment, 
Fleury Michon offers prepared meals for travel, office and events catering (7% of revenue in 2013).

Fleury Michon posted revenue of €697.9 million in 2013. A responsible and committed company, 
Fleury Michon allies economic development and social progress, dedicating its high professional 
standards to delivering customer satisfaction.

(1) Source: Aggregate Supermarkets and Out of Home Catering 2013 Kantarworld Panel.
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Chairman’s message

Grégoire Gonnord

Helping people 
eat better every day, 
through a business model 
that combines economic 
efficiency with social 
responsibility

After years of steady growth exceeding 5% per year throughout 
the last decade, the temporary slowdown in business in 2013 
has in no way shaken our confidence in Fleury Michon’s future 
growth potential.

We are preparing for the future and remain focused on 
long-term growth. To do so, we have a number of key assets:

 k A clear, fundamental and specific mission: “helping 
people eat better every day, through a business 
model that combines economic efficiency with social 
responsibility”. Fleury Michon’s commitment, which is in line 
with our history and culture, drives to the heart of society’s 
expectations. In the light of recurring food scandals, we wish 
to give consumers peace of mind in their day-to-day diet once 
again and show that an alternative food business model is 
possible: one that is more demanding, more conscientious 
and more responsible.
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Fleury Michon stays on course 
for long-term growth

 k A more open connection and dialogue with our consumers. 
For brands, the internet represents an opportunity. The digital 
revolution Fleury Michon is implementing will further strengthen 
our interactions and links with our consumers. For example, 
in April 2014 we launched the #venezverifier (“come and see”) 
campaign, which makes our surimi segment fully transparent 
and invites people to “come and see” for themselves. This full 
transparency campaign, the first of its kind in the business, 
was very positively received and widely shared on social 
media.

By pursuing these efforts, we will succeed in making our 
customers more aware of what sets us apart and attain our 
goal of becoming the food brand most trusted by the French 
people.

 k A real ability to grow, whilst remaining open to all means 
by which to do so. Organic growth will remain our number one 
priority, with product innovation our best weapon to combat 
the crisis and stimulate growth on our markets. However, as 
in the past, in the future we will still be able to make new 
acquisitions and form new partnerships. Our healthy, secure 
financial structure permits this.

Fleury Michon: 
the ability to adapt 
collectively to 
a changing world

 k A particularly strong, solid human dynamic. Our success 
is due first and foremost to the quality of our teams, who are 
greatly empowered and close to the ground. This collective 
energy, focused on a single corporate vision and on ongoing 
adaptation, is another reason to have faith in the future.

All of these reasons allow us to be confident that Fleury Michon’s 
dynamism will continue.

I would like to congratulate all the Group’s teams for their 
determination to lead us to greater heights.

I would also like to thank our consumers, customers, partners 
and shareholders, without whom this collective success would 
not be possible.

Grégoire Gonnord

Chairman
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Chief Executive Officer’s message

Régis Lebrun

More than just an economic crisis, 
what we are seeing is a change 
in consumption patterns

The negative effects of scandals and the loss of trust are causing 
consumers to be more demanding in terms of transparency with 
respect to agri-food companies. Brands that are perceived as 
being responsible are seeing their legitimacy strengthened in 
response to these food safety and societal issues.

Previously, in times of crisis, consumers would buy just as much, 
even if they had to move to a lower price range. This meant that 
volumes stayed at the same level. Today, however, their behaviour 
is changing: despite the economic pressure, their concerns about 
quality, food safety, the environment and responsibility are causing 
them to consume “less, but better”, rather than “just as much, 
but not as well”.

This new consumption pattern is something we had anticipated. 
The confidence our consumers have maintained in the Fleury 
Michon brand encourages the Group to continue the work it has 
carried out on food safety, on its segments and on nutrition. This is 
a demanding, difficult and costly process, but one that is essential 
for building confidence.

More than just a manufacturer, we want to be seen as a responsible 
company committed to ongoing improvement, that is fully aware 
of societal issues and a force for progress.
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We have continued  
to reduce our debt

In 2013, we experienced a number of unfavourable events 
that affected our business at various levels. In February, 
“horsegate” negatively impacted our prepared meals 
business, although we were not involved in the scandal. Very 
bad spring weather disrupted seasonal sales of surimi. In 
charcuterie, sales negotiations during the last four months 
hindered our business growth. Finally, our international 
operations were slowed by our activity in Canada.

Despite these events, our business grew +1% compared with 
2012 and +2.7% for the Fleury Michon brand. Although our 
net profit fell €1.7 million to €16.2 million, our net profitability 
remained close to that of 2012, at 2.3%.

Moreover, our financial position improved and we also 
continued to reduce our debt.

Fleury Michon has a number of assets that make it a leader on 
its markets and a respected partner: with our suppliers, through 
our sustainable partnerships policy; with our customers, thanks to 
our ability to generate revenue and profit, to innovate, to provide 
good service and to create demand.

We began 2014 confidently, in a somewhat difficult economic 
environment, but with the goal of consolidating and strengthening 
our positions in France and winning over ever greater numbers of 
customers in the other countries where we operate, which today 
represent a total of some 310 million inhabitants.

Régis Lebrun

CEO

We stood up well  
to an adverse  
environment in 2013
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1.1 Key figures

The consolidated financial statements and Notes were prepared in accordance with IFRS and are presented in Section 5, “Consolidated 
financial statements”.

1.1.1 Selected financial information

1.1.2 Financial information by business sector(1)

(1) The Group’s operating segments are:
 French Supermarkets: fresh self-service products sold in the prepared meals and charcuterie sections of supermarkets under the Fleury Michon name or 

distributor labels; production and distribution governed by regulations applicable in France.
 International (excluding the equity-accounted joint venture): fresh self-service pre-packed products; production and distribution governed by regulations 

applicable outside France; business under development and no mature presence in the markets concerned.
 Other: Catering not presented separately (Out of Home Catering and travel prepared meals), and support and assistance to subsidiaries (notably logistics, 

HR, IT and finance).

Revenue in € millions 2011 2012 2013

French Supermarkets 556.3 594.8 605.0

International 44.8 47.8 44.0

Other sectors France 43.5 48.4 48.9

TOTAL 644.6 691.0 697.9

KEY CONSOLIDATED FIGURES

In € millions 2011 2012 2013

Revenue 644.6 691.0 697.9

% revenue change 7.8% 7.2% 1.0%

Operating income 25.6 37.0 32.2

Operating margin 4.0% 5.3% 4.6%

Net profit/(loss) 13.0 17.9 16.2

Net margin 2.0% 2.6% 2.3%

Net debt 108.2 93.0 91.1

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOWS

In € millions 2011 2012 2013

Cash flows from operating activities 29.2 69.1 38.9

Cash flows from investing activities -66.2 -34.8 -33.3

Cash flows from financing activities 31.3 -0.5 -13.7

Changes in net cash -5.7 33.8 -8.1

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 46.7 80.5 72.4
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Key figures

1.1.3 2013 highlights

Against a background marked by particularly complex economic 
conditions, the Fleury Michon Group managed to maintain annual 
revenue growth, with a 1% increase to €697.9 million compared 
with €691 million in 2012.

The three major business segments posted the following figures:

 k French Supermarkets: +1.7%

 k International: -7.9%

 k Services and other (included in “Other”): +1.1%

In the French Supermarkets segment, the Fleury Michon brand 
posted growth of +2.7%, which was higher than that of the food 
market at 1.3%(1) in a context of sustained competition. Despite a 
last quarter marked by a 2.6% fall in sales, the brand’s penetration 
rate rose 0.6 points to reach 76.9%(2) of French households. Fleury 
Michon was ranked first in the 2013 Gaïa Index (Industry category)
(3), and fourth overall. The first non-financial report required under 
Article 225 of the Grenelle environment law was praised by the 
agency Ethifinance.

The Group’s International business reported more mixed fortunes.

The equity-accounted businesses (Italy and Spain) resisted well in 
very unfavourable local economic contexts. After seeing growth 
last year, the Canadian business declined by -11.7% in 2013 
(though only -6.5% at constant exchange rates) owing to the 
company’s withdrawal from frozen distributor label markets.

Services & Other was buoyed by the delivered meals market, 
which grew 8.6%.

The operating margin came to 4.6% of revenue, compared with 
5.3%. Three major factors affected the operating income:

 k A fiercely competitive environment and high prices of raw 
materials;

 k Increased communication investment to support the Fleury 
Michon brand;

 k The start-up of the new industrial facility in Cambrai (France).

This income also comprises non-recurring items related to the 
award of free shares to Group employees.

In 2013, profitability fell to a net margin of 2.3% (consolidated net 
profit (loss)/consolidated revenue), i.e. -0.3 points compared with 
2012 but +0.3 points compared with 2011. Net financial debt fell 
by €1.9 million during 2013, after a reduction of more than €15 
million the previous year.

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year amounted to 
more than €72 million, guaranteeing the Group liquidity and a 
certain level of reactivity in order to fund its development projects 
and other opportunities.

At 31 December 2013, equity stood at €179.2 million, with a 
gearing (net debt/equity) down to 0.51 (0.55 in 2012, 0.67 in 
2011).

(1) Source: Nielsen scanTrack, growth in value of supermarket products at end-2013.
(2) Source: Kantar Worldpanel at end-2013 looking at total supermarket products, all channels.
(3) Source: Ethifinance 2013 Gaïa Index, Industry category, site www.ethifinance.com.

BREAKDOWN OF REVENUE BY BUSINESS SECTOR

Supermarkets France

86.6% Other sectors France

7%

International

6.4%

Operating profit in € millions 2011 2012 2013

French Supermarkets 27.6 38.5 33.3

International -4.7 -3.6 -6.4

Other sectors France 2.7 2.1 5.3

TOTAL 25.6 37.0 32.2
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1960s and 1970s: Moving into self-service products

1964: Fleury Michon became one 
of the first pork butchers to offer 
fresh pre-packaged products.

1974: Combining its expertise in 
cooking ham with new practices 
developed by such master chefs 
as Jean and Pierre Troisgros, 
Paul Bocuse and Michel Guérard, 
Fleury Michon created fresh 
prepared dishes cooked slowly at 
low temperature using the sous-
vide method.

1.2 History

From 1885 to the 1950s: Pork products from Western France make their mark in Paris

1885: Pork butcher Félix Fleury opened a shop in La Roche-sur-Yon, in the 
Vendée region of France. “Let’s do it right” was his motto.

1905: Félix Fleury joined forces with his brother-in-law, Lucien Michon, and 
together they laid down the first statues for Fleury & Michon’s stores.

Starting in the 1920s: Pierre Fleury laid the foundation for the Company’s 
future by developing an integrated slaughtering, meat cutting and pork salting 
business.

1934: Establishment at Pouzauges. Fleury Michon products were sold by 
wholesalers, pork butchers and supermarket deli counters.

1950s: Fleury Michon invented a sous-vide slow-cooking process for ham.
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1980s and 1990s: Building brand awareness and new businesses

1982: Fleury Michon began sponsoring skipper Philippe Poupon 
and became a household name in France.

1987: Fleury Michon met a young master chef named Joël 
Robuchon, marking the beginning of a close partnership that 
would stimulate R&D and the search for excellence.

1990: It introduced surimi, a healthy fish-based snack with its 
origins in Japanese cuisine.

1992: Fleury Michon became the market leader in superior ham 
thanks to the launch of the Red Label line in the self-service aisle, 
enhanced production processes and the acquisition of rival Olida.

1997: Fleury Michon was voted Marque du Siècle (Brand of 
the Century) in the Charcuterie category by a BVA (Brulé Ville et 
Associé) survey of 11,500 consumers (the most widely recognised 
brand, offering the most consistent quality and inspiring the most 
confidence in the future).

2000 and beyond: Growing the brand and expanding abroad

2000: IPO, while remaining majority family-controlled. All products 
reformulated to eliminate additives and reduce salt and fat content.

2002: Fleury Michon teamed up with Beretta to form an Italian 
subsidiary, Piatti Freschi Italia.

2004: Move into the Out of Home Catering market: Room Saveurs 
created to handle catering and delivered meals. At the same time, 
it committed historic capital outlays in France.

2006: Acquisition of Delta Dailyfood Canada (DDFC).

2008: The Company took a share in Proconi, the Slovenian fresh 
prepared food specialist for the Supermarket and Out of Home 
Catering sectors.

2010: Signature of the French national health and nutrition 
programme (PNNS) charter with three supervising ministries 
(Health, Food and the Economy). That same year, Fleury Michon 
formalised its approach to Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR). 
Fleury Michon’s advertising moved to a new level, with a new 
baseline: “Obsessed with Goodness”.

2011: Acquisition of Fres.Co by our PFI joint venture.

2012: First superior ham products produced in November in the 
new Cambrai facility.

2013: Award of free shares to Group employees in France – to 
achieve 100% employee shareholders within four years.



2013 Registration Document -14

the grouP1 Organisation chart

1.3 Organisation chart

100%

100%

100%

100%

100% 100% 51%

50%

40%

47.5%

100% 100% 100% 100%

FLEURY MICHON SA
Investment holding company providing services to subsidiaries  

(finance, information technology, human resources, communication and international development)

LEGAL ORGANISATION CHART
At 31 December 2013

Fr
an

ce

FLEURY MICHON
CHARCUTERIE SAS

MARKET
Pre-packaged charcuterie 

for supermarket 
self-service aisles

PRODUCTS
Hams, poultry cuts, 

ready-to-eat charcuterie

CHARCUTERIES 
CUISINEES DE PLELAN SAS

Production of 
ready-to-eat charcuterie 

and pâtés, 
meat deboning

SOCIETE D'INNOVATION
CULINAIRE SAS

Activity start date
November 12

Production of charcuterie
Hams

FLEURY MICHON
TRAITEUR SAS

MARKET
Prepared meal products

for supermarket 
self-service aisles

Out of Home Catering

PRODUCTS
Ready meals 

Surimi

FLEURY MICHON
LOGISTIQUE SAS

Logistics 
and order processing 
for the Fleury Michon 

France Group

ROOM SAVEURS
 SAS

Delivered meals
Fauchon

Flo Prestige
Cojeren
Roberta

In
te

rn
at

io
na

l

FLEURY MICHON
CANADA INC

Holding company

Finance and investment 
management

DELTA DAILYFOOD
CANADA INC

MARKET
Self-service catering 

in supermarkets
Out of Home Catering

PRODUCTS
Ready meals

PROCONI
DOO

MARKET
Prepared meal products

Supermarket 
self-service aisles

Out of Home Catering

PRODUCTS
Ready meals

FLEURY MICHON
POLSKA ZOO

MARKET
Supermarket 

self-service aisles

Sales and marketing 
of Fleury Michon products 

in Poland

FLEURY MICHON 
SUISSE SA

CANADA SLOVENIA POLAND SWITZERLAND

FLEURY MICHON
NORGE AS

MARKET
Supermarket 

self-service aisles

Sales and marketing 
of Fleury Michon products 

in Norway
Key

Fully consolidated subsidiary

Company accounted for by the equity method

PLATOS 
TRADICIONALES SA

MARKET
Supermarket 

self-service aisles

PRODUCTS
Ready meals

NORWAY SPAIN

PIATTI FRESCHI
ITALIA SPA

MARKET
Supermarket 

self-service aisles

PRODUCTS
Ready meals

Salads, sauces 
and Sandwiches

ITALY

MARKET
Supermarket 

self-service aisles

Sales and marketing 
of Fleury Michon products 

in Switzerland
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1.4 Businesses and strategy

Founded in 1905, Fleury Michon has grown to become one of the 
leading French food brands, known for the quality of its products 
and its dynamic strategy.

A mid-size and independent company, Fleury Michon specialises 
in fresh prepared meals for everyday consumption.

The Fleury Michon Group

Independent 
and 
family-run

Founded 
in 1905 

Medium-
sized

Focused 
on the 
long-term

With strong 
growth 
prospects

The Company’s corporate vision consists of:

 k A commitment to society: showing that an alternative food 
business model is possible thanks to a long-term, responsible 
and transparent commitment;

 k A commitment to consumers: helping people to eat better 
every day by providing tasty, healthy, convenient products that 
consumers want to endorse.

The Group’s culture is based on the slogan “Obsessed with 
Goodness”, which applies to its products, customer services, 
teams and practices alike. This culture places high value on the 
men and women of Fleury Michon, trust and progress. It has 
led naturally to the Group’s commitment to promoting corporate 
social responsibility.

The six major strategic principles can be summarised by a willingness to grow, to strengthen, to adapt and to remain master of its own destiny.

Constantly strive to be 
the brand leader 
on our markets – 

or withdraw from them…

Prioritise markets
with strong potential
for long-term growth.

Invest heavily 
to enhance our 

competitive edge. 
Choose our priorities and 

focus our resources. 

Diversify our risks 
by expanding our product 
range and geographical 

scope.

Foster a long-term 
commitment from our 

employees through a solid, 
empowering company 

culture.

Combine strength 
and reactivity, 
centralisation 

and decentralisation.

Grow, 

strengthen, 

adapt 

and remain 

master of our 

own destiny.

STRATEGIC PRINCIPLES
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1.4.1 Organisation chart by business

FLEURY MICHON SA

SU
PE

RM
AR

KE
TS

FLEURY MICHON
CHARCUTERIE

CHARCUTERIE

EUROPE

EUROPE - Companies accounted for by the equity method

PREPARED MEALS

OUTSIDE EUROPE

Revenue: €423.4 million
Headcount: 1,320

MARKET
Pre-packaged charcuterie 

for supermarket 
self-service aisles

PRODUCTS
Hams

Poultry cuts
Ready-to-eat charcuterie

Interest: 100%

Revenue: €2.2 million
Headcount: 332

Logistics and order 
processing for 

the Fleury Michon France 
Group

Interest: 100%

Revenue: €0.8 million
Headcount: 149

Holding company

Interest: Parent

Revenue: €21.7 million
Headcount: 37

Delivered meals
Fauchon

Flo prestige

Interest: 100%

Revenue: //
Headcount: //

MARKET
Catering

Out of Home Catering
PRODUCTS

Ready meals

Interest: 100%

CHARCUTERIES 
CUISINEES DE PLELAN

SOCIETE D'INNOVATION
CULINAIRE

FLEURY MICHON
TRAITEUR

Revenue: €210.2 million
Headcount: 1,291

MARKET
Prepared meals 
for supermarket 

self-service aisles
PRODUCTS

Ready meals
Surimi

Interest: 100%

Revenue: €80.9 million
Headcount: 289

MARKET
Supermarket 

self-service aisles
PRODUCTS

Ready meals Salads, 
sauces 

and sandwiches

Interest: 50%

PIATTI FRESCHI
ITALIA

Revenue: €0.6 million
Headcount: 115

MARKET
Production of

ready-to-eat charcuterie 
Pâtés, pork knuckles, 

meat deboning

Interest: 100%

Revenue: €0 million
Headcount: 84

Production of charcuterie
Pork hams

Interest: 100%

IN
TE

RN
AT

IO
NA

L

FLEURY MICHON
SA

FLEURY MICHON 
LOGISTIQUE

ROOM SAVEURS FLEURY MICHON
TRAITEUR

OT
HE

R 
SE

CT
OR

S

Investment holding company providing services to subsidiaries 
(finance, information technology, human resources, communication and international development)

MANAGEMENT
Chairman of the Board of Directors: Grégoire Gonnord - Chief Executive Officer: Régis Lebrun - Chief Operating Officer: Raymond Doizon 

Group Fleury Michon consolidated revenue: €697.9 million 
Headcount: 3,710

Revenue: €0.1 million
Headcount: 0

Sales and marketing 
of Fleury Michon products 

in Poland

Interest: 100%

FLEURY MICHON 
POLSKA 

Revenue: €2.8 million
Headcount: 1

Sales and marketing 
of Fleury Michon products 

in Switzerland

Interest: 51%

FLEURY MICHON 
SUISSE

Revenue: //
Headcount: //

MARKET
Prepared meal products 

for supermarket 
self-service aisles

Export
PRODUCTS

Ready meals

Interest: 100%

FLEURY MICHON
TRAITEUR

Revenue: €0.4 million
Headcount: 2

Sales and marketing 
of Fleury Michon products 

in Norway

Interest: 40%

FLEURY MICHON 
NORGE

Revenue: €48.4 million
Headcount: 184

MARKET
Supermarket 

self-service aisles
PRODUCTS

Ready meals

Interest: 47.50%

PLATOS TRADICIONALES
ESPAGNE

Revenue: 0
Headcount: 0

Holding company

Investment management 
and finance

Interest: 100%

FLEURY MICHON
CANADA INC

Revenue: €31.7 million
Headcount: 297

MARKET
Self-service catering in 

supermarkets
Out of Home Catering

PRODUCTS
Ready meals

Interest: 100%

DELTA DAILYFOOD
CANADA

Revenue: €4.4 million
Headcount: 84

MARKET
Prepared meal products 

for supermarket 
self-service aisles

Out of Home Catering
PRODUCTS

Ready meals

Interest: 100%

PROCONI
SLOVENIE
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1.4.2 French Supermarkets

Over the year, the French Supermarkets segment posted a rise of 
+1.7%, on a food market that edged up by 1.3%. Nonetheless, 
there was a 2.6% drop in sales in the last quarter.

Sales for the Fleury Michon brand outperformed the market at 
+2.7%, as the Group maintained its advertising, marketing and 
sales efforts.

Over the year, the Charcuterie business remained very dynamic, 
climbing 5.6% on a market that rose 2.2%, thanks to a positive 
response to its innovations and the good performance of its 
standard products. The Prepared Meals business recorded a 2.1% 
decline compared with the 4.3% downturn suffered by the market, 
which was heavily affected by the scandal in February 2013 
surrounding the origin of meat. These two segments continued 

to gain market share and consolidate their pole position over 
the year. Sales for the Prepared Seafood activity fell 9.9% on a 
market that recorded a 6.4% decline, due to inclement weather 
in spring, which prevented the start of the surimi season, and 
product repositioning (retail price, line, distribution), which was 
disadvantageous in the short-term. Nevertheless, Fleury Michon 
remained the market leader.

The Fleury Michon brand confirmed its strategic importance, 
gaining nearly 180,000 more consumer households to achieve a 
penetration rate of 76.9% in France.

In ten years, the brand has increased its revenue from €310 million 
to €551 million, which represents 91% of sales on the French 
Supermarkets segment and average annual growth of +6%.

SELF-SERVICE CHARCUTERIE-PREPARED MEALS MARKET SHARES

Herta (Nestlé) Marie (LDC) MDDFleury Michon
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2%
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6%

8%
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Source: IRI (Information Resources Inc).
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FRENCH SUPERMARKETS: MAIN MARKETS AND FLEURY MICHON’S MAIN COMPETITORS

Ham(1)

Lowest price

5% (-2%)

Other

7% (+2%)

Fleury Michon

20% (+6%)

Distributor labels(2)

51% (+1%)

Market
1,534 M€ (+1,9%)

No 1

Herta

17% (-4%)

Poultry cuts(1)

Lowest price

5% (-7%)

Distributor labels(2)

44% (-1%)

Other

3% (+6%)

Fleury Michon

44% (-2%)

Isla

4% (+12%)

No 1

Market
310 M€ (-1%)

(1) Cumulative annual moving average Supermarkets and Out of Home Catering. Source: IRI, (Information Resources Inc) at 12/2013.
(2) Distributor brands.

Ready-to-eat charcuterie(1)

Lowest price

4% (-3%)

Distributor labels(2)

39% (+1%)

Other

16% (+5%)

Fleury Michon

37% (+4%)

Herta

4% (+5%)

No 1

Market
371 M€ (+4,0%)

Individual ready meals (box included)(1)

Other

13% (-4 %)

Distributor labels(2)

30% (-5%)

Market
529 M€ (-4,3%)

Lustucru

4% (+2%)

Fleury Michon

29% (-3%)

Weight Watchers

6% (+2%)

No 1

Marie

12% (+2%)

Sodebo

6% (-6%)

Surimi(1)

Lowest price & Other

10% (-10%)

Distributor labels(2)

47% (-7%)
Fleury Michon

24% (-13%)

No 1

Market
293 M€ (-6%)

Coraya

19% (+7%)
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Fleury Michon aims to grow its international operations on the 
fresh self-service market. The strategies implemented to achieve 
this objective include:

 k Signature of joint-ventures;

 k Company acquisitions;

 k Extending the international reach of the Fleury Michon brand.

The Group’s total sales and production facilities have the potential 
to reach 310 million inhabitants.

1.4.3 International Operations

FRANCE

CANADA

SPAIN ITALY
SLOVENIA

CANADA

SPAIN

SLOVENIA

2007-2009: Acquisition 
of Proconi.

EUROPE - EXPORT

END 2006: Acquisition 
of DELTA DAILYFOOD near
Montreal and expansion 

of the site in 2008.

SPAIN

ITALY

2002: Joint venture 
with Beretta in Italy, 
under the PFI name. 

2011: Acquisition 
of Fres.Co, Italian leader 
in fresh prepared foods 

via its PFI subsidiary.

2006: Joint venture with 
Martinez Loriente, under 

the Platos Tradicionales name. 
2008: Construction and start-up 

of production facilities.

ITALY
SLOVENIA

In 2013, the International operations of fully consolidated 
companies represented 6.3% of revenue, at €44 million. However, 
including the companies accounted for using the equity method 
in proportion to the Group’s holdings, annual revenue came to 

€107.6 million, and the total business volume of each company 
amounted to almost €174 million, a rise of +0.8%. This segment 
was practically non-existent in 2003, aside from a small export 
operation.

Slovenia

10%

Other (2)

10%

Canada

72%

Italy

38%

Slovenia

4%

Canada

30%

Other (2)

7%

Spain

21%

Italy

47%

Slovenia

3%
Canada

18%

Other (2)

4%

Spain

28%

INTERNATIONAL BUSINESS IN 2013

Business volume 
of consolidated subsidiaries

44.0 M€    -7.9%

Business volume 
proportionate to shareholdings(1)

107.6 M€    -1.1%

Total business volume 
of each subsidiary

173.6 M€    +0.8%

(1) Italy = 50%   Spain = 47.5%  Canada – Slovenia – Other = 100%.       

(2) Export + Fleury Michon Suisse
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1.4.4 Services and other operations (included in “Other”)

Fleury Michon is expanding into services, which are now mainly 
represented by delivered meals to the workplace, airline catering 
(travel prepared meals) and healthcare catering in hospitals.

€33.7 million (5%) 
of consolidated 
revenue in 2013

Out of Home Catering

18%

Room Saveurs

64%
Catering

18%

Room Saveurs accounted for almost two-thirds of the Services 
business. This subsidiary operates on the delivered meals to the 
workplace market in the Paris region, with a wide, varied product 
range:

 k Luxury, with “Fauchon”;

 k Brasserie, with “Flo Prestige”;

 k Natural, with “Pleine Nature”;

 k Italian, with “Roberta”;

 k Simplicity, with “Pause Déjeuner”.

 k “Cojean” sandwiches;

 k Buffets, cocktails and breakfasts.

The Group’s policy is to own its own production facilities, financed 
through bank loans over seven-year terms, with the exception of 
the new Cambrai site, which is financed through a 12-year lease 
contract.

The Group has a portfolio of ten solely-owned industrial facilities 
and five joint venture sites.

EIGHT SITES IN FRANCE, SIX OF WHICH ARE 
IN THE VENDÉE CLOSE TO THE COMPANY’S 
HEADQUARTERS

 k Two sites in Chantonnay: one charcuterie (poultry cuts) and 
one prepared seafood (surimi);

 k One site in Mouilleron en Pareds: prepared meals;

 k Two sites in Pouzauges: one charcuterie (ham) and one 
prepared foods (prepared meals and surimi);

 k One site in Meilleraie-Tillay (Gare de Pouzauges): one 
charcuterie (cooking aids), together with the logistics centre 
(centralised processing and preparation of orders for French 
Supermarkets), headquarters and administrative services;

 k One site in Brittany at Plélan Le Grand: charcuterie (preparation 
of meats and charcuterie products);

 k One site in Cambrai, in the Nord Pas de Calais region: 
charcuterie (hams).

SEVEN INTERNATIONAL SITES

 k One site in Rigaud, Quebec Province in Canada: prepared 
foods (prepared meals);

 k One site in Murska Sobota in Slovenia: prepared foods 
(prepared meals);

 k One joint venture site in Buñol, Valencia in Spain: prepared 
foods (prepared meals and roast chicken);

 k Four fresh prepared sites in Italy in Trezzo sull’Adda, 
Traversoloto, Marnate and Caresanablot.

Industrial capital expenditure is planned on a multi-year basis 
to meet the Group’s growth strategy. It covers the equipment 
required to meet growth prospects in terms of:

 k Increasing volume;

 k Product innovation;

 k Improving productivity;

 k Improving levels of food safety;

 k Guaranteeing quality.

1.4.5 Production facilities and equipment
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Capital expenditure in the Group’s companies in France and abroad in the past three financial years is summarised in the table below in 
millions of euros:

Company Region 2011 2012 2013

Fleury Michon SA(1) France 15.1 9.5 0

Fleury Michon Charcuterie France 17.9 7.4 8.1

Charcuteries Cuisinées de Plélan France 1.2 0.2 1.9

Société d’Innovation Culinaire France 1.4 8.7 4.1

CHARCUTERIE SUB-TOTAL 35.6 25.8 14.1

Fleury Michon SA France 0.6 0.8 0.2

Fleury Michon Traiteur France 7.7 9.1 8.6

PREPARED FOODS SUB-TOTAL 8.3 9.9 8.8

Fleury Michon Logistique France 0.5 1.0 0.9

Other companies France 0.7 1.2 1.8

FRANCE SUB-TOTAL 45.0 38.0 25.6

Proconi Slovenia 0.2 0.1 0.2

Delta Dailyfood Canada Canada 1.4 2.2 1.2

INTERNATIONAL SUB-TOTAL 1.6 2.3 1.4

TOTAL 46.7 40.3 27.0

(1) Real estate investments of the production subsidiaries located in France are booked by Fleury Michon.

The most recent major capital expenditure related to the opening of a new production facility in Cambrai (France) at the end of 2012. 
Building construction costs totalled €25 million and equipment costs came in at €12.5 million (total amount at 31 December 2013).
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1.5 Research and development

Starting in 1999, Fleury Michon actively deployed a nutritional 
approach designed to promote sustainable nutrition. This 
corporate commitment was aligned with France’s national health 
and nutrition programme (PNNS), which was launched to improve 
the population’s health by focusing on balanced nutrition. In 2010, 
we signed a nutritional progress charter with the French Ministries 
of Health, Food and the Economy:

 k Compliance with daily recommended allowances (RDA) of 
macronutrients and micronutrients;

 k Fat: threshold quantity to be complied with and qualitative 
selection of fatty substances (e.g. absence of hydrogenated 
oils);

 k Salt: threshold quantity to be complied with for each product 
family;

 k Additives: removal wherever possible;

 k Nutritional information on all packaging and website for 100g 
and values per portion.

In 2013, the three signatory Ministries confirmed that all 
commitments had been met and even exceeded, after verification 
and approval by the Agri-Food “CRITT” (regional centre of 
innovation and technology transfer) for the Poitou-Charentes 
region, an independent third-party body. Therefore:

 k On the salt commitment:

 ● 15.6% reduction in average content in prepared meals,

 ● 7.7% reduction in salt content in charcuterie;

 k On the trans fatty acids commitment:

 ● Content of trans fatty acids below 1g/100g in prepared 
meals (0.116g/100g) and in surimi (0.064g/100g),

 ● Absence of hydrogenated oils in 100% of prepared meals 
and surimi;

 k On the saturated fatty acids in prepared meals commitment:

 ● Reduction in the average content of saturated fatty acids,

 ● Absence of palm oil in 100% of prepared meals;

 k On the nutritional labelling commitment: 100% of products 
have a nutritional label for 100g and values per portion;

 k On the employee commitment:

 ● 80% of employees have undergone nutritional monitoring,

 ● 350 diet consultations financed by the company’s mutual 
health insurance,

 ● Organisation of balanced eating events and educational 
breakfasts,

 ● 48 Works Council programmes to promote balanced 
eating and/or physical activity covered 988 families of 
employees,

 ● 15,000 local seasonal fruits distributed to employees,

 ● Adaptation of products available in vending machines: in 
2013, 30% of snacks purchased were fruit- or cereal-
based,

 ● Six events held in the Group’s various staff restaurants.

Our R&D team of cooks and engineers, advised by master chef 
Joël Robuchon since 1987, renews 20% to 30% of our recipes 
each year. Our research and development teams continued to 
work on new processes and products during the year with a focus 
on three key objectives:

 k Complying with the nutritional charter;

 k Cutting down on the use of food additives;

 k Reducing the environmental footprint of our product 
packaging;

 k Our Scientific Committee is made up of members from the 
fields of medicine, science and cooking. It was formed to 
discuss and consider issues related to diet and health. The 
Committee meets twice a year on average.

No development costs were capitalised during the year. All 
research and development costs were expensed as incurred.
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1.6 Risk factors

The Group reviewed the risks that could have a significant negative impact on its business, financial position or results (or on its ability to 
achieve its objectives) and considers that no other material risks exist except those outlined below.

Identified material risks are regularly reviewed by Group Management, the Audit and Risks Committee and the Quality Departments.

1.6.1 Food product manufacturing risks

To ensure that its products are safe and of high quality, Fleury 
Michon has deployed a total quality management programme 
for all of its processes in the different businesses and production 
sites. This quality approach focuses on feedback from clients 
and consumers, performance and continuous improvements 
in processes and procedures. The Chairman of the Board of 
Director’s special report on internal control procedures highlights 
the importance given to food safety in the general organisation of 
internal control procedures.

Food safety is an absolute priority at Fleury Michon. Identified 
product risks are classified by category (microbiological, chemical, 

physical or allergenic). The measures deployed by management 
and staff are designed to manage these risks across the production 
chain, from sourcing to final distribution. By maintaining a steady 
focus on food safety and certifying its sites to ISO 9001 standards, 
the Group demonstrates its commitment to offering the very best 
products. The Fleury Michon nutritional charter is part of this 
commitment. The Group also has a risk management unit that is 
responsible for setting up the necessary procedures to guarantee 
consumer safety and preserve our brand’s image.

1.6.2 Strategic and operational risks (including raw materials risk)

Fleury Michon is involved in very competitive markets with a 
large number of players. The Group primarily sells its products 
in supermarkets and hypermarkets, a sector that is highly 
concentrated in France. Measures are taken on an on-going 
basis to enhance the Fleury Michon brand’s image in its strategic 
markets, to increase product differentiation and to ensure the 
business’ long-term future.

To respond effectively to consumer eating habits, Fleury Michon 
offers a wide range of prepared meals and charcuterie products 
made using a range of raw materials (pork, poultry, fish and beef) 
sourced from France and international markets. This diversity 
reduces exposure to commodity risks and allows the Group 
to benefit from any shifts in consumption caused by a crisis 
concerning a particular ingredient. Nevertheless, a sustained 
slowdown in consumer spending and continued concentration 
in the retail sector could have a negative impact on the Group’s 
results. Moreover, there is no organised commodities forward 

market to allow the Group to implement a global hedging policy. 
The Group is exposed therefore to rising raw materials prices.

The Group sources its raw materials from national and international 
suppliers based on a stringent selection process (specifications, 
risk assessment, audit) and the building of long-term partnerships 
(sector actions). Its supply sources and the number of players in 
the market are sufficiently varied to reduce the risk associated with 
the failure of one supplier, which would have a negative impact on 
the Group’s business.

Fleury Michon has eight production facilities in France, one in 
Canada and one in Slovenia. The Group makes substantial, steady 
investments to guarantee top performance at these plants. In 
addition, it has traditionally taken a prudent approach to protecting 
these assets and to covering major risks including property 
damage, business interruption, third-party liability, directors’ and 
officers’ liability and potential damage to the brand’s image.
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1.6.3 Legal, IT and restructuring-related risks

The Group reviewed the main risks in relation to legal and 
administrative procedures. The probable charges on current or 
past events are recognised as provisions, insofar as the amount 
can be measured reliably. The main procedures subject to 
provisions are described in Note 3.10, in Section 5.5.

For the period between 31 December 2013 and the date on 
which this Registration Document was prepared, there are no 
other government, legal or arbitration procedures (including any 
procedure known to the Company, which is pending or with 
which it is threatened) likely to have or which have recently had 

a material impact on the Company’s and/or the Group’s financial 
position or profitability.

In conducting its business, the Group ensures that it complies with 
all laws and regulations both in France and internationally. Fleury 
Michon has developed a comprehensive policy, in particular to 
secure information systems with a continuity plan and infrastructure 
security plan. This policy is reviewed on a regular basis. The Group 
considers that it has taken sufficient measures to protect its assets 
and prevent and manage risk.

1.6.4 Financial risks

The Group has a central organisation that manages substantially 
all market, liquidity and credit risks related to its operations. The 
Finance Department and Corporate Cash Management work 
closely together in the financial markets to:

 k Obtain financing under the best possible terms and support 
the development of the Group’s businesses;

 k Identify, evaluate and hedge financial risks.

The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its 
exposure to certain risks.

1.6.4.1 CURRENCY RISK

The Group prepares its consolidated financial statements in euro 
and generates more than 90% of its revenue in euro. Assets, 
liabilities, revenue and profit denominated in currencies other than 
the euro are therefore not material in relation to the consolidated 
totals. Nevertheless, the Group’s international expansion strategy 
has created exposure to other currencies, such as the Canadian 
dollar and US dollar, principally through its Delta Dailyfood 
subsidiary.

The Group uses currency hedges as well as currency futures and options in order to reduce the volatility of future cash flows in US dollars. 
At 31 December 2013, the Group held the following currency futures and options expiring between January and December 2014:

(Sales)/Purchases of foreign currencies USD/EUR USD/CAD

Net futures(1) 11,700 -

Currency futures - asymmetrical part - -

Net currency options - -

TOTAL 11,700 -

(1) Nominal value in thousands of dollars.

The accounting treatment of these instruments is described in the 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements. Changes in the 
fair value of derivative financial instruments that do not fulfil the 
hedge accounting criteria are recognised directly in income for the 
period (the “inefficient” part).

1.6.4.2 INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group does not hold significant interest-bearing assets aside 
from money-market mutual funds, negotiable deposit certificates 
and time deposit accounts, which qualify as highly liquid 
investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash, 
and which are recognised under “Cash and cash equivalents”. The 
Group’s exposure to interest rate risks corresponds to long-term 
bank loans net of interest-bearing assets.
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Most of the loans are at floating rates, exposing the Group 
to potential cash flow volatility. To reduce its net exposure, 
the Group uses instruments negotiated over the counter. At 
31 December 2013, the amount hedged was €69,614 thousand. 
The fixed- and floating-rate debt was hedged at 55.2% at year-
end. The accounting treatment of these instruments is described 
in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, Section 1.2.15.

1.6.4.3 EQUITY RISK

Investments in non-consolidated companies and other investment 
securities correspond to shares in unlisted companies. If there 
is no active market for the shares, fair value is estimated. If the 
fair value cannot be estimated reliably, the asset is measured at 
amortised cost less any impairment losses.

At 31 December 2013, the Group held 335,353 Fleury Michon 
shares in treasury, directly or through the liquidity contract, 
for a total value of €9,693 thousand. As indicated in Note 1, 
Section 1.2.8, treasury shares are recorded as a deduction 
from consolidated equity. On the basis of the closing price on 
31 December 2013, the shares held in treasury as of that date 
had a market value of €17,438 thousand.

1.6.4.4 LIQUIDITY RISK

The Group’s prudent management strategy ensures it has a 
sufficient level of cash and marketable securities to cover its 
commitments. At 31 December 2013, net cash amounted to 
€72.4 million (€77.7 million in cash and cash equivalents minus 
a bank overdraft of €5.3 million). Net debt totalled €91.1 million 
(down from €93 million at 31 December 2012). The Group’s loan 
agreements contain the usual covenants. Some, representing 
4.3% of the capital outstanding to credit institutions, call for early 
repayment in the event of non-compliance with financial ratios. 
At 31 December 2013, the Group complied with all its debt 
covenants except for those relating to loans in Canadian dollars 
(Delta Dailyfood) for which a waiver was obtained in December 
2013.

The Group reviewed its liquidity risk and considers that it can meet 
its future maturities (included in Note 3.11 to the consolidated 
finncial statements, Section 5.5) over the next 12 months as from 
the filing of this Registration Document.

Non-compliance with covenants concerns two loans:

Farm credit Canada company
The covenant ratios not complied with are:

 kMinimum operating capital ratio of 1.3 (short-term assets/
short-term liabilities);

 k Debt service coverage ratio of 1.00 (earnings before interest 
taxes and amortisation/debit interest + short-term portion of 
the long-term debt of the prior period).

In 2013, Fleury Michon obtained a Waiver letter from Farm Credit 
Canada relative to the unmet conditions. This waiver relates to 
the 12-month period ending on 31 December 2014, and does 
not amend the conditions. The amount of the loan considered 
is €3,577 thousand and is classed as long-term debt since the 
waiver was obtained before the end date.

Invest Canada Company
The covenant ratio not complied with is:

 kMinimum operating capital ratio of 1.3 (short-term assets/
short-term liabilities).

In 2013, we obtained a Waiver letter from Invest Quebec relative 
to the unmet conditions. This waiver relates to the 12-month 
period ending on 31 December 2014, and does not amend the 
conditions. The amount of the loan considered is €2,187 thousand 
and is classed as long-term debt since the waiver was obtained 
before the end date.

1.6.4.5 CREDIT RISK AND RISKS RELATED TO RETAIL 
CONCENTRATION

Although the Group’s end customers are individual consumers, 
it sells its products primarily to retail chains. Concentration in the 
retail sector has increased steadily, and a number of the Group’s 
customers now individually account for more than 10% of 
consolidated revenue (in line with distributors’ market share). If the 
concentration trend continues - resulting in fewer customers - the 
Group’s operating margin could be affected and it could become 
more exposed to customer payment default risk, particularly in 
the current economic environment.

The Group reviews its customers’ credit quality and closely tracks 
its receivables. Given the high credit ratings of its main customers, 
the Group considers that its exposure to customer credit risk is 
not material.
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The information presented in the following paragraphs is reported pursuant to Article 225 of the French “Grenelle II” environment law, 
and its enforcement Order 2012-557 of 24 April 2012.

This information was audited by the Environment and Sustainable Development Department of independent third-party organisation Ernst 
& Young. Its conclusions are presented in Section 2.8 of this report.

2.1 Introduction

“For Fleury Michon, economic development has always gone hand-in-hand 
with social development. We are set to embark on a new and ambitious 
commitment to corporate social responsibility (CSR). The aim of this approach 
is to expand our policies by further integrating the social and environmental 
concerns of the Company and our stakeholders.
CSR is not just window dressing or a slogan, but rather a stimulus to help sustain 
us in our ongoing efforts as a responsible corporate citizen. This will be an ongoing 
commitment: Corporate social responsibility never ends since the process of striving 
to reach an ideal is aimed not at perfection, but at consistently trying to improve.”

Grégoire Gonnord, Fleury Michon Group Chairman.

In 2003, based on Fleury Michon’s 
key values, the Group pledged 
to uphold the principles of the 
Global Compact. Fleury Michon 
acts responsibly, not only to stay 
in business but also to respect its 
environment and stakeholders, 
from employees to customers and 
from suppliers to civil society and 
beyond.

On 12 April 2010, Fleury Michon 
signed an agreement creating an 

Engineering Chair in Social Responsibility and Innovation at La 
Rochelle Business School. The academic chair provides a forum 
for an organisation involved in research and training to share and 
discuss ideas and insights with a private company. This new chair 
allows the Company to lay the foundations for the integration of 
CSR at Fleury Michon. A new three-year agreement based on the 
same principles was signed in April 2013.

The Group’s CSR initiative is based on ISO 26000 and its seven 
core themes. Fleury Michon has opted to create action plans for 
each of these seven core themes.

CSR governance has evolved in two distinct phases in order 
to adapt to the integration of this initiative. During the initial 
introduction period from April 2010 to June 2013, a Steering 
Committee consisting of leaders from various disciplines was 
created. Each of the seven core themes was addressed by these 

leaders, proposing appropriate action plans and ensuring their 
implementation. These proposals were approved by the Group 
Management Committee prior to implementation throughout the 
various business activities. In January 2012, a CSR Manager 
position was created to drive and coordinate the progress of the 
project. The second phase, in June 2013, involved the dissolution 
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of the Steering Committee in order to transfer the responsibility 
for each core theme to a member of the Group Management 
Committee. This was done with the objective of promoting greater 
CSR involvement by the Group’s operational management team. 
At the same time, a CSR Committee was created within the Board 
of Directors to add a strategic dimension to these efforts.

 k 2010: implementation of the approach and commitment to ISO 
26000 by the Executive Management and the team leaders;

 k 2011: continuation of the process of committing to CSR; 
completion of a self-evaluation survey on the seven core 
themes by the team leaders in conjunction with employee 
representatives in order to assess the performance level 
achieved by Fleury Michon; official introduction of the concept 
internally through a seminar bringing together approximately 
one hundred of the Group’s senior executives;

 k 2012: creation of the position of CSR Manager; first action 
plans for each of the seven core themes, primarily involving 
the formalization of certain policies and the formulation of 
strategic objectives;

 k 2013: changes in the governance principles in order to better 
integrate CSR within the Group Management Committee; 
creation of the CSR Committee associated with the Board of 
Directors; publication of the first non-financial reporting within 
the Registration Document in accordance with Article 225; 
Fleury Michon was recognised by EthiFinance in its Gaïa Index 
rankings.

This policy is advantageous to Fleury Michon in many ways:

 k to formalise all our existing commitments and publicise them 
throughout the Group;

 k to develop a continuous improvement strategy based around 
CSR;

 k to deploy cross-sector best practices in every host country;

 k to promote the involvement of employees in the initiative;

 k to develop a CSR management methodology;

 k to raise awareness of the Company, its approach and 
commitments, and enhances its image, its reputation and 
that of its brand.

As a major player in the food industry, Fleury Michon is dedicated 
to promoting eating pleasure and nutritional well-being at every 
meal. By consistently selecting products that are good, healthy 
and natural, Fleury Michon is making “obsessed with goodness” 
an integral part of today’s diet.

Fleury Michon is also “obsessed” with being a responsible, 
committed company, that cares about the consequences of its 
actions and its role in society. This concept is part of the Company’s 
history and culture. It provides meaning for Fleury Michon and its 
employees, and this makes all the difference. Corporate social 
responsibility is a core component of our strategic mission.

The Fleury Michon Group is therefore committed to disclosing its 
CSR approach to its stakeholders in the three key areas consisting 
of social, societal, and environmental information.

The published indicators are used to measure progress and how 
much work remains to be done. They provide the ability to make 
internal and external comparisons. They are essential management 
tools. The indicators also reflect the outcomes of initiatives. These 
must be shared and highlighted in order to instil employee pride 
in belonging to a socially committed Group.

In 2013, the quality of Fleury Michon’s 2012 reporting was 
recognised by EthiFinance, a non-financial research agency. Their 
ranking system, known as the Gaïa Index, has been in existence 
since 2009. It is compiled through the analysis of the non-financial 
information provided by 230 French listed companies, based on 
117 identified criteria in five categories: economics, governance, 
social, environmental, and external stakeholders. EthiFinance 
ranks Fleury Michon 4th in its general ranking, 1st in the industrial 
category, and 4th in the category for companies with more than 
€500 million in turnover.

2.2 CSR reporting details

2.2.1 Reasons for CSR reporting
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2.2.3 Reporting protocol

Fleury Michon’s reporting relies on a quantitative data reporting protocol that facilitates the standardisation of calculation formulas, 
definitions and data gathering and consolidation methodologies used.

2.3 Compliance with laws and regulations

During the period under review, no significant sanctions were 
recorded for failure to comply with laws and regulations in force. 
Furthermore, the Group incurred no major penalties, in the form 
of either sanctions or fines, for breach of its environmental and 
social obligations.

There were no significant cases of non-compliance with voluntary 
food safety and consumer health codes, nor significant sanctions 
imposed for breach of laws and/or regulations covering the supply 
and use of the products.

The Audit and Risks Committee maps risks and examines the 
Group’s internal audit programme and internal control systems, 
as indicated in 3.3.1.1.2 of this document. The Committee met 
three times in 2013.

Fleury Michon respects and protects the personal data of its 
employees, consumers, customers and other stakeholders fairly 
and equitably in accordance with the laws in force in the Group’s 
host countries. Information technology procedures protect the 
basic rights, liberties and dignity of those concerned.

2.2.2 Scope

2.2.2.1 REPORTING SCOPE

The 2013 scope is greater than for 2012. For the purposes of this 
report, it covers the Group’s data in France. Consequently, the 
2012 data contained within the 2012 Registration Document is not 
comparable with the 2012 data contained in the 2013 Registration 
Document.

The published data represents the Group’s activities within France. 
This scope extends to the Vendée Economic and Social Unit 
(Vendée Unit). This particular unit includes the companies Fleury 
Michon, Fleury Michon Charcuterie, Fleury Michon Traiteur and 
Fleury Michon Logistique. The scope also applies to the Société 
d’Innovation Culinaire (SIC) based in Tilloy-lez-Cambrai in northern 
France, the Charcuteries Cuisinées de Plélan (CCP) located in 
Plélan-le-Grand in Ille-et-Vilaine, and the company Room Saveurs 
located in the 13th arrondissement in Paris.

This represents eight production facilities: Montifaut Jambons, 
Montifaut Traiteur, Chantonnay Charcuterie, Chantonnay Traiteur 
de la Mer, Mouilleron Plats Cuisinés, Pouzauges Aides Culinaires, 
Cambrai, Plélan-le-Grand, as well as the logistics centre and 
headquarters in Pouzauges Gare. Room Saveurs is a service-
based business concern without its own industrial plant.

In 2013, the Group’s activities in France represented 94% of 
consolidated revenue and 89% of employees with permanent or 
fixed-term contracts. The Vendée Unit alone accounted for over 
85% of the Group’s consolidated revenue and workforce in 2013.

The scope of the environmental reporting in Section 2.5 does not 
include Room Saveurs, a meal delivery service for businesses in 
the Paris region. This company, employing 42 individuals as of 
31 December 2013, is exclusively a service provider. This means that 
its environmental impact is excluded from the Group’s environmental 
reporting, whose activities almost entirely focus on the industrial sector. 
Nevertheless, as a fully consolidated subsidiary of the Fleury Michon 
Group, Room Saveurs is committed to making the same efforts 
to reduce the environmental impact of its activities. Environmental 
information specific to Room Saveurs can be found in Section 2.5.6.

In terms of the legal structure, there were no changes to the 2013 
scope.

Businesses directly owned by the Group in 2013 and excluded 
from the reporting scope are:

 k Delta Dailyfood: Canadian prepared meals business;

 k Proconi: Slovenian prepared meals business.

Businesses over which Fleury Michon does not have operating 
control are also excluded from the reporting scope:

 k Piatti Freschi Italia in Italy;

 k Platos Tradicionales in Spain.

2.2.2.2 REPORTING PERIOD AND HISTORY

The reporting period runs from 1 January to 31 December 2013.

The data is compared to the data from the same period in 2012.
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2.4 Social data

“We reaffirm our vocation as a company built by people who care about 
their responsibilities and the long-term general interest. At Fleury Michon, 
we believe that the mission of a corporate community is not just to sell profitable 
products or services. It is also to improve working conditions and be attentive 
to the interests of its partners and environment.”

Grégoire Gonnord, Fleury Michon Group Chairman.

Human Resources policy is informed by the concept of “co-
existing in harmony” in a company that fosters a local presence, 
on-going dialogue and developing talent.

Fleury Michon has for many years focused on achieving the right 
balance between business growth and social progress in its 
Human Resources policy. Maintaining the employability of each 
Fleury Michon team member is a major challenge, both now and 
in the future. Because Fleury Michon firmly believes that people 
are its greatest asset, its Human Resources policy focuses on 
five areas:

 k Anticipating changes in job requirements and maintaining 
employability through targeted and effective skills management;

 k Developing empowering flat management structures that are 
uniform across the organisation, in line with the Group’s values;

 k Developing an internal communication system that is both 
dynamic and interactive;

 kManaging employee relations in accordance with the Group’s 
policies and societal commitments;

 kManaging diversity and developing talent.

The implementation of these management priorities, both 
in France and abroad, is taking place in accordance with the 
Groups’ values. Management maintains a constant commitment 
to excellent customer service based on:

 kMutual trust;

 kMutual respect;

 k Continuous adaptation to change;

 k Continuous dialogue;

 k Sustainable focus on the collective interest.

Fleury Michon strives to increase employability and provides 
professional training within the companies it owns. The joint-
ventures, co-owned with Italian and Spanish partners, share the 
same outlook as Fleury Michon.

A hands-on managerial policy remains a cornerstone of the Group’s 
culture. Learning, proximity and visibility are key components of 
management principles.

The Human Resources team consists of 45 employees tasked 
with implementing the Group’s human resources policy. This 
policy guides the career paths of Group employees, their skills 
development, the quality of the work environment, etc.

2.4.1 Employment

2.4.1.1  TOTAL WORKFORCE AND BREAKDOWN 
BY GENDER AND REGION

The link between social responsibility and performance is 
developed to ensure a Human Resources policy that clearly defines 
each person’s role, responsibilities and contribution. Everybody 
makes a contribution to the Group’s overall performance through 
their commitment, skills, motivation and team work.

In addition, the Company has a clearly defined employment 
policy seeking to reduce job insecurity, by means of a dynamic 
working time agreement, and to improve the employability of its 
workforce. This was reflected in the Group signing 103 permanent 
employment contracts (CDI) in 2013. In addition, the Company 
also recruited personnel, primarily fixed-term (CDD), in order to 
meets its business needs in the most effective manner.
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Workforce headcount(1) as of 31 December 2013

Group in France Management Supervisors Technicians Office staff
Manual 

workers Total

Permanent contract

Men 217 173 339 13 1,184 1,926

Women 116 47 180 60 883 1,286

Fixed-term contract

Men 1 3 4 7 65 80

Women 1 4 11 12 54 82

TOTAL PERMANENT CONTRACTS 
+ FIXED-TERM CONTRACTS

Men 218 176 343 20 1,249 2,006

Women 117 51 191 72 937 1,368

TOTAL 335 227 534 92 2,186 3,374

Temporary staff 78

Workforce headcount(1) as at 31 December 2012

Group in France Management Supervisors Technicians Office staff
Manual 

workers Total

Permanent contract

Men 219 172 330 12 1,203 1,936

Women 108 45 177 66 894 1,290

Fixed-term contract

Men 1 4 7 6 123 141

Women 1 4 9 8 80 102

TOTAL PERMANENT CONTRACTS 
+ FIXED-TERM CONTRACTS

Men 220 176 337 18 1,326 2,077

Women 109 49 186 74 974 1,392

TOTAL 329 225 523 92 2,300 3,469

Temporary staff 20

BREAKDOWN OF PERMANENT AND FIXED-TERM EMPLOYEES IN 2013 FOR 
THE GROUP IN FRANCE

Permanent Employment 
Contracts

95%

Fixed-Term Contracts

5%

The workforce(1) decreased slightly for the Group in France 
between 2012 and 2013, and remained stable overall for 
permanent employees, but fell in terms of fixed-term employees. 
This change reflects sales lower than forecast for 2013. The Group 
therefore took a cautious approach to hiring over the course of 
2013.

In the past two years, the Company has seen more retirements 
than in the past due to the changes in the legal framework 
governing long careers in France.

At the same time, Fleury Michon introduced its Strategic 
Employment and Skills Management (GPEC) plan in 2007, 
through a management and labour agreement. This three-year 
plan is reviewed monthly in order to optimise employment and 
skills management in the Company. The 2013 results are in line 
with the plan.

2013 EMPLOYEE BREAKDOWN BY GENDER FOR THE GROUP IN FRANCE

Men

59%
Women

41%

(1) Please note that fixed-term contracts only involve schedules with full-time hours.
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2013 BREAKDOWN OF FULL-TIME AND PART-TIME EMPLOYEES 
FOR THE GROUP IN FRANCE

Part-time

90%

Full-time

10%

All part-time employees within the Company are part-timers by 
choice. This practice is a reflection of the Company’s desire to 
give employees the possibility of achieving the appropriate work-
life balance.

For 2013, the Company had a ratio of 90% full-time to 10% 
voluntary part-time employees.

As of 31  December  2013, the age pyramid for fixed-term 
employees was balanced, which means that the Strategic 
Employment and Skills Management plan can be managed while 
taking into account the 300 retirements that will take place over 
the next five years.

A reflection of hiring cycles, the age pyramid shows major trends in 
the workforce since the introduction of the agreement on reduced 
working hours in 1998. The age pyramid is analysed every year 
in the Strategic Employment and Skills Management Committee 
with the signatory trade unions. This pyramid serves as a guide for 
the Human Resources teams whose work includes, for example, 
the preparation of projections on staffing changes for the next 
three-year period. The objective is to maintain an employment 
policy that closely mirrors the trends evidenced. Projections are 
translated into jobs according to the Group’s business and needs.

The age breakdown remained steady overall for the past two 
years.

THE AGE BREAKDOWN OF MEN AND WOMEN WITHIN THE PYRAMID 
FOR THE GROUP IN FRANCE FOR 2013

less than 20 years old

From 20 to 24 years old

25 to 29 years old

30 to 34 years old

35 to 39 years old

40 to 44 years old

45 to 49 years old

50 to 54 years old

55 to 69 years old

Over 60 years old 14

173

204

230

218

203

136

80

26

2

24

232

294

295

377

355

193

113

41

2

Women 1,286

Men 1,926

GENDER BREAKDOWN PER CATEGORY FOR THE GROUP IN FRANCE IN 2013

0
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100

Women 1,286

Men 1,926

EXECUTIVES SUP TECH OFFICE
STAFF

MANUAL
WORKERS

TOTAL

Each year, the Company assesses the level of employment 
insecurity forecast within the context of the Strategic Employment 
and Skills Management plan(1). This forecast of the “insecurity rate” 
allows the most appropriate allocation of permanent and fixed-
term contracts. The employment insecurity rate has remained 
below the 10% ceiling set in the Company-wide agreement. This 
is in line with the Company’s wish to make employment permanent 
whenever possible, without losing sight of the market realities and 
of the economic environment.

The quality of the workforce planning is assessed annually. This 
ensures that progress is made and facilitates optimum accuracy 
in the forecasting of staffing requirements.

This management methodology, using the employment insecurity 
rate and hour indicators, gives an overall view and visibility on 
changes in business volumes, without generating employment 
difficulties. Mobility can then be arranged within production 
facilities to manage periodic fluctuations in activity levels.

(1) Instability rate = (fixed-term + temporary staff)/(permanent contract + fixed-term + temporary staff).
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2.4.1.2 NEW HIRES AND LAY-OFFS

The Fédération Française des Industriels Charcutiers, Traiteurs 
et Transformateurs de Viandes (FICT) reported 7% turnover for 
the profession in 2012 (2013 rate unpublished to date), whereas 
Fleury Michon recorded significantly better personnel turnover 
percentages of 2.35% in 2012, and 2.38% in 2013.

The loyalty of our employees is also evident in the average length 
of service which is close to 17 years per employee.

BREAKDOWN OF NEW HIRES IN 2013 AND 2012 ON PERMANENT 
CONTRACTS FOR THE GROUP IN FRANCE

New hires 2013 2012

Permanent 
contract

Men 47 77

Women 56 69

TOTAL 103 146

BREAKDOWN OF EMPLOYEE DEPARTURES IN 2013 AND 2012 
FOR PERMANENT CONTRACTS FOR THE GROUP IN FRANCE

2013 2012

Voluntary departures 85 51

Resignations 26 26

Retirements 59 25

Involuntary departures 16 12

Lay-offs (economic, 
misconduct, unsuitability, etc.) 7 3

End of probationary period 2 3

Deaths 7 6

Mutually-agreed contract 
termination 12 14

TOTAL 113 77

BREAKDOWN OF 2013 DEPARTURES BY REASON FOR THE GROUP 
IN FRANCE

Voluntary terminations

75%

Contractual terminations

11%

Involuntary
 terminations

14%

Departures remained relatively low in relation to the overall 
workforce of the Group in France. We have seen an increasing 
number of retirements in the past few years, as a direct result of 
regulations in France (see 2.4.1.1 “Workforce”). The number of 
mutually-agreed contract terminations of employment remained 
stable.

2.4.1.3  COMPENSATION AND CHANGES 
IN COMPENSATION

For many years, the Company has practiced a policy of allocating 
overall raises for all staff categories (manual workers, office staff, 
technicians, supervisors and management). This negotiated policy 
maintains a balance between economic development and social 
progress. Increases in compensation, which are generally higher 
than the industry (FICT), thus maintain employees’ purchasing 
power. This approach is supplemented by a profit-sharing scheme, 
which distributes income in excess of the Company’s break-even 
point to its employees.

In order to involve all employees in the Group’s development 
and to strengthen team spirit and loyalty, the family shareholders 
and Executive Management have implemented measures for the 
allocation of 30 bonus shares to all permanent employees.

Although employee shareholders have existed since the 
Company’s initial public offering in 2000, this transaction will give 
all employees an interest in the Company’s capital. Employee 
representation will grow from 4.1% at the end of 2013 to 6.5% 
by the time the allocation transactions are completed.

Within the context of this redistribution policy, the 2012 incentive 
amount, paid in 2013, totalled €2.5 million. The amount of profit-
sharing totalled €3.9 million.

Vendée Unit

The Vendée Unit general increases were the subject of an 
agreement reached during the 2013 annual negotiations:

 k +2.1% for manual workers, office staff, technicians and 
supervisors;

 k 1.7% for managerial staff, plus 0.2% granted under Article 83 
(retirement savings insurance agreement subscribed by the 
Company), equivalent to +1.9%.

Charcuterie Cuisinées de Plélan (CCP)

The CCP general increases were the subject of an agreement 
reached during the 2013 annual negotiations:

 k +2.1% for manual workers, office staff, technicians and 
supervisors;

 k +1.5% for managerial staff, plus + 0.2% granted under 
Article 83.

Room Saveurs

For 2013, general increases were:

 k +2% for manual workers, office staff, technicians and 
supervisors;

 k +1.5% for managerial staff.
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2.4.2 Work organisation

The Fleury Michon Group aims for the highest level of satisfaction 
for customers and consumers. This desire to excel drives each 
employee no matter what his or her position within the Company. 
The organization of the overall work is centred on the needs of 
customers in order to meet consumer delivery deadlines. This is 
all carried out in compliance with Fleury Michon’s organisational 
methods:

 k Organising team work through company-wide agreements;

 kMeeting customer needs while ensuring employees’ work-life 
balance;

 k Continually adapting to needs;

 k Implementing social innovation while reminding employees 
that these are only possible if rights and responsibilities are 
respected by all.

2.4.2.1 WORKING HOURS

The fixed working week now stands at 35 hours per week for 
companies subject to the FICT collective bargaining agreement 
(Vendée Unit, CCP, SIC), and at 39 hours per week for Room 
Saveurs, which is subject to the collective bargaining agreement 
for hotels, cafés and restaurants.

The Fleury Michon Group’s policy is focused on achieving the right 
balance between economic growth and social progress. With this 
in mind, the Company works on the basis of daily interaction with 
its employees and attempts to provide a suitable work-life balance, 
within the limits of its obligations. This takes the form of a policy 
accepting part-time work when the workload allows (parental 
leave, arrangements for older workers, personal arrangements, 
etc.).

2.4.2.2 ABSENTEEISM

The absenteeism rate includes absence due to illness, occupational 
illness, occupational accidents, commuting accidents and 
maternity leave. The absenteeism rate stood at 6.50% as of the 
end of 2013. It was 6.8% in 2012.

Each site’s Health, Safety and Working Conditions Committee 
(CHSCT) conducts a quarterly absenteeism analysis. The Group 
Human Resources team also conducts a review, as do the Human 

Resources Managers at each site, who work more closely with 
the teams and workshops. These reviews are used to formulate 
solutions aimed at reducing absenteeism. Options offered include 
support for employees to return to work. Managers systematically 
meet with employees after missing 30 days of work. The interview 
focuses on a career review to arrange the conditions for a return 
to work. Measures could include organising production facility 
visits for the employee, for example. Other steps ensure regular 
communication with absent employees who wish to remain in 
contact with the Company. In addition, a meeting is held every 
two years with employees absent on parental leave, on disability 
leave or for long-term medical reasons. As a result of the survey 
conducted on the concept of “co-existing in harmony”, the 
Company is also working on improving the quality of the work 
environment.

A number of variables explain the changes in the figures for 2013:

 k A stabilisation in the number of occupational accidents, but 
an increase in the number of days lost;

 k A reduction in the number of occupational illnesses, but an 
increase in the number of days lost;

 k Absences on sick leave remain variable and difficult to analyse 
overall given the restrictions of medical confidentiality;

 k An upward movement in absence due to domestic accidents 
(sports injuries, for example) and for serious illness.

A more detailed analysis is being conducted at individual site level 
to determine possible improvements to the Company’s health and 
prevention policy. Nonetheless, it remains difficult to implement 
measures aimed at the causes of domestic accidents and serious 
illness. Prevention is a routine practice within the Company 
(educational breakfasts, alcohol-free days, driving safety, etc.)

The Occupational Health department continues to implement 
its broad health and prevention policy. The department’s 
educational mission is to ensure that everyone is empowered to 
react appropriately to routine life events. This can take the form 
of teaching food safety, encouraging exercise, or even screening 
cholesterol levels or for diabetes.

In 2014, an assessment process will be implemented to ensure 
the continuation of these preventive efforts.

2.4.3 Labour relations

Fleury Michon maintains on-going dialogue with employee 
representatives, aligned with our commitment to maintaining 
the best possible working environment and fostering employee 
development. It seeks to establish constructive and lasting 
relations with employee representatives to achieve agreements 
that are satisfactory for all parties.

All Company employees have an annual evaluation with their 
managers in order to review the previous year, evaluate skills, and 
assess future opportunities (geographic or professional mobility, 
training requests).
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As part of its ongoing efforts to improve the Company’s hands-
on approach to communication, Management holds question 
and answer sessions throughout the year, in which everyone is 
free to ask questions. Approximately 300 employees took part in 
these sessions over the course of 2013. Other forms of hands-
on communication (working groups, Company knowledge, etc.) 
also take place.

2.4.3.1  ORGANISATION OF SOCIAL DIALOGUE, 
NOTABLY THE INFORMATION AND 
CONSULTATION PROCEDURES FOR 
NEGOTIATION PERSONNEL

Balanced social dialogue is vital to our commitment to advancing 
corporate social responsibility. Fleury Michon is believes strongly in 
this and is determined to build the framework required for dialogue 
through representative bodies, such as the European Works 
Council, the Health, Safety and Working Conditions Committees, 
and trade unions.

Our vision and strategy look to the long term with innovative and 
responsible agreements at their core.

2.4.3.2 COLLECTIVE AGREEMENTS SUMMARY

During 2013, Fleury Michon took part in discussions on various 
topics with employees and trade unions within each of its 
companies, in accordance with the structure of its employee 
representation: monthly Works Council meetings and Health, 
Safety and Working Conditions Committees meetings (regarding 
the Vendée Unit and CCP), monthly negotiations with Personnel 
Representatives (for the Vendée Unit, CCP and Room Saveurs), 
mandatory annual negotiations and thematic negotiations, as well 
as their Monitoring Committees (integration of disabled workers, 
classification, the Strategic Employment and Skills Management 
(GPEC) plan, monitoring of agreements, training and professional 
equality).

To ensure the optimum working environment that is essential to the 
Group’s performance and employee performance, Fleury Michon 
signed various agreements, including:

Vendée Unit

 k Amendment no. 1 to the Strategic Employment and Skills 
Management (GPEC) agreement of 29 December 2010, 
signed on 9 January 2013;

 k 2013 company-wide agreement - Mandatory Annual 
Negotiations, signed on 31 January 2013;

 k Company-wide agreement on summer holidays: JRSU 
measure “Additional Day Off”, signed on 31 January 2013;

 kModifying amendment no. 1 to the professional mentoring 
agreement of 9 March 2011, signed on 28 February 2013;

 k Group agreement on profit-sharing signed on 17 June 2013;

 k Amendment no.  12 to the incentives agreement of 
8 September 2004 signed on 11 July 2013;

 k Amendment no. 5 to the agreement on a corporate savings 
plan of 23 October 1987, signed on 11 July 2013;

 k Agreement on the Strategic Employment and Skil ls 
Management (GPEC) plan regarding professional training, 
the generation contract, and future jobs, signed on 
30 September 2013;

 k Agreement on parental leave and family leave, signed on 
20 December 2013;

 k Agreement on the operation of classification commissions, 
signed on 25 February 2013;

 k Amendment no. 6 on the structure of social representation, 
signed on 12 November 2013;

 kModifying amendment no. 1 to our agreement on the operation 
of the Group Works Council, signed on 2 December 2013;

 k Company-wide agreement on the Fleury Shop purchase 
vouchers (factory shop solely for employees), signed on 
31 January 2013;

 kModifying amendment no. 1 to the agreement on Fleury Shop 
purchase vouchers, signed on 25 April 2013.

Charcuterie Cuisinées de Plélan (CCP)

 k 2013 company-wide agreement - Mandatory Annual 
Negotiations, signed on 7 February 2013;

 k Amendment no. 1 to the Company-wide agreement on the 
organisation of the work week, signed on 16 August 2013;

 k Agreement on the generation contract, on 30 September 2013, 
then an addendum on 13 December 2013.

Room Saveurs

Group agreement on profit-sharing signed on 17 June 2013.

Société d’Innovation Culinaire (SIC)

No agreements were negotiated during 2013 since the 
occupational elections took place in December 2013.

2.4.4 Health and safety

People are what matter most to Fleury Michon. We work every 
day to provide the conditions to protect the health and safety of 
our employees and all others present on our sites. The Group 
constantly strives to improve working conditions to safeguard both 
the physical and psychological health of our employees.

The approach focusing on prevention and improvement is a 
factor in personal and career development within the Group, and 
a guarantee of quality social dialogue.
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Fleury Michon’s general policy is based on continuous improvement 
and consists of:

 k Defining the resources to guarantee the health, safety and 
security of employees;

 k Implementing appropriate preventive measures;

 k Assessing their effectiveness;

 k Implementing the required improvement measures.

2.4.4.1 HEALTH AND SAFETY AT WORK

At Fleury Michon, we prioritise the safety of people and property. 
We implement prevention and training initiatives through the 
Health, Safety and Working Conditions committee (CHSCT), our 
in-house occupational health unit (comprising an occupational 
physician and six nurses). Our Support, Methods & Processes and 
Engineering functions also contribute to ensuring the quality of the 
working environment, in coordination with the safety coordinator 
and a safety representative at each site.

During the year, Fleury Michon held 80 Health, Safety and Working 
Conditions Committee meetings at our various sites. A cross-
sector CHSCT at the Vendée Unit, made up of the secretaries 
and chairpersons of the CHSCT committees, also works on such 
common topics as prevention of psychosocial risks, protective 
clothing for work in refrigerated areas and sharing best practices.

The Company has conducted health and safety prevention efforts 
for many years. Prevention and safety budgets are established at 
several levels:

 kWithin the investment budgets (in all projects, the issue of 
working conditions is analysed and safety budgets are 
incorporated in the investments);

 kWithin the Health, Safety and Working Conditions committee 
budgets or in any sums allocated to safety measures.

In 2013, the Vendée Unit facilities received €4 million in investments 
related to work safety. This sum includes €1.5 million for safety as 
such, and €2.5 million dedicated to the improvement of working 
conditions.

Organisation of health and safety in the workplace at Fleury Michon

• 1 physician

• 6 nurses

• 2 administrative assistants

• 1 HR executives team

• 1 Internal Social Council

• 1 Group safety 
coordinator

• 1 Group safety 
representative 
at each facility

• 1 three-person Social Council

• 1 external council for 
managerial assistance 
(psychological counselling, 
psycho-social risks, coaching, 
well-being in the workplace)

• 1 company-wide Health, Safety 
and Working Conditions Committee

• 1 Health, Safety and Working Conditions 
Committee at each facility

• 80 meetings in 2013

• M€ 4 in safety and working conditions 
investments in 2013 for the Vendée Unit

HEALTH OPERATIONS
SECURITY 

OPERATIONS

ASSISTANCE OPERATIONS HEALTH, SAFETY AND 
WORKING CONDITIONS COMMITTEE
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2.4.4.2  HEALTH AND SAFETY AGREEMENTS 
SIGNED WITH TRADE UNIONS 
OR PERSONNEL REPRESENTATIVES

Employability and safety form the core of the Group’s Human 
Resources policy. These ongoing challenges play key roles in 
the drafting of company-wide agreements. Initiatives intended to 
guarantee employee health and safety are not add-ons, but are 
tightly integrated into working activities.

However, this policy could not be implemented without the 
involvement of all occupational health personnel. A Safety unit also 
coordinates actions at Group level and sends coordinators to each 
site. This unit supports the day-to-day efforts of the production 
facility directors and management staff.

Bodies such as the Social Council also contribute to constantly 
improving the working environment. The three members of 
the Social Council team are available to everyone - manual 
workers, office staff, and management - when they are on duty 
at headquarters or the Company’s facilities. They may also 
be contacted by telephone. In respect of privacy, services are 
provided under conditions of professional secrecy. Employees may 
also make calls anonymously. The Council’s mission is to provide 
advice, support or guidance for employees on a diverse range of 
topics, including mutual health insurance, retirement, disability and 
housing (house ownership, home improvement, security deposits, 
etc.). The Council also provides advice to employees experiencing 
personal difficulties. Its role is to assist employees in contacting 
the most appropriate organisations or professionals to deal with 
their particular issues.

The Company implements an internal health policy focusing 
on prevention. The physician regularly conducts studies on 
occupational health and on the aging of the employee population. 
He or she inventories “tendon-related” workstations and works 
on improving their layout using IT tools and the Occupational 
Repetitive Action (OCRA) and Occupational Safety and Health 
Administration (OSHA) methods. OCRA is an observation method 
used to estimate the risks of developing repetitive strain injuries. 
The OSHA method consists of a system to detect musculo-
skeletal disorders of the upper limbs in situations exposed to risk.

In addition, the nurses take regularly readings to measure the 
sound intensity in the working environments. Noise risk mapping 
has been developed and protective equipment provided for all 
employees.

This prevention policy exceeds the requirements of company-wide 
agreements, with many measures implemented in parallel:

 k 24 hours alcohol-free;

 k Training (under individual training rights in France) with a 
dietician on a balanced diet;

 k Quarterly distribution of organic fruit to all employees;

 k Nutritional initiatives in our corporate restaurants (“equilibro” 
days). In September 2013, a “seasonal vegetables” program 
was implemented in the seven restaurants interspersed 
throughout the Group’s nine facilities (two locations do 
not have corporate restaurants). In December 2013, these 
seven restaurants, in partnership with the Bleu-Blanc-Cœur 
organisation, also participated in a program on the benefits 
of the omega acids in flaxseed.

 k A program was set up to provide breakfast during work hours 
for shift workers who work on night or morning shift teams 
in three production facilities. 780 employees participated in 
this program in 2013. The objective is to make employees 
aware of the importance of proper nutrition in relation to their 
particular working hours.

2.4.4.3  OCCUPATIONAL ACCIDENTS 
AND SEVERITY RATE

Safety has long been a priority for the Fleury Michon Group and our 
safety policy has helped to steadily reduce occupational accidents 
in the Company, whereas the general occupational accident rate 
is on the increase in France.

Occupational accidents (handling and impact accidents are the 
most frequent) and occupational illnesses are analysed in the 
CHSCT and monitored by the Works Council on a quarterly basis.

CHANGES IN THE 2012 AND 2013 OCCUPATIONAL ACCIDENT FREQUENCY 
RATE FOR THE GROUP IN FRANCE (%)

= No of OA with lost time x 1,000,000
Hours worked
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49.31 48.68

2013
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2.4.4.4  COMPLIANCE WITH THE INTERNATIONAL LABOUR ORGANISATION’S (ILO) FUNDAMENTAL CONVENTIONS 
ON OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY

French law and the Company’s organisation ensure respect for fundamental occupational health rights.

OCCUPATIONAL ACCIDENTS (OA) AND OCCUPATIONAL ILLNESSES IN 2012 AND 2013, EMPLOYEES UNDER PERMANENT AND FIXED-TERM CONTRACTS

Group in France 2013 2012

Occupational accident frequency rate
no. of OA with lost time x 1,000,000

hours worked(1) 48.68 49.31

Occupational accident severity rate
no. of days with lost time for OA x 1,000

hours worked(1) 2.47 2.03

Number of occupational illnesses(2)

Declared 71 72

Recognised(3) 45 55

(1) Hours worked are calculated as follows:
• for employees who clock in, office staff, manual workers, technicians and the majority of supervisors, hours worked are calculated based on the hours recorded by the ChronoGestor 

time management software;
• for employees who do not clock in, management and some supervisors, hours worked are calculated based on a seven-hour day by the number of days actually worked.

(2) Expressed as calendar years.
(3) Occupational illnesses are considered to be “recognised” when the state health insurance office (Caisse Primaire d’Assurance Maladie, or CPAM), officially recognises previously 

“declared” occupational illnesses between 1 January and 31 December of the calendar year.

2.4.5 Training

Each year, an overall Strategic Employment and Skills Management 
(GPEC) plan is defined to deliver the training required to respond 
effectively to change.

In addition, our “Alicia” programme gives employees an opportunity 
to refresh their basic academic skills and expand their general 
culture.

2.4.5.1 TRAINING POLICIES IMPLEMENTED

Training programmes take place over several years. This training 
evolves over time. Our training guidelines are long-established and 
are implemented day-to-day as follows:

Basic skills:

 k Empower each individual to expand his or her knowledge;

 k Offer dynamic and interactive training in line with individual 
needs through the Alicia programme.

Qualifications:

 k Continue to offer dynamic options for career development, 
especially through the opportunity to obtain qualifications to 
ensure our employees remain employable in the long term;

 k Adapt to the changes necessary for the Company.

Older workers:

 k Encourage knowledge and skills transfer while maintaining 
older workers in employment throughout their careers.

Skills development:

 k Refresh existing skills and acquire new skills through 
individualised training programmes.

Management:

 k Continue to support managers through individualised training 
programmes designed to equip them with the skills required 
for their positions.

Team spirit:

 k Continue to develop training actions empowering all team 
members to adopt a preventive culture;

 k Promote team spirit.

Mentoring is a key aspect of the forward-looking employment 
and skills management plan to improve the professional skills 
of internal trainers and enhance the integration process for new 
hires. Mentoring provides support for skills development within 
the Company. As of the 2013 year-end, Fleury Michon had 173 
active mentors within the Group in France.
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Under the terms of the generation contract regarding the hiring 
of young people and working with schools, Fleury Michon is 
committed to taking on interns, apprentices and professional 
development contracts each year. The Group welcomed 75 
interns, 28 apprentices and 30 professional development contracts 
in France throughout 2013.

2.4.5.2 TOTAL TRAINING HOURS

The companies of the Group in France dedicated 4.1% of payroll 
to employee training (2.5 times the legal minimum of 1.6%), with 
the dual purpose of fostering employability and the ability to adapt 
to technological and human challenges.

In 2013, training totalled 69,717 hours representing a total of €4 
million.

The three major training categories were:

 k Qualifications;

 k Local management;

 k Safety.

In 2013, the Group Management Committee introduced a 
framework to guide management skills development by creating 
the Fleury Michon Academy to empower individuals to take control 
of their career paths. The goal is to help the Group’s men and 
women to grow professionally, to prepare for future needs and to 
make the Company a more desirable employer.

2.4.6 Equality

2.4.6.1  MEASURES ADOPTED TO PROMOTE 
GENDER EQUALITY

A company-wide agreement on professional gender equality 
was signed on 9 January 2012. It confirms the work done by the 
mandatory commission of the Works Council.

Fleury Michon signed the French Diversity charter in 2005. A 
diversity expert was appointed within the Human Resources team 
and is tasked with taking the lead on this issue.

Other noteworthy steps taken in the Company are:

 k The comparative male/female analysis completed each year;

 k A single pay scale for manual workers, office staff, technicians 
and supervisors;

 k Similar starting salaries for management personnel;

 k Recruitment based on skills rather than on qualifications;

 k Use of simulation-based recruitment methods (without CV) 
and consideration of the personal history form.

2.4.6.2  MEASURES ADOPTED TO PROMOTE 
THE INTEGRATION OF DISABLED 
INDIVIDUALS.

At Fleury Michon, we want to offer everyone the opportunity for 
professional fulfilment. Disabled people are twice as likely to be 
unemployed. Promoting access to employment is therefore both 
a social and economic challenge. The Group has undertaken 
initiatives to open up opportunities for more disabled workers 
offering the best possible working conditions.

In 2013, the Company hired 205 employees recognised as 
disabled workers (197 permanent contracts and 18 fixed-term 
contracts). This amounts to an employment rate of 9.5% (1.6 
times the legal employment rate of 6%).

In addition, Fleury Michon also works with sheltered workshops 
that employ the disabled.

Recent years have seen the Group create a number of programmes 
to promote opportunities for the disabled:

 k Participation in Disability Days;

 k Purchase of equipment suitable for employees with disabilities;

 k Subsidies or aid paid to specialist associations to promote 
actions in favour of disabled workers, participation in fund-
raising by non-profit organisations (Cap Emploi) and response 
to personal requests;

 k Presence at job fairs and disability open days to raise 
awareness of the jobs we do at Fleury Michon.

2.4.6.3 ANTI-DISCRIMINATION POLICY

At Fleury Michon, we believe that diversity is an invaluable resource 
for driving growth. For more than 20 years, we have positioned 
ourselves as a major promoter of diversity through numerous 
actions.

Fleury Michon signed the French Diversity charter in 2005. The 
charter is a written commitment that can be signed by any 
company that wishes to ban discrimination in the workplace and 
makes a decision to work towards creating diversity.

Fleury Michon signed the French anti-discrimination authority’s 
(HALDE) Orange Paper in 2007 to promote equal opportunities.

In 2011, Fleury Michon signed a Company agreement on 
prevention, health, workplace stress and hiring senior workers.

In 2013, the Company entered into a company-wide agreement 
on the generation contract involving commitments for the hiring 
of young people and the retention of older workers.
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Additional initiatives in place for many years in the framework of 
its equal opportunities agreement include:

 k A detailed comparative analysis every year of the position of 
men and women in the Company, undertaken with employee 
representatives;

 k A similar pay scale for men and women: a coefficient 
corresponds to a specific position or a specific starting salary.

2.4.7 Promotion of, and compliance with the ILO’s fundamental 
conventions

 k For the respect of the freedom of association and negotiation;

 k For the elimination of discriminatory hiring practices;

 k For the elimination of forced or compulsory labour;

 k For the effective abolition of child labour.

Fleury Michon commits to strict compliance with the international 
conventions in force on these fundamental issues.

2.5 Environmental data

2.5.1 General environmental policy

Environmental policy is a key strategic concern at Fleury Michon 
and is a component of the Company’s sustainable development 
strategy. We are committed to growing our business responsibly, 
while limiting our environmental impact and complying with 
regulations.

France has very strict environmental laws, particularly for the agri-
food industry. Before a production site can be commissioned, it 
must file a classified environmental facility application and receive 
special administrative approval from a government environmental 
protection agency (the Direction Régionale de l’Environnement, de 
l’Aménagement et du Logement - DREAL).

In 2013, Fleury Michon defined its Quality, Safety and Environmental 
policy (QSE) within the Group as part of the Company’s sustainable 
development strategy. This initiative demonstrates Fleury Michon’s 
commitment to a responsible and sustainable food industry.

The QSE policy was approved by the Group Management 
Committee. The business line General Managers for the 
subsidiaries and support functions approve the action plans and 
implementation methods. The implementation and operational 

guidance are assigned to the individual site Managers, who are 
in charge of the appropriate process or function.

Coordination and a cross-functional approach bring consistency 
to the total of the various initiatives.

The areas covered are:

 k Quality, food item safety and customer satisfaction;

 k Food safety and security;

 k Ensuring the security of information systems;

 k The environment.

Under the terms of its sustainable development strategy, Fleury 
Michon has committed to growing its business while controlling 
environmental impact.

The priority action items are:

 k The prevention of pollution;

 k The sustainable use of resources (forms of energy, raw 
materials, packaging);

 k The protection of the environment.
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Environmental impact will become an increasingly important 
component in management methods and decision-making 
processes, particularly for energy consumption and packaging.

This policy relies on ongoing improvement efforts that:

 k Define goals incorporating regulatory requirements and 
changes;

 k Allocate the resources suited to the achievement of these 
goals;

 k Implement action plans;

 kMeasure efficiency and ensure continuous improvement 
efforts.

This policy is reiterated annually for each of the entities. The 
management system is assessed and the goals are modified on 
a regular basis during the review period or by the Management 
Committee.

Room Saveurs, whose business is the delivery of prepared meals 
to companies throughout the Paris region, does not fall within the 
scope of the current environmental reporting. This company, with 
42 employees as of 31 December 2013, occupies two storeys of 
office space in the 13th arrondissement of Paris. It is exclusively 
a service provider. Room Saveurs creates, develops, sells and 
promotes its products. The cooking, the preparation of food trays 
and the delivery are performed by external service providers. 
This fact differentiates its environmental reporting from that of the 
Group, which is primarily an industrial concern. Nevertheless, as 
a fully consolidated subsidiary of the Fleury Michon Group, Room 
Saveurs is committed to making the same efforts to reduce the 
environmental impact of its activities. Environmental information 
specific to Room Saveurs can be found in Section 2.5.6.

2.5.1.1  ORGANISATION OF THE COMPANY IN 
RESPONSE TO ENVIRONMENTAL QUESTIONS 
AND, IF APPLICABLE, THE APPROPRIATE 
ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENTS 
OR CERTIFICATION PROCEDURES

Within the France scope, Fleury Michon has several primary 
businesses: Charcuterie, Prepared Meals, Prepared Seafood 
and Room Saveurs. The latter are headed up by the business 
line General Managers, who are responsible for operational 
management.

Cross-functionally, the Group’s Industrial Division provides 
support for the business to implement measures to protect the 
environment, monitor improvement plans, promote sharing of best 
practices and track environmental indicators.

Fleury Michon complies with the ISO 9001 and 22000 standards 
for the implementation of management systems in its production 
units and emphasises the guidelines that directly relate to its core 
business: Hygiene and food safety of products. The Prepared 
Meals, Charcuterie and Prepared Seafood businesses are 
ISO 9001 certified, (2008 version) or ISO 22000: 2005, for six 
production units in the Vendée, as well as the logistics platform. 
The Cambrai and Plélan-le-Grand units are currently in the process 
of obtaining ISO 22000 certification.

Fleury Michon was certified ISO 50001 level 1 in 2013 for the 
Mouilleron Prepared Meals and Chantonnay Prepare Seafood 
production units.

One or more team members are tasked with implementation of 
these environmental protection measures at each production 
facility, with ultimate responsibility lying with the Plant Manager.

2.5.1.2  ENVIRONMENTAL TRAINING AND AWARENESS 
PROGRAMS FOR EMPLOYEES

Fleury Michon regularly conducts awareness campaigns on waste 
and good environmental practices, with a focus on such issues 
as reducing water and energy consumption, waste sorting and 
recycling.

In 2013, 380 individuals received training on environment related 
topics. These training programmes addressed fire risks and the 
operation of refrigeration units, among other subjects.

2.5.1.3  RESOURCES DEVOTED TO THE PREVENTION 
OF ENVIRONMENTAL RISKS AND POLLUTION

The Environmental Projects Director position exists since early 
2013. Investments associated with environmental protection 
totalled €1.9 million in 2013. These investments primarily involved 
energy savings for refrigeration units and treatment materials 
facilitating reductions in packaging needs.

2.5.1.4  AMOUNT OF PROVISIONS AND GUARANTEES 
FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RISKS, UNLESS 
THIS INFORMATION COULD CAUSE SERIOUS 
HARM TO THE COMPANY IN AN ONGOING 
DISPUTE.

Fleury Michon does not recognise any provisions for environmental 
risks.
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2.5.2 Pollution and waste management

Through their continuous improvement plans, all production 
facilities are working to reduce waste volumes by optimising the 
use of materials and packaging. Each production facility sorts its 
waste for appropriate recycling and recovery (cardboard, paper, 
plastics, organic matter and metals).

The new system commissioned in 2010 to convert organic waste 
into methane, in collaboration with our selected partner, allowed us 
to increase recovery by separating packaging from organic matter. 
This methanisation system is now in use at all Vendée Unit sites.

2.5.2.1  MEASURES FOR THE PREVENTION, 
REDUCTION OR REMEDIATION OF 
DISCHARGES INTO THE AIR, WATER, 
AND SOIL THAT MAY HAVE A SEVERE 
ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT

Given its business, Fleury Michon is primarily concerned by 
waste discharged into water. The Company attaches particular 
importance to the management and treatment of wastewater to 
improve treatment efficiency.

The Company has implemented a system that enables the 
production facilities to directly connect to their own wastewater 
treatment plants. These plants are equipped to reduce organic, 
nitrogen and phosphorous pollution to concentrations that comply 
with the applicable environmental regulations. Effluent is treated 
at three plants in Mouilleron, Chantonnay and Pouzauges Gare. 
In 2010, a new activated sludge facility was brought on line at 
the Pouzauges Gare plant. From June to November, the water 
treated at the Mouilleron and Pouzauges Gare plants are used to 
irrigate farmland. Discharges into rivers are thus eliminated during 
the low-water season.

The plants are managed by Fleury Michon technicians, with the 
assistance of companies specialising in wastewater treatment, or 
directly by these same companies. These plants are all equipped 
with measurement and automatic-monitoring systems. Thanks to 
effective management and maintenance, the quality of the effluent 
from these plants exceeds legal requirements.

The Cambrai and Plélan production units ensure the pre-treatment 
of their effluents, which are then treated in the local plants.

CHEMICAL OXYGEN DEMAND (COD)(1)

2013 2012 Change

Final Chemical Oxygen Demand (in metric tonnes) 18.51 17.50 +5.8%

Net COD ratio (in mg/kg of product) 221 209 +5.8%

(1) This is the total of the COD recorded in the treatment plants managed directly by Fleury Michon and of the effluents treated by the local plants (Cambrai and Plélan).

The final 2013 Chemical Oxygen Demand (COD) discharge was 
18.51 metric tonnes, a level close to 2012, despite the additional 
impact of 1.15 metric tonnes in effluents from the new Cambrai 
plant which opened in November 2012.

The concentration of effluents discharged into the environment 
has remained stable overall at 36mg/litre.

2.5.2.2  RECYCLING AND WASTE DISPOSAL 
MEASURES

Waste management

Fleury Michon’s activities generate various types of waste:

 k Ordinary industrial waste: non-hazardous non-organic waste 
(raw material packaging, packaging film borders, cardboard 

and paper, wood). These are recovered either via recycling or 
reuse (such as wood pallets);

 k Organic waste: This is the result of preparation and 
manufacturing within the various Fleury Michon production 
units. It is processed through specialised channels for the 
production of animal feed and methanisation since 2010;

 k Hazardous industrial waste: This is only found in small 
quantities in Fleury Michon’s processes. It is the result of 
maintenance work (used oil, solvents, Waste Electrical and 
Electronic Equipment - WEEE - including consumable lighting 
materials). This waste is sorted at the source and recycled 
by specialised service providers. In 2013, 220 metric tons 
of hazardous industrial waste were generated, including 191 
metric tonnes of glycol water.
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WASTE PROCESSING

2013 2012 Change

Total quantity of waste generated(1) (in metric tonnes) 11,718 12,079 -3%

Ratio of total waste generated per kg of product(1) (in g/kg) 140 144 -2.8%

Total waste disposed of through recovery(1) (in metric tonnes) 8,281 9,540 -13.2%

Proportion of waste processed by recovery channels(1) 70.7% 79% -8.3 points

(1) Excluding treatment plant sludge.

In 2013 the recovery ratio has decreased due to the fact that 
the service provider stopped recycling plastic packaging waste 
from complex PVC-based films. Fleury Michon is pursuing new 
recycling channels for this type of waste starting in 2014.

2.5.2.3  RESPONSE TO NOISE AND OTHER SPECIFIC 
TYPES OF POLLUTION

Noise pollution limits are stated in each facility’s operating permit. 
The reduction of noise pollution is also taken into account when 
purchasing new equipment.

2.5.3 Sustainable use of resources

All our production sites track resource use and define targets and action plans each year to optimise their consumption.

2.5.3.1 WATER SUPPLY AND CONSUMPTION ACCORDING TO LOCAL CONSTRAINTS

2013 2012 Change

Water consumption (in m3) 902,596 907,379 -0.5%

Water consumption intensity (in litres/kg of product) 10.8 10.8 =

Our production facilities get their water supply from the public 
drinking water distribution network. For the most part, the water 
is used for production, cleaning the production lines and cooling.

Because of the location of its production sites, Fleury Michon is not 
affected by the problems of regions experiencing water scarcity 
(see the WBCSD Global Water Tool on www.wbcsd.org).

The overall 2013 water consumption remained stable at 902,596m3 
on France scope, with one additional production unit. Excluding 
the new Cambrai plant, the reduction totals -4.3% between 2012 
and 2013.

CHANGE IN WATER CONSUMPTION OVER SIX YEARS FOR THE VENDÉE UNIT 
(92% OF THE FRANCE SCOPE)
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The Vendée Unit consumption showed a decrease of -4.7% 
between 2012 and 2013, with a final total of 827,193m3. The 
consumption ratio decreased by 2.9%. This change is the result 
of the implementation of improved water management practices. 
For example, more economic process modifications in water use 
at the Prepared Seafood unit led to a decrease in the consumption 
ratio of -8% between 2012 and 2013.

Over the last six years, the water consumption ratio has decreased 
by -18% within the Vendée Unit.

2.5.3.2  CONSUMPTION OF RAW MATERIALS 
AND MEASURES TO IMPROVE USAGE 
EFFICIENCY

Given its activities, Fleury Michon deals with two significant types 
of consumables. The food raw materials used in the recipes and 
packaging.

Food raw materials

BREAKDOWN OF PURCHASES IN 2013 AND 2012

In metric tonnes 2013 2012

Pork 40,595 38,609

Poultry 18,192 18,298

Fish and seafood 9,015 11,673

Vegetables, carbohydrates, 
spices and other ingredients 16,969 17,978

TOTAL 84,771 86,558

These include optimising materials efficiency and selecting the 
right balance between quality of raw materials and production 
processes to optimise the use of resources. Please see 
Sections 2.6.4.1 “Quality policy” and 2.6.5 “Consumer health” 
for information on traceability, quality and control of raw materials.

Food packaging: a key role

Packaging has three crucial functions in our business:

 k Protecting and preserving the product to safeguard the 
optimum health and safety of consumers;

 k Ensuring optimal conditions for the transportation and storage 
of products in order to guarantee that consumers will receive 
a quality product;

 k Informing consumers and providing essential information 
(mandatory legal notices, nutritional information, recycling of 
packaging, recipe ideas, etc.).

Optimising packaging weight and researching new recycling 
opportunities are just some of the challenges for Fleury Michon 
that require substantial capital outlay, as well as long-term R&D 
and deployment lead times. Fleury Michon is taking part in a 
Research and Development project in order to develop bio-based 
materials in partnership with research laboratories, universities and 
supplier research centres.

main PaCKaging Categories

Plastic and cardboard are the main packaging categories used 
by Fleury Michon. Other categories are not representative of our 
packaging use.

PACKAGING USED IN THE FRENCH MARKET

In metric tonnes 2013 2012 Change

Plastics 8,177 7,671 +6.6%

Cardboard 1,644 1,804 -8.9%

Aluminium 55 35 n/a

Other 1 1 n/a

Total packaging quantity 9,877 9,512 +3.8%

Packaging use ratio per kg of product in g/kg 117.7 115.3 +2.1%

Source: Eco packaging statement.

Changes in the use of packaging are tied to business growth 
and to changes in the mix of products with an increase of plastic 
packaging and a reduction of cardboard packaging.

Fleury Michon has had actions plans in place for several years to 
reduce the environmental impact of packaging.

The replacement of polyvinyl chloride (PVC) by polyethylene 
terephthalate (PET), including recycled PET, was implemented in 
2013 on six ham packaging lines.

The range of prepared meals in dishes (such as the Joël Robuchon 
Famous Duck Parmentier) was improved through ecodesign. The 
resulting optimisation achieved a decrease in weight of -17% for 
overall packaging.

The polypropylene (PP) packaging for the Vraiment product range 
(boxed prepared meals) saw a reduction of -9%, amounting to 
annual savings of 66 metric tonnes of plastic materials.

The packaging for the 500g surimi rolls saw a reduction of -24% 
between 2005 and 2013 thanks to improvements in the container 
and lid designs.
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2.5.3.3  ENERGY CONSUMPTION AND THE MEASURES ADOPTED TO IMPROVE EFFICIENCY  
AND THE USE OF RENEWABLE FORMS OF ENERGY

DIRECT ENERGY CONSUMPTION

2013 2012 Change

Natural gas (in MWh) 102,947 103,132 -0.2%

Ratio (in kWh per kg of product) 1.23 1.23 =

Natural gas is used to generate steam for the cooking process.

Natural gas consumption has remained stable. Moreover, if the 
new Cambrai production facility is excluded, consumption has 
decreased by -3.2% between 2012 and 2013. The energy ratio 
remained stable at 1.23kWh per kg of product.

CHANGE IN DIRECT ENERGY CONSUMPTION VENDÉE UNIT 
(94% OF FRANCE SCOPE)
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We reduced our energy consumption by 18% in the period 2008-
2013 throughout the Vendée Unit scope.

INDIRECT ENERGY CONSUMPTION

2013 2012 Change

Electricity (in MWh) 105,556 101,702 +3.8%

Ratio (in kWh per kg of product) 1.26 1.21 +4.1%

Electricity is used for refrigeration at our production facilities and 
logistics centre and to operate plant and equipment.

Electricity consumption has increased by +3.8%. Excluding the 
new Cambrai plant, the reduction totals -2.3%. The 2012 energy 
audit focused on the performance of refrigeration equipment. The 
two primary issues identified by this audit were the need for speed 
regulators (synchronous motors) and for heat recovery.

A number of investments made in the design of the Cambrai Unit 
resulted in a reduction in energy consumption:

 k Improved insulation of the building (insulation thickness of 
240mm);

 k Compressor regulators for refrigeration equipment;

 k High performance heat pump for the machine room for heating 
employee common areas.
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CHANGE IN INDIRECT ENERGY CONSUMPTION VENDÉE UNIT 
(91% OF FRANCE SCOPE)

2008 2009 2010 2011 20132012

1.0

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.26
1.25

1.11

1.17
1.181.18

in KWh/Kg

We reduced our electricity consumption by 6% over the 2008-
2013 period throughout the Vendée Unit scope.

2.5.3.4 LAND USE

Fleury Michon is not directly involved in land use. The Company 
works in partnership with local farmers to promote sustainable 
agriculture, for example by advising them on fertilisation 
programmes and sludge spreading.

2.5.4 Climate change

2.5.4.1 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS

The overview presented below indicates the greenhouse gas 
emissions (GHG) generated by the Company’s activities. The 
scope includes points 1 and 2 of the regulatory review conducted 
the previous year.

Emissions were measured according to the “contained” option.

The scope of these measurements includes the Company’s 
activities in France, i.e. the Vendée Unit, the Charcuteries 
Cuisinées of Plélan-le-Grand in Ille-et-Vilaine and Société 
d’Innovation Culinaire in Cambrai. Room Saveurs was not 
included because its service industry activities did not generate 
any significant data.

The reference year is 2012. 2013 emissions were measured at 
constant scope and according to the same rules. Please note 
that the Société d’Innovation Culinaire in Cambrai had not yet 
commenced operations in 2012.

The final result is expressed in metric tonnes of CO2 equivalent. It 
is broken down into four gas categories with an impact on global 
warming: Carbon dioxide, methane, nitrous oxide and refrigeration 
fluids (aggregately designated as “Other gases”).

The emissive powers used to convert the data into metric tonnes 
of CO2 eq. are taken from the carbon database, which is the 
public database developed in association with the French National 
Environment and Energy Management Agency (ADEME) for 
mandatory scopes 1 and 2.

2013 2012 Change

T eq. CO2 27,634 24,934 +10.8%

T eq. CO2 0.33 0.30 +11.1%

T CO2 18,216 18,169 =

T CH4 1.68 1.68 =

T N2O 0.84 0.84 =

Other gases 0.84 0.26 ++

Energy savings were achieved on several sites, thus reducing the 
share of greenhouse gas emissions due to burning fossil fuels (gas) 
and electricity use. The addition of a new production site (Société 
d’Innovation Culinaire (SIC) Cambrai) did not produce any changes 
in emissions of CO2, CH4, or N2O.

Nevertheless, a refrigeration system leak caused a significant 
increase in the role of refrigeration fluids which accounted in total 
for 2.225 metric tonnes eq. CO2.

Excluding the commencement of operations at the Cambrai plant 
and the leak of refrigeration fluids, greenhouse gases emissions 
have overall decreased by -2%.
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2.5.4.2  ADAPTING TO THE CONSEQUENCES 
OF CLIMATE CHANGE

Its geographical locations mean that Fleury Michon is not directly 
impacted by climate change in the medium term. We are a member 

of a regional Vendée Chamber of Commerce and Industry group 
formed to examine options for water management (Prospective 
Vendée 2030).

2.5.5 Protecting biodiversity

None of the production facilities within the Vendée Unit scope 
includes biodiversity protected areas.

Fleury Michon is committed to working to protect biodiversity. 
French Bio, Label Rouge and Bleu-Blanc-Cœur certification 
categories are based on an integrated approach combining food 
safety (traceability), nutritional quality and a response to consumer 
expectations by offering superior level products compared with 
conventional products. The Bio category indicates animals from 
organic farming with environmental responsibility and animal 
welfare as central concerns. The Label Rouge is a production 
method based on specific expertise and characteristics to 
guarantee a superior quality product. Bleu-Blanc-Cœur highlights 
vegetables and grains of high nutritional quality. Each of these 
three quality labels incorporate husbandry criteria (choice of 
breed, conditions, care and feeding of animals, slaughter age, 
etc.) designed to offer higher quality products in line with the 
demands of sustainable agriculture. In 2013, Fleury Michon added 
responsible fishing practices for its surimi supply channel to its 
commitments. These practices will be certified by a third party in 
2014. This approach involves three commitments: the first two are 
directly concerned with biodiversity, and the third involves people 
(employees and consumers).

Respecting fishing resources:

 k Selection of non-endangered wild species: the Alaska Pollock 
and whiting fished in Alaskan waters;

 k Limited quantity fishing designed to allow the resource to 
renew itself and avoid over-fishing;

 kMonitoring of changes in the resource by scientific 
organisations.

Respecting marine environments:

 k Selection of fisheries with fishing methods that respect the 
eco-system;

 k Fishing targeting single-species shoals of fish to minimise 
secondary catches.

Respecting people:

 k Long-term partnerships with suppliers;

 k Traceability from the fishing boat to the consumer’s plate;

 k Quality of the catch and the transformation process (health 
and safety);

 k A quality guarantee for consumers, excluding polyphosphate, 
sorbitol, glutamate and artificial flavours.

This commitment is the formal statement of Fleury Michon’s long-
standing practices in relation to its Alaska-based surimi suppliers.
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2.5.6 Room Saveurs’ environmental commitments

In 2004, Fleury Michon acquired a prepared meals delivery service 
to businesses in the Paris region.

Room Saveurs achieved 2013 turnover of €21.7 million, an 8.6% 
increase, involving the sale of 780,500 prepared meal trays and 
boxed meals.

Room Saveurs offers a wide variety of products suitable for every 
office meal occasion:

 k Luxury, with “Fauchon”;

 k Brasserie, with “Flo Prestige”;

 k Italian, with “Roberta”;

 k Organic with “Pleine Nature”;

 k Simplicity, with “Pause Déjeuner”;

 k Sandwiches with “Cojean” and “Pause Déjeuner”;

 k Buffets, cocktails, and breakfasts with Pick.

This company, with 42 employees as of 31 December 2013, 
occupies two storeys of office space in the 13th arrondissement 
of Paris. It is exclusively a service provider. Room Saveurs creates, 
develops, markets and promotes its offering. The cooking, the 
preparation of food trays and the delivery are performed by 
external service providers.

This means that its environmental impact is excluded from the 
Group’s environmental reporting, whose activities almost entirely 
focus on the industrial sector.

Nevertheless, as a fully consolidated subsidiary of the Fleury 
Michon Group, Room Saveurs is committed to making the same 
efforts to reduce the environmental impact of its activities.

Room Saveurs and its suppliers have made significant strides in 
this area over recent years.

2.5.6.1 RAW MATERIALS

The two annual menus (spring/summer, autumn/winter) consist 
of sixty or so items. Over time, Room Saveurs has increased the 
portion of products that are locally or organically produced. As a 
result, 39% of the meals in the 2013-2014 autumn/winter menu 
included at least one locally-produced or organic component.

French-produced meat products are also prioritised: 78% of the 
meat products found on the 2013-2014 autumn/winter menu 
originated in France (61% for the 2013 spring-summer menu).

2.5.6.2 PACKAGING

Whenever possible, Room Saveurs also gives priority to packaging 
products manufactured in Europe or France. For example, all 
Pleine Nature and Pause Déjeuner boxes are manufactured in Île 
de France, whereas in 2008, 100% of the boxes originated in Asia.

Since 2009, much work has been done on the environmental 
impact of packaging and dishes used. Therefore:

 k The elimination of the protective paper layer on Flo boxes has 
resulted in savings of 1 metric ton of tissue paper;

 k The volume of cardboard required for the Pause Déjeuner 
boxes has been reduced by one third;

 k The replacement of the non-stackable Fauchon box by 
a stackable cardboard box reduced the number of pallets 
needed per order from 24 to 4;

 k The elimination of magnets on the Flo box flaps has reduced 
their environmental footprint and improved the management 
of resources;

 k A reduction in the weight of the Flo and Fauchon plates and 
lids generated a reduction in plastic materials of 4% and 6% 
respectively over a full year;

 k Five Pleine Nature, Roberta and Pause Déjeuner lids are now 
made of recycled PET.

2.5.6.3 LOGISTICS

Room Saveurs’ logistics partner is also endeavouring to implement 
more environmentally friendly practices. Adherence to the CO2 
Charter has led to an 8.5% reduction in its CO2 per km emissions 
between 2009 and 2012. In accordance with this Charter, the goal 
for the 2013-2015 period is a 5% reduction.

In order to achieve these results, the vehicle fleet renewal has 
been accelerated, drivers have undergone training in eco-friendly 
driving practices, and awareness and training sessions on driving 
best practices have been conducted.

As of the 2013 year-end, two of the four commercial vehicles 
owned by Room Saveurs are hybrid cars (gas-electric). By spring 
2014, it is expected that the company will own five hybrid vehicles.

2.5.6.4 INTERNAL BEST PRACTICES

Room Saveurs employees are internally trained on best 
environmental practices. Measures such as improvements in 
printer configuration and paperless estimates and invoices have 
resulted in a decrease in paper consumption from 850 reams in 
2011 to 520 in 2013, a 38% reduction.

In 2013, Room Saveurs conducted its first carbon footprint audit 
on scopes 1, 2 and 3, thereby exceeding regulatory requirements 
(scopes 1 and 2). An action plan is being formulated.
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Building relations with suppliers, finding the right balance between customers, shareholders and employees, protecting the environment 
and supporting local communities are all a natural part of everyday life at Fleury Michon.

In today’s global marketplace, the pursuit of higher margins is often done at the expense of third parties or with no concern for the real 
or potential harm it can cause to others.

Fleury Michon has shown that competitive constraints can be turned into opportunities for improving performance and sustainability. 
While not the easiest path to take, it is definitely the most responsible and rewarding. By listening to customers and consumers and 
satisfying their needs, nurturing employee dialogue, improving working conditions and cooperating with suppliers to reduce costs without 
sacrificing their margins, we are contributing to our own growth and development.

2.6.1 Community, economic and social impact of our business

2.6 Societal reporting

2.6.1.1 ECONOMIC IMPACT

Fleury Michon’s dynamic economic model produces positive 
impacts for an entire ecosystem. The revenue generated by the 
Group is converted into economic value for stakeholders and 
contributes to financing the local and national economy.

The allocation of our net earnings rewards shareholders through 
dividend payments, and grows the Company through reinvestment 
in its development.

The Group generated consolidated revenue totalling €697.9 
million in 2013 and net consolidated profit of €16.2 million. 
Fleury Michon’s 2013 business activities in France required the 
services of 3,115 suppliers, of which 2,851, or 92%, are based 
in France. Supplies are the largest expense item, amounting to 
64% of consolidated revenue. This is followed by personnel, which 
amounts to a quarter of revenue. Net salaries, profit-sharing and 
incentives totalled nearly €85 million in 2013. While maintaining 
reasonable shareholder dividend payments of 33% of net profit, 
Fleury Michon actively pursued its growth strategy by reinvesting 
67% of its income in the Company.
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Employees M€ 175.1

State and communities M€ 25.9

CONSOLIDATED TURNOVER
2013

M€ 697.9

Net borrowing cost

M€ 1.1

Donations and 
sponsorship 

M€ 2.5

For the portion in gifts 
in-kind to food banks

222.3 metric tons

Cost of production tools

 M€ 26.1

M€ 16.2
NET PROFIT 

Corporate taxes 

M€ 12.9
Other taxes 

M€ 13.0

Transportation Packaging

Provision of services

Raw materials Energy

Banks

Net salaries 
paid

M€ 78.4 

Employer and 
social contributions

M€ 90.3

Pro�t-sharing 
and incentives

M€ 6.4

* Dividend estimate based on €1.2 per share proposed 
during the General Meeting of 28 May 2014

* 67% of the net pro�t

Portion reinvested 
in the company 

M€ 10.9*

Amortizations

Suppliers M€ 449.4

Civil society

Company
Shareholders

Dividends

M€ 5.3*
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Fleury Michon has taken a proactive stance in learning more about 
the interaction between its activities and its environment. To this 
end, the Company calculated the impact of its 2013 activities in 
France in terms of employment and value added. The calculations 
are based on a methodology developed by the consulting firm 
Utopies under the brand name “Local Footprint©”. The Local 
Footprint© algorithm assesses to what extent the expenses 
(investments, purchases, salaries, taxes, contributions, etc.) 
incurred by an organisation generate ripple effects throughout a 
given geographical area (country, region, department, labour pool, 
etc.). Methodology details can be found on www.utopies.com, 
under the “local economic footprint” section on the welcome page.

Within France, Fleury Michon’s 2013 economic activities generated 
11,011 direct and indirect jobs. Direct hiring, meaning by Fleury 
Michon itself, totalled 3,384 and indirect hiring accounted for the 
remaining 7,627 jobs. In other words, the Company’s multiplier 
effect is nearly 3.2: for one job at Fleury Michon in France, 2.2 
jobs are created or maintained in France.

Among these 11,011 direct and indirect jobs, 2,026 fall within 
the public or para-public sector: healthcare, social interventions, 
education, administration, public services and associations.

The same calculation was performed for value added. In France, 
Fleury Michon’s business activities generated €690 million in value 
added for 2013: €240 million directly generated by the Company, 
and €450 million generated indirectly within the rest of the national 
economy. Fleury Michon’s multiplier effect for value added is nearly 
2.9: €1 in value added created by the Company produced €1.9 
in France as a whole.

Sixty percent of the impact of these indicators, employment and 
value added, is concentrated in western France, more precisely, in 
the Brittany and Pays de Loire regions combined. This fact reflects 
Fleury Michon’s historic origins in western France.

Among other measurements, it has been shown that one job 
in France is maintained by the consumption of Fleury Michon 
products by 2,205 French households.

JoBs value aDDeD

2.6.1.2 EMPLOYMENT AND REGIONAL 
DEVELOPMENT

The Local Footprint© calculator can be focused on a particular 
region or department. For the western region, consisting of the 
two regions of Brittany and Pays de Loire, Fleury Michon economic 
activity in France in 2013 generated 6,291 jobs (3,236 direct hires 
by Fleury Michon, and 3,055 indirect hires). The same calculation 
applied to value added shows that Fleury Michon’s economic 
activities generated €400 million in the region (€231 million directly 
generated, and €169 million indirectly generated).

For the three departments in which Fleury Michon has facilities, 
the multiplier effect in terms of jobs is 1.3 in Vendée; 2.2 in Ille-et-
Vilaine and 2.9 in Nord.

Fleury Michon’s multiplier effect in terms of value added is 1.2 in 
Vendée; 2.5 in Ille-et-Vilaine and 3.6 in Nord.

The Company’s multiplier factors are lower in Vendée than in 
the other departments because Fleury Michon has large direct 
operations in this department. This therefore reduces the indirect 
effect on the remainder of the department’s economy.
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2.6.1.3  IMPACT ON RESIDENTS AND LOCAL 
POPULATIONS

Fleury Michon’s French-based production facilities are located in 
areas with a mix of farmland and small towns. Fleury Michon 
has always aimed to grow its business while creating sustainable 
employment. Its production facilities and nerve centres for 
decision-making are located in the midst of local life, where 
the Group creates direct and indirect employment. We are one 
of the top private employers in the Vendée and the Pays de la 
Loire, and as such are keenly aware of our social and economic 
responsibilities.

In growing the business, it has always been our goal to create 
sustainable jobs and partnerships locally. This goal is systematically 
included in all organisation charts and management decisions.

national imPaCt regional imPaCt

DePartmental imPaCt
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Fleury Michon is involved in the life of the local communities. The 
Company has taken on a variety of commitments to this end:

 k Company employees play the role of ambassadors in 
employer clubs, the Centre des Jeunes Dirigeants (Young 
Business Leaders’ Centre), the Groupes d'Entraînement et 
de Réflexion au Management des Entreprises (GERME, a 
training organisation focusing on managers and executives), 
the French national association of human resources managers 
(ANDRH), and schools such as the Maison Familiale et Rurale 
de Pouzauges, the Centre de Formation Professionnelle 
de Saint-Laurent-sur-Sèvre, the École de Gestion et de 
Commerce de la Roche-sur-Yon, and the Institut Supérieur 
de la Logistique et du Transport de Montaigu;

 kWe are involved in a variety of projects to develop the local 
employment base with local partners (second chance 
programme, inclusion projects, training provided with 
temporary employment agencies, projects in conjunction 
with the French national employment agency, Pôle Emploi, 
focusing on preparation for employment, and simulation-
based recruitment methods);

 k Contribution to local initiatives: raising awareness of disabilities, 
participation in human resources workshops;

 kWe organise workshops in the local area to focus on challenges 
such as employment and training:

 ● Meetings with training organisations to invigorate our 
operations,

 ● Participation in creating a regional employers’ association,

 ● Leading discussions with social insertion organisations on 
bridges to employment.

Fleury Michon also contributes to the financing of social externalities 
through its employee and employer contributions. Given the 
contributions to social services directly paid by Fleury Michon, 
as well as by its suppliers who also pay such contributions, the 
Company’s 2013 business activities enabled social payments to 
be paid to 8,540 beneficiaries throughout France over 12 months, 
including €105.5 million in benefits related to old age, families, 
illness, unemployment, housing, disabilities and social exclusion.

2.6.2 Relations with people or organisations with a specific interest 
in the Company’s activities

Fleury Michon’s commitment to Corporate Social Responsibility 
entails an approach to governance that involves all its partners. 
Fleury Michon believes the Company is a partnership with 
advantages for all stakeholders, which can be divided into five 
main categories:

 k Customers, both distributors and consumers who support the 
Company financially through their purchases;

 k Employees and their representatives, who contribute their 
skills and know-how;

 k Investors, both shareholders and bankers, who provide the 
capital required for stability, investments and growth;

 k Suppliers, through the goods and services needed for the 
business;

 k Civil society, through local authorities and organisations in 
which the Company is involved.
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2.6.2.1 CONDITIONS FOR DIALOGUE WITH THESE INDIVIDUALS AND ORGANISATIONS

Fleury Michon has always placed a high priority on its voluntary involvement in local economic, social, and community life. This is clearly 
demonstrated by an in-depth knowledge of the expectations of external stakeholders and their potential or actual impact on Fleury Michon. 
This has led the Company to set up programmes and tools to facilitate dialogue and the exchange of information with these stakeholders.

MAPPING OF THE EXTERNAL STAKEHOLDERS

COMMERCIAL SOCIAL

PUBLIC AND SOCIALFINANCIAL

Level 3 suppliers Level 2 suppliers

Level 1 Suppliers

Competitors

Job Centre 
and Temporary Agencies

Training 
     Organisations 
          and Schools

Media

    Public 
Authorities

     Certifying 
Bodies

Organisations/
Professional 
Federations

NGOs 
and other 
at-risk groups

International 
Organisations

       Local Communities 
and Authorities

  Associations/
Sponsorship

Shareholders

Investors

Banks

Financial Institutions

Rating 
   Agencies

Clients/
Distributors

Consumers

Importance of the stakeholder:
1 Required for the existence of the company
2 Significant impact on a major project or activity of the Group
3 Limited or temporary impact on a project or activity of the Group

1

2

3
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LEVEL OF IMPORTANCE 1

External stakeholders Their expectations Their impact on Fleury Michon Activities led by Fleury Michon

Clients/Distributors  • Profitable products that attract 
and retain loyal consumers

 • Offer a responsible and high 
quality product to consumers

 • Being able to provide information 
on the products it sells

 • Being able to provide information 
on the brands/companies it does 
business with

 • Economics
 • Visibility of the products 
to consumers

 • Sales team of 160 individuals
 • Including 116 salespeople 
in the field

 • Continuous monitoring
 • Quality audits of the production 
facilities

 • Site visits
 • Answers to specific 
questionnaires

Consumers  • Food quality and safety
 • Organoleptic characteristics
 • Nutritional quality
 • Natural ingredients
 • Price affordability
 • Clear and honest information 
on the products: 
transparency need

 • Commitments of the brands: 
ethical behaviour, inspiring trust

 • Economics
 • On reputation
 • On brand recognition
 • On trust
 • On innovations (expectations 
of innovations and success/
failure in product launches)

 • Website information
 • Presence and responsiveness 
on social media

 • Information on and in packaging
 • Communication via traditional 
media outlets

 • Articles in the press
 • Information on sales outlets
 • Meeting with consumers to better 
understand their expectations, 
thoughts and ideas

 • Quantitative consumer surveys
 • Tasting panels
 • Responsiveness, answers 
and actions of Customer Service 
department

Level 1 suppliers  • Fair compensation
 • Compliance with payment 
deadlines

 • Sustaining the commercial 
relationship

 • Growth outlook
 • Partnership

 • Economics
 • On food quality, safety 
and security

 • On innovation, technical 
advances and technologies

 • Dialogue, consultation between 
purchasers and quality 
control staff

 • Audits and quality control
 • Visits to sites, farms, etc.
 • Task force on business growth 
projects

Shareholders  • Financial valuation
 • Business growth, profitability 
and sustainability

 • Information on governance 
and risk management

 • Information on the Company’s 
non-financial results and 
objectives and on the methods 
used to attain them

 • Value of securities
 • On the General Meeting 
decisions

 • On reputation

 • General Meeting of Shareholders 
at headquarters

 • Information and annual reports 
sent to registered shareholders

 • Financial information available 
on the internet and dedicated 
email address for inquiries

Investors  • Group growth, financial stability, 
profitability and sustainability

 • Financial valuation
 • Suitability of the strategy

 • On capital inflows
 • On support for growth

 • Meetings and opportunities 
to speak to management

 • Sending of information 
and financial and institutional 
documents

 • Answers to specific 
questionnaires

 • Visits to production sites

Banks and insurance 
policies

 • Group growth, financial stability, 
profitability and sustainability

 • Risk mitigation
 • Solvency

 • On capital inflows
 • On support for growth
 • On the hedging of risks

 • Sending of information 
and financial and institutional 
documents

 • Opportunities to speak 
with management

 • Responses to specific 
solicitations and to questionnaires
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LEVEL OF IMPORTANCE 2

External stakeholders Their expectations Their impact on Fleury Michon Activities led by Fleury Michon

Level 2 suppliers  • Fair compensation
 • Compliance with payment 
deadlines

 • Sustaining the commercial 
relationship

 • Growth outlook
 • Partnership

 • Economics
 • On food quality, safety 
and security

 • On innovation, technical 
advances and technologies

 • Dialogue, consultation between 
purchasers and quality control 
staff

 • Audits and quality control

Competitors  • Setting the Company apart
 • Gain market shares
 • Grow
 • Collectively contribute 
to advances in the trade

 • Economics
 • On commercial competition, 
marketing, R&D, etc.

 • Participation in professional 
or sector trade unions

Certification 
organisations

 • Corporate cooperation
 • Availability (easy access) 
and transparency of information, 
procedures, processes, etc.

 • On labelling, the certification 
of the Company or certain sites, 
activities

 • On reputation, the credibility 
of the Company

 • Quality of the audits, 
environment, food safety, etc.

Education, training  • Sharing and availability of 
the expertise within the Company

 • Financing of research work
 • Financing of apprenticeship 
and training channels, etc.

 • Partnerships and professional 
prospects for students and 
apprentices

 • Training of young people, adults, 
and employees

 • Addition of new types of training, 
channels

 • Participation in job fairs and 
exhibitions for training and 
education institutions

 • Involvement with academic 
bodies

 • Involvement in groups working 
on integration or re-integration 
into the workforce, training 
and qualifications, etc.

 • Accepting interns 
and apprentices

 • Financing of academic chairs

Employment agency 
and temporary 
agencies

 • Job offers  • Search for suitable candidates
 • Proactivity (candidates, 
recruitment techniques)

 • Source of diversity

 • Meetings, encounters, 
group projects

Public authorities:
 − Human resources 
guidelines

 − Environmental 
guidelines

 − Consumer health 
and safety guidelines

 − Financial and tax 
guidelines

Dynamic of the economic context, 
wealth and job creation
 • Tax revenues
 • Compliance with current 
regulations

Legal framework
 • Tax burden
 • Allocation of subsidies
 • Project Financing

Participation in public programmes
 • Participation in meetings, 
conferences, workgroups

 • Responses to calls for projects
 • Responses to specific 
solicitations and to questionnaires

Professional 
federations

 • Participation in collective actions
 • Sharing of ideas and practices

 • Collectively representing 
the interests of the Company

 • Encounters, exchanges
 • Participation in representative 
bodies

Rating agencies  • Corporate cooperation
 • Availability and transparency 
of information

 • On reputation and business 
recognition

 • On trust
 • Value of securities

 • Answers to specific 
questionnaires

 • Encounters and interviews

Media  • Clear, reliable and relevant 
information

 • Availability of contact persons

 • On reputation
 • On brand recognition
 • On trust
 • On the success/failure 
of innovations

 • Economics
 • Value of securities

 • Press releases
 • Press conferences
 • Responses to specific 
solicitations

 • Visits to production sites
 • Responses to interviews

NGOs and at-risk 
groups

 • Continuous improvement 
in the Company’s methods for 
addressing all its environmental, 
social and societal challenges

 • Transparent communication 
on subjects that are of direct 
relevance (different subjects 
depending on the NGO)

 • On reputation
 • On brand recognition
 • On trust
 • Economics
 • Value of securities
 • On corporate practices

 • Signatory of the Diversity Charter
 • Signatory of the French 
anti-discrimination authority’s 
(HALDE) Orange Paper in 2007 
to promote equal opportunities 
(defender of rights)

 • Signatory of Passeport Avenir
 • Participation in Disability Days
 • Sponsoring and support 
of various associations dealing 
with humanitarian issues, illness, 
disabilities, workplace integration, 
etc.
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LEVEL OF IMPORTANCE 3

External stakeholders Their expectations Their impact on Fleury Michon Activities led by Fleury Michon

Level 3 suppliers  • Fair compensation
 • Compliance with payment 
deadlines

 • Sustaining the commercial 
relationship

 • Growth outlook
 • Partnership

 • Economics
 • On food quality, safety 
and security

 • Dialogue/consultation between 
purchasers and quality control 
staff

 • Audits and quality control

Associations/
sponsorship

 • Financing of partnerships, 
sponsorship, patronage

 • Skills influx

 • On reputation
 • On brand recognition

 • Funding of multiple associations 
through corporate sponsorship, 
patronage or aid

 • Member of the Board of Directors 
of associations

 • Food donations

Local communities and 
groups

 • Contribution to local issues
 • Environmental protection
 • Job creation
 • Support for local growth 
(economic, infrastructural, 
educational, community-based, 
etc.)

 • Allocation of subsidies
 • Project Financing
 • Advantages present 
in the territory

 • Sending corporate 
documentation

 • Participation in local events 
and local associations

 • Meetings with local elected 
officials

2.6.2.2 PATRONAGE AND PARTNERSHIPS

Local outreach is important for Fleury Michon and our sponsorship 
activities reflect our identity and values. Our employees and 
management staff are involved in 100 or so sporting, charitable 
and cultural organisations, which the Company supports. The 
most important participations consist of:

2.6.2.2.1 Education and eating habits

Committed to playing our part in improving the nutritional value 
of food, Fleury Michon has sponsored EDUCALIM since it was 
launched in September 2010. EDUCALIM is a schools-based 
sociological research program on changing eating behaviour 
through education and learning that targets schoolchildren aged 8 
to 11. The programme’s initiator was the Pays de la Loire regional 
food, agriculture and forestry authority (DRAAF) with the support 
of the French national healthy eating programme, the Programme 
National pour l’Alimentation (PNA) and the Education Ministry.

Since 2011 the Group has supported the French nutrition and 
health fund (the Fonds Français pour l’Alimentation et la Santé), 
created in May 2011 by the French Nutrition Institute (Institut 
Français pour la Nutrition - IFN) and the food industry association 
(Association Nationale des Industries Alimentaires - ANIA). The 
Fund has three primary tasks: promoting a healthy diet, actions 
in the field and support for research on eating habits.

2.6.2.2.2 Diet and social integration

Fleury Michon is also committed to fighting diabetes. Our 
sponsorship of the therapeutic Childhood and Adolescent 
Diabetes programme started in 2007, helping to provide support 
for young diabetics and their families to accept and live with their 
condition.

It was a natural step for the Group to sign the membership charter 
of the Pays de la Loire food aid consortium (the Groupement 
Régional de l’Aide Alimentaire) in 2012. This consortium sets out to 
determine and inventory all actions undertaken by the partners and 
optimise collection and distribution. The purpose of the charter 

is to increase the volume and diversify the type of food products 
redistributed through charities.

Room Saveurs, the Paris region prepared meal delivery service, 
finances the recycling service for glassware and stainless steel 
cutlery, in partnership with charitable organisations (Samusocial de 
Paris, Salvation Army, etc.). These materials are then distributed 
to partner charitable organisations. Approximately 550 Thermos 
flasks®, 38,000 items of cutlery, and 11,000 glasses were 
distributed to social assistance centres in 2013.

In addition, Room Saveurs has donated time to charitable 
organisations. In 2013, one of two Room Saveurs employee 
donated his or her time in the Paris Samusocial centres and 
worked as a volunteer (sorting clothes, cleaning of housing 
centres, providing cooking instruction to individuals in need, etc.). 
This volunteer work by employees was performed during working 
hours. Room Saveurs therefore paid the 19 employees involved 
for a total 63 hours of work.

In 2013, Fleury Michon provided donations in kind, redistributing 
over 222 metric tonnes in food products, equivalent to over €1 
million, to local food banks and charitable organisations.

2.6.2.2.3 Sustainable food

The Group has been a partner of TerrEthique since its creation in 
2006. This association is dedicated to raising awareness among 
the public and public authorities regarding the quantitative and 
qualitative capacity to feed humanity in a fair and sustainable 
manner.

2.6.2.2.4 Collaborative research efforts

Nova Child is an initiative of the Choletais Chamber of Commerce 
and Industry to create an excellence innovation hub concentrating 
on the world of children as a regional growth driver (agri-foods, 
clothing, games, furniture, child care, health, services, etc.). Fleury 
Michon has been a member of the Nova Child network since it 
was launched in November 2004.
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Another example is the Group’s long-standing engagement - since 
2004 - with LIGERIAA, the Pays de la Loire regional food industry 
association. Its work culminated in industry initiatives highlighting 

the advantages of the agri-foods industry and the jobs it creates, 
as well as training in regional agri-food industries.

2.6.3 Subcontracting and suppliers

The objective of Fleury Michon’s sourcing policy is to formalise the 
Group’s purchasing principles.

It relies on a corporate value system that places the excellence of 
its customer and consumer service at the centre of the Group’s 
concerns, along with mutual respect, mutual trust, continuous 
dialogue, a sustainable focus on collective interests and ongoing 
adaptability to change.

The Fleury Michon sourcing policy reflects the corporate culture 
and its commitment to a responsible business approach. It 
conveys the Group’s image and its desire for continuous progress.

The Company’s sourcing policy has been approved by the Group 
Management Committee.

The business line and subsidiary General Managers define the 
sourcing policies for individual subsidiaries, and approve the 
actions plans and the methods to be implemented.

The implementation of the sourcing policy and the operational 
control of the Company’s purchases are the responsibility of the 
Sourcing Managers.

The Sourcing Managers, Quality Control Managers, and those in 
charge of purchasing quality implement all measures necessary 
to ensure the safety and quality of the raw materials, ingredients 
and packaging in accordance with the requirements dictated 
by regulations, clients, and the production and finished product 
quality units.

The Group Sourcing Coordinator ensures an appropriate level of 
consistency among all these components across all functions in 
the Company.

Fleury Michon’s sourcing policy incorporates four important 
commitments associated with the Group’s strategy:

 k Guarantee adequate supplies while ensuring food safety 
in each channel:

 ● Select the best supply channels through a listing process 
that facilitates an assessment of the risks associated with 
each product,

 ● Develop adequate methods and action plans to manage 
risks at all stages of the process, based on a risk 
assessment,

 ● Establish a programme designed to monitor suppliers and 
all parties involved in the supply process in accordance 
with said risk assessment,

 ● Whenever necessary, expand the supplier list in order to 
minimise risks of interruption to supplies,

 ● Understand the business process model of supply 
channels (origin of raw materials, food processing plants, 
intermediary service providers) in order to guard against 
the risk of fraud and dishonesty,

 ● Take an active role within the raw materials production 
channels that are of the greatest importance to the Group’s 
activities. Implement an active monitoring system attuned 
to strong and weak signals;

 k Ensure quality by establishing company standards:

 ● Introduce specifications and/or specification sheets in 
collaboration with the suppliers,

 ● Assess compliance with specifications through inspection 
upon receipt or dispatch of supplies, and monitoring 
procedures based on the risk assessments,

 ● Assess supplier performance and, if necessary, initiate an 
ongoing dialogue to bring about improvements;

 k Ensure competitiveness and value creation by promoting 
mutually beneficial relations with suppliers:

 ● Obtain the optimum purchasing price in relation to the 
expected quality of the product and/or service and 
the overall performance of the product and/or service 
throughout its use,

 ● Give priority to the supply channels with the fewest 
intermediaries, wherein each party adds measurable value,

 ● Whenever necessary, re-assess supply sources and/or the 
products: calls for tender, diversification, value analysis,

 ● Encourage collaborative innovation efforts with suppliers 
to develop new solutions that enhance competitiveness 
and value added;

 k Promote sustainable and responsible purchasing 
practices by sharing Fleury Michon’s best practices:

 ● Act as ambassadors for the Company and its values,

 ● Promote long-term partnerships with suppliers,

 ● Establish and maintain balanced business relations based 
on interaction and dialogue to find mutual best interests,

 ● Remain vigilant as to the mutual economic dependence 
between Fleury Michon and its suppliers,
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 ● Where applicable, plan for a progressive tapering off of 
business to end the contract,

 ● Take an active role in the fight against corruption,

 ● Use Fleury Michon’s influence to promote practices that 
are fair and respectful of social, human and environmental 
rights.

2.6.3.1  INTEGRATION OF SOCIAL 
AND ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES 
IN SOURCING POLICY

As part of our CSR policy, we formalise purchasing best social 
and environmental practices. Sourcing policy must be flexible to 
adapt to gradually integrate social and environmental criteria, in 
addition to the current criteria focused on quality, traceability and 
the technical aspects of the raw materials and services purchased. 
This is a long-term process that requires cooperation and 
communication with suppliers in order to achieve progress and 

not breakdown in Fleury Michon’s long-term partnerships. Fleury 
Michon also prioritises the requirements stated in its specifications 
that, in some cases, have taken years to achieve with its suppliers.

2.6.3.2  IMPORTANCE OF SUBCONTRACTING 
AND THE INCORPORATION OF CSR 
IN RELATIONS WITH SUPPLIERS 
AND SUBCONTRACTORS

Subcontracting plays a small role within the Group. It is primarily 
used for activities that are not at the core of Fleury Michon’s 
business. This is the case for plant security, cleaning and the 
maintenance of equipment and production lines.

The employees of external companies working in the Group’s 
production plants are treated in the same way as Fleury Michon 
employees: locker rooms, break rooms, cafeterias, etc. They are 
also subject to the same requirements as Fleury Michon personnel 
under the terms of the Quality-Safety-Environment policy.

2.6.4 Consumer safety

Through its commitment to food safety, Fleury Michon works every 
day to ensure all the conditions to protect our food chain from the 
risks of malicious actions by:

 k Awareness-raising campaigns;

 k Compliance with procedures;

 k Ensuring the security of sites, buildings, transport, products, 
processes and procedures;

 k Ensuring data security.

In 2013, Fleury Michon’s Customer Service department conducted 
its annual satisfaction survey. The 875 questionnaires sent to 
consumers who had contacted the department in recent months 
generated a 50% response rate. The satisfaction rate stands at 
79%, and remains similar to 2012 results (81%, a statistically 
insignificant difference). From this total, the “very satisfied” 
represent 42% and the “satisfied” 37%. The stated repurchase 
rate for a Fleury Michon product in the following weeks is 87%, as 
compared to 90% in 2012, once again a statistically insignificant 
difference. The average response time for the Company’s 
Customer Service department in 2013 was three business days, 
as compared to five business days in 2012, and ten days in 2005.

CUSTOMER SERVICE DEPARTMENT RESPONSE TIME IN BUSINESS DAYS
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Fleury Michon was contacted 3,322 times in 2013. 2,269 of these 
inquiries took the form of questions on quality. This number must 
be compared to the 366 million consumer units sold in France in 
2013. This constitutes an excellent indicator of the high quality 
demanded by Fleury Michon in the preparation of its products.

The Customer Service department is completely internal. It is 
physically located near the main production and logistical activities 
and support services (QA, R&D, sourcing, marketing, sales, etc.). 
This represents a strategic asset in the timing and relevance of 
responses.

The department is a member of the Association for the 
Management of Customer Complaints (www.amarc.asso.fr) which 
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serves as an umbrella for over 250 companies across all sectors. It 
provides a platform for communication, oversight, and the sharing 
of information to improve best practices in handling customer and 
consumer complaints.

Room Saveurs’ own Customer Service department also conducts 
satisfaction surveys. Over 1,700 surveys were conducted by 
phone in 2013. The organoleptic satisfaction rate is 93%. The 
overall rating for Room Saveurs’ services is 4.15/5.

2.6.4.1 QUALITY POLICY

Fleury Michon aims to provide a diverse range of meals to its 
customers for all occasions, taking consumer expectations into 
account. We are committed to quality and food safety and to the 
aim of responsible industry.

Fleury Michon has ISO 9001 and International Food Standard 
(IFS) certification, demonstrating its active engagement with these 
aims day to day. The quality management system is founded on 
continuous improvement, in line with the Company’s economic 
and societal values.

We consistently seek to deliver customer satisfaction and meet 
all regulatory requirements, ensuring:

 k Food safety: control of bacteriological, physical, chemical and 
allergenic risks, implementing the HACCP (Hazard Analysis 
Critical Control Point) methodology and best hygiene practices, 
and ensuring traceability at every stage of the process;

 k Organoleptic quality: control and consistency of the finished 
product;

 k Service quality: service performed ensuring practicality and 
ease of use while providing an optimum rate of customer 
service;

 k Nutritional quality: incorporation of consumer health concerns;

 k Sustainability: incorporating the challenges of sustainable 
development.

Our quality managers are tasked with implementing, managing and 
coordinating the quality management and food safety systems.

The quality management system is assessed during management 
reviews and its objectives are also regularly updated.

Fleury Michon’s purchasing quality policy seeks to source products 
from France whenever the required quality and quantities are 
available.

The Channels:
Fleury Michon’s sourcing strategy
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Fleury Michon has set up supply channels for its primary supply 
lines.

Short farm-to-factory gate circuits are given priority and the Group 
does not make opportunistic “spot purchases”.

Substantial resources are committed to inspecting suppliers and 
ensuring compliance with specifications as part of our purchasing 
quality policy:

 k Ten team members are dedicated to purchasing quality;

 k 100 audit days with suppliers in 2013;

 k A testing laboratory staffed by nine people;

 k Systematic visual inspections of incoming supplies;

 k Daily organoleptic checks;

 k Over 300,000 tests and analyses are performed each year;

 k A traceability system that stores the entire product life cycle 
from upstream to downstream.

2.6.4.2  ORGANISATION OF CRISIS PREVENTION 
AND MANAGEMENT

There is no such thing as zero risk; therefore every responsible 
company must do whatever is necessary to manage the risks 
inherent to its business.

We are committed to providing the resources required to predict, 
respond to and minimise the impacts of a crisis on the Company 
and its environment. Crucial to this approach is ensuring this 
crisis prevention and management system is shared amongst 
employees, customers, partners and government authorities.

Prevention and management are structured around six core areas:

 k Analysis of the potential risks inherent to the Group’s business, 
including product, industrial social and organisational risks;

 kManagement and control systems: prevention files, health 
intelligence, media and scientific intelligence and the HACCP 
control method;

 k Training and awareness: crisis management training, media 
training and simulation exercises;

 k Procedures to follow in the event of an alert or crisis;

 k Verification exercises: simulated product recalls, call 
management;

 k Corrective actions to ensure the crisis does not recur for the 
same causes.

This process is monitored by the three members of the crisis unit: 
the unit is led by the Chief Operating Officer, with the support of 
the Coordinator and the Assistant Coordinator.

The role of this unit during a crisis is to:

 kMake decisions and steer implementation;

 k Prepare and coordinate communication;

 kMaintain the health and safety of consumers as well as the 
sustainability of the Company.

The crisis unit may call upon external entities (crisis management 
agencies, legal experts, trade federations and government 
authorities).

2.6.5 Consumer health

At Fleury Michon, we are wholly committed to providing customer 
satisfaction by offering products that contribute to balanced daily 
eating habits. Consumer health is at the heart of our responsible 
strategy. We owe it to our customers to listen carefully to their 
needs and deliver an effective, responsive service that anticipates 
needs. The Group provides innovative, convenient products, 
backed by irreproachable standards of quality, safety and 
naturalness.

Audits at supplier sites are also a crucial part of our policy to 
protect consumer health and safety. Audits are conducted focusing 
on the quality of raw materials, traceability and compliance with 
specifications.
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HEALTH AND NUTRITION POLICY

In 1999, Fleury Michon actively adopted a nutritional approach 
designed to promote a balanced diet and sustainable consumption.

The Fleury Michon nutritional charter consists of five key points 
that are incorporated in the creation of all recipes:

 k Compliance with daily recommended allowances (RDA) of 
macronutrients and micronutrients;

 k Fat content: quantitative limits to be observed and qualitative 
selection of the types of fat (e.g. no hydrogenated oils);

 k Salt: threshold quantity to be complied with for each product 
family;

 k Additives: removal wherever possible;

 k Nutritional information on all packaging and website for 100g 
and values per portion.

PLEDGES MADE UNDER THE NATIONAL HEALTH AND 
NUTRITION PROGRAMME

Fleury Michon signed a nutritional progress charter with the French 
State for the 2010-2012 period: Ministries of Health, Food and 
the Economy. This corporate commitment was aligned with 
France’s National Health and Nutrition Programme (PNNS), which 
was launched to improve the population’s health by focusing on 
balanced nutrition.

These commitments included:

 k Lowering the salt content in prepared meals, hams, poultry 
and roasts by 6% to 10%;

 k Limit trans fats and eliminate hydrogenated oils in our prepared 
meals and surimi;

 k Reduce saturated fats by 11.3% and eliminate palm oil in our 
prepared meals;

 k Place straightforward, comprehensive nutritional labels on all 
packaging and on our website (www.fleurymichon.fr);

 k Promoting healthy eating habits and regular physical activity 
among our employees.

In 2013, the three Ministries which had signed the charter alongside 
Fleury Michon acknowledged that all these commitments had 
been fulfilled, and in fact surpassed. This was verified and validated 
by the Agri-Food Poitou-Charentes CRITT, an independent third-
party body. Therefore:

 kWith regard to the salt commitment:

 ● Average content reduction of -15.6% in prepared meals,

 ● Average salt content decrease of -7.7% in charcuterie.

 kWith regard to the trans fatty acids commitment:
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 ● Use of fatty acids to be lower than 1g/100g in prepared 
meals (0.116g/100g) and in surimi (0.064g/100g),

 ● No hydrogenated oils in any of the prepared meals and 
surimi.

 kWith regard to the commitment on saturated fatty acids in 
prepared meals:

 ● Reduction in average content of saturated fatty acids,

 ● No palm oil in any of the prepared meals.

 k Regarding the commitment to nutritional labelling: 100% of the 
products bear a nutritional label per 100g portion and values 
per portion on the packaging and the website.

 k Regarding the commitment to employees:

 ● 80% of employees have undergone nutritional monitoring,

 ● 350 diet consultations financed by the Company’s mutual 
health insurance,

 ● Organisation of balanced eating events and educational 
breakfasts,

 ● 48 activities initiated by the Works Council to promote a 
balanced diet and/or physical activity: 988 families were 
involved,

 ● 15,000 local seasonal fruits distributed to employees,

 ● Adaptation of products available in vending machines: in 
2013, 30% of snacks purchased were fruit- or cereal-
based,

 ● Six events held in the Group’s various staff restaurants. 
Signage providing nutritional advice to employees.

PREVENTION POLICY FOR ALLERGIES 
AND FOOD INTOLERANCE

As early as 2003, Fleury Michon began to actively work on 
improving the quality of life of consumers with allergies or food 
intolerances. This policy involves the elimination of certain allergens 
in all or part of its recipes, including peanuts, hazelnuts and other 
nuts, locust bean gum, guar gum, red cochineal, tartrazine, 
canthaxanthin, erythrosine, BHA and BHT E321 antioxidants, 
gluten and glutamate. The implementation of HACCP throughout 
all Fleury Michon production facilities guarantees clear and reliable 
labelling. The Company website also provides a search feature for 
allergens, to serve the needs of consumers suffering from allergies 
or intolerance to certain foods.

In 2013, the French Association for the Prevention of Allergies 
(AFPRAL) recognised Fleury Michon for its allergy-prevention 
efforts over the past ten years. Joint efforts with AFPRAL and 
the French Association for Gluten Intolerance (AFDIAG) have 
facilitated:

 k The labelling of a type of ham without celery or gluten;

 k The labelling of 31 gluten-free recipes;

 k Educating Fleury Michon teams on the issues associated with 
allergies and gluten intolerance;

 k Communication with allergy specialists in September 2013;

 k Information on the AFPRAL and Fleury Michon websites;

 k The inclusion of two recipe guides in the packaging of Fleury 
Michon products.

2.6.6 Fair operating practices

2.6.6.1  EFFICIENT AND RESPONSIBLE 
COMMUNICATION

Fleury Michon’s advertising strategy is refocused on our motto, 
‘Obsessed with goodness’. This focus highlights the years spent 
enhancing our recipes; eliminating additives, preservatives and 
artificial food colourings; selecting the best suppliers and creating 
the business lines and generally making our products the best 
they can be.

“Obsessed with goodness” sets the tone not only for the brand’s 
commitment to consumers but also the Company’s in-house 
culture.

There are three channels of responsible communication:

 k Packaging: providing consumer information including the list 
of ingredients and allergy warnings concerning the possible 
presence of major allergens, nutritional information and 
recycling;

 k Advertising: Fleury Michon ensures compliance with the 
recommendations of the French advertising self-regulatory 
organisation (ARPP);

 k Consumer information: detailed information is available on 
our Web site www.fleurymichon.fr on product composition, 
allergens, nutritional values per 100g and per portion, as well 
as advice and tips for a healthy and balanced diet and the 
importance of physical exercise.

Nutritional information on packaging, our Web site and on POS 
materials is the perfect opportunity for educating consumers 
on healthy eating. This voluntary initiative is our contribution to 
promoting healthy eating among the general public.
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2.6.6.2 MAKING THE PRODUCTS ACCESSIBLE TO ALL

In order to make its products widely accessible, Fleury Michon 
develops specific recipes and strategies targeting specific 
customer profiles.

Starting in 2003, Fleury Michon began improving the quality of 
life of consumers with allergies or food intolerance by eliminating 
certain allergens in all or part of its recipes, providing clear and 
reliable labelling, and providing an allergen search feature on its 
website to facilitate consumers’ selection.

Vegetarian prepared meals have also been added for those who 
wish to avoid meat consumption.

Fleury Michon offers reduced-salt and low-fat options for 
consumers who wish to maintain a balanced diet. The recipes 
are assessed by a nutritionist and proposed as part of a balanced 
meal.

Fleury Michon offers a range of halal poultry and kosher surimi to 
meet religious dietary requirements.

In order to make the unit price more affordable, the Company 
offers around 20 ham, poultry, and roast meat options consisting 
of two slices. The Sur le Pouce range of prepared meals is the 
lowest-priced Fleury Michon range and consists of ten or so 
products. In order to make the price per kilo more affordable, 
there are around ten ham and poultry options provided in an eight-
slice format. A 42-roll option has been added to the surimi range.

Finally, Fleury Michon has launched a partnership with the website 
www.jevismieux.fr. Je Vis Mieux (I live well) is a social initiative 
for consumers who have difficulty affording their day-to-day food 
needs. This website provides discount coupons for common 
consumer goods. The partner brands, such as Fleury Michon, 
offer coupons on this website.

2.6.6.3 ANTI-CORRUPTION EFFORTS

According to the international organisation, Transparency 
International, corruption is defined as the abuse and 
misappropriation of entrusted power for private gain. This definition 
highlights the three major components of corruption:

 k “Abuse of power”;

 k “for private gain” (therefore not necessarily profiting the 
individual who perpetrates the abuse of power, but may benefit 
close family members or friends);

 k “entrusted power” (which may therefore originate in the private 
or public sector).

Transparency International publishes an annual worldwide index 
that lists and ranks countries according to the perception of their 
corruption rates (Corruption Perception Index or CPI). The higher 
the score out of 100, the lower the risk. For 2013, among the 
countries where Fleury Michon has industrial facilities, are the 
following:

 k Canada, in 9th position with a score of 81/100;

 k France, in 22nd place with a score of 71/100;

 k Slovenia, in 43rd place with a score of 57/100.

Although corruption risk is not material for Fleury Michon in these 
areas, it remains vigilant.
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2.7 Cross-reference table for Fleury Michon’s CSR 
reporting framework

In order to promote transparency and readability of the Registration 
Document, the following table identifies the sections and regulatory 
information required under Article 225 of the Grenelle II law, the 
Global Reporting Initiative (version 3.1), the central issues and 
scope of ISO 26000, as well as the ten principles of the UN Global 
Compact. 

This table refers to the corresponding pages of the Fleury Michon 
Registration Document. N.B.: If no information is specified in the 
Global Compact column, this means that the issue as a whole is 
addressed in the corresponding section or sub-section.

Grenelle II. - Article 225 GRI 3.1

GOVERNANCE

Communities 
and local 

development

Human Rights

Questions 
relating to 
consumers

Business 
Loyalty

Environment

ORGANISATION

Workplace 
conditions 

and relations

ORGANISATION

ISO 26000 Global Compact
Registration 
Document

Sections

Legal provisions and broad reporting principles

Indicators to be reported

Reporting scope and consolidation of significant entities 3.5 to 3.11 7.6 2.2.2

“Comply or explain”: justifying why certain indicators 
are not reported Principle 7.6 2.2.2

Comparability 3.12 7.6 2.2.2

Referral to the significant reference sources 3.12 7.6 2.7

Certification 3.12 7.6

Verification of the accuracy of the information by 
an independent third party, explanation regarding 
“comply or explain”, justification of this opinion 3.13 7.6

In the spirit of the law

Information supported by indicators 7.5 2.3

Particularly: Information on the incorporation of CSR 
and its integration in the Company’s operations 6.2 2.4

Social data

Jobs

Total headcount LA 1 6.4 2.4.1.1

Breakdown of employees by gender LA 1 6.4 2.4.1.1

Breakdown of employees by age 6.4 2.4.1.1

Breakdown of employees by geographical area LA 1 6.4 2.4.1.1

New hires LA 2 6.4 2.4.1.2

Lay-Offs LA 2 6.4 2.4.1.2

Compensation EC1 & EC5 6.4 2.4.1.3

Change in compensation EC1 & EC5 6.4 2.4.1.3

Work organisation

Organisation of working hours LA 6.4.4 2.4.2.1

Absenteeism LA 7 6.4.4 2.4.2.2

Labour relations

Social dialogue LA 4 6.4.3 & 6.4.5 3 2.4.3.1

Collective agreements LA 5 6.4.3 & 6.4.5 3 2.4.3.2
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Grenelle II. - Article 225 GRI 3.1

GOVERNANCE

Communities 
and local 

development

Human Rights

Questions 
relating to 
consumers

Business 
Loyalty

Environment

ORGANISATION

Workplace 
conditions 

and relations

ORGANISATION

ISO 26000 Global Compact
Registration 
Document

Sections

Health and safety

Health and safety in the workplace LA 6 & LA 8 6.4.6 4 & 5 2.4.4.1

Agreements signed with trade unions on health & safety 
in the workplace LA 9 6.4.6 4 & 5 2.4.4.2

Frequency and severity of occupational accidents LA 7 6.4.6 4 & 5 2.4.4.3

Occupational illnesses LA 7 6.4.6 4 & 5 2.4.4.4

Training

Training policies implemented LA 11 6.4.7 2.4.5.1

Total number of training hours LA 10 6.4.7 2.4.5.2

Equality

Measures adopted to promote gender equality LA 14 2.4.6.1

Measures adopted to promote the employment 
and integration of disabled people LA 13 2.4.6.2

Anti-discrimination policy LA 13 2.4.6.3

Promotion of, and compliance with the ILO’s 
fundamental conventions LA & HR 1 to 6

Respect of the freedom of association and the right 
to collective bargaining

HR 5;  
LA 4 & LA 5 6.3.10 3 2.4.7.1

Eradication of discrimination in employment and careers
HR 4;  

LA 13 & LA 14 6.3.10 6 2.4.6.3 & 2.4.7.2

Eradication of forced or compulsory labour HR 6 & HR 7 6.3.10 4 & 5 2.4.7.3

Effective abolition of child labour HR 6 6.3.10 4 & 5 2.4.7.4

Environmental data 6.5

General environmental policy

Organisation of the Company to respond to 
environmental questions. If applicable, environmental 
assessment procedures or certifications

Managerial 
approach 6.5.1 & 6.5.2 7 & 8 & 9 2.5.1.1

Environmental training and awareness programmes 
for employees

Managerial 
approach 6.5.1 & 6.5.2 7 & 8 & 9 2.5.1.2

Resources devoted to the prevention of environmental 
risks and pollution EN 30 6.5.1 & 6.5.2 7 & 8 & 9 2.5.1.3

Amount of provisions and guarantees for environmental 
risks (except for risk of harm) EN 28 & EC 2 6.5.1 & 6.5.2 7 & 8 & 9 2.5.1.4

Pollution and waste management

Measures for the prevention, reduction and 
remediation of discharges into the air, water, and soil 
that may have a severe environmental impact

EN 22 & EN 23  
& EN 24 6.5.3 7 & 8 & 9 2.5.2.1

Measures for the prevention, recycling, and elimination 
of waste EN 22 6.5.3 7 & 8 & 9 2.5.2.2

Response to noise pollution and any other types 
of pollution associated with an activity EN 25 6.5.3 7 & 8 & 9 2.5.2.3
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Grenelle II. - Article 225 GRI 3.1

GOVERNANCE

Communities 
and local 

development

Human Rights

Questions 
relating to 
consumers

Business 
Loyalty

Environment

ORGANISATION

Workplace 
conditions 

and relations

ORGANISATION

ISO 26000 Global Compact
Registration 
Document

Sections

Sustainable use of resources

Water consumption 6.5.4 7 & 8 & 9 2.5.3.1

Water supply in accordance with local constraints
EN 8 & EN 9  

& EN 21 6.5.4 7 & 8 & 9 2.5.3.1

Consumption of raw materials EN 1 6.5.4 7 & 8 & 9 2.5.3.2

Measures adopted to improve the efficient use 
of raw materials EN 10 6.5.4 7 & 8 & 9 2.5.3.2

Energy consumption EN 3 and EN 4 6.5.4 7 & 8 & 9 2.5.3.3

Measures adopted to improve energy efficiency 
and the use of renewable energies

EN 5 & EN 6  
& EN 7 6.5.4 7 & 8 & 9 2.5.3.3

Land use 6.5.4 7 & 8 & 9 2.5.3.4

Climate change

Greenhouse gas emissions
EN 16 & EN 17  

& EN 19 & EN 20 6.5.5 7 & 8 & 9 2.5.4.1

Adaptation to the consequences of climate change EN 18 & EC 2 6.5.5 7 & 8 & 9 2.5.4.2

Protecting biodiversity

Measures adopted to preserve and increase biodiversity
EN 11 to 15  

& EN 25 6.5.6 7 & 8 & 9 2.5.5

Information on societal commitments promoting 
sustainable development 6.8

Local, economic and social impact 
of the Company’s business 6.8

In terms of employment and regional development EC 8 & EC 9 6.8.5 2.6.1.2

Impact on neighbouring or local populations EC 1 & EC 6 6.8 2.6.1.3

Relations with people or organisations with a specific 
interest in the Company’s activities (stakeholders) 5

Conditions for dialogue with these individuals 
and organisations 4.14 to 4.17 5.3.3 2.6.2.1

Partnerships and sponsorships
EC 1  

& 4.11 to 4.13 6.8.9 2.6.2.2

Subcontracting and suppliers

Integration of social and environmental issues 
in sourcing policy

EC 6 & HR 2  
& HR 5 to 7 6.6.6 1 & 2 2.6.3.1

Importance of subcontracting and the incorporation 
of CSR in relations with suppliers and subcontractors 3.6 & 4.14 6.6.6 1 & 2 2.6.3.2

Fair operating practices 6.6

Actions taken to prevent any forms of corruption
SO 2 to 4, SO 7 

& SO 8 6.6.3 10 2.6.6.3

Measures adopted to promote consumer health 
and safety PR 1 & PR 2 6.7.4 2.6.5

Other actions undertaken to promote human rights HR 6.3 1 & 2
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2.8 Independent third party report

FLEURY MICHON

Financial year ended on 31 December 2013

Independent third party report on the consolidated social, environmental 
and societal data provided in the management report

To the shareholders,

In our capacity as independent third party whose request for 
accreditation was accepted by COFRAC under number 3-1050, 
and as a member of the network of one of Fleury Michon’s Statutory 
Auditors, we hereby present our report on the consolidated social, 

environmental and societal data for the financial year ended on 
31 December 2013, presented under the “Corporate Social 
Responsibility” Chapter of the management report, hereafter 
referred to as “CSR Information”, in application of the provisions 
of Article L. 225-102-1 of the French Commercial Code.

Company responsibility

The Board of Directors is responsible for producing a management 
report that incorporates CSR Information pursuant to Article 
R. 225-105-1 of the French Commercial Code, in accordance 
with the reporting framework used by the Company, consisting 

of the November 2013 CSR reporting protocol (the “reporting 
framework”). The “Corporate Social Responsibility” Chapter of 
the management report includes a summary of this reporting 
framework.

Independence and quality control

Our independence is prescribed by the regulations, the professional 
Code of Conduct and the provisions of Article L. 822-11 of the 
French Commercial Code. Moreover, we implement a quality 

control system including documented policies and procedures to 
ensure compliance with ethical rules, professional standards and 
the applicable laws and regulations.

Responsibility of the independent third party

On the basis of our work, our responsibility is to:

 k Certify that the required CSR Information is provided in 
the management report or, if it is omitted, is explained in 
accordance with the third paragraph of Article R. 225-105 
of the French Commercial Code (certification of presence of 
CSR Information);

 k Provide a limited assurance that all aspects of the CSR 
Information, as a whole, are presented in a true and fair 
manner in accordance with the reporting framework (reasoned 
opinion of the reliability of the CSR Information).

Our work was performed by a four-member team between 
September 2013 and April 2014 over the course of approximately 
ten weeks.
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We performed the tasks described below in accordance with the 
applicable French professional standards and the 13 May 2013 
decree on the conditions under which an independent third party 
auditor performs its duties, and for the reasoned opinion, in 
accordance with international standard ISAE 3000(1).

1  CERTIFICATION OF COMPLETENESS 
OF CSR INFORMATION

We familiarised ourselves, through interviews with the appropriate 
managers, with the overall sustainable development guidelines in 
relation to the social and environmental impact associated with 
the Company’s activities and its societal commitments and, where 
applicable, the resulting activities or programmes.

We compared the CSR Information presented in the management 
report with the list provided in Article R. 225-105-1 of the French 
Commercial Code.

In the case of some missing consolidated information, we verified 
that explanations were provided in accordance with the provisions 
of Article R. 225-105 paragraph 3 of the French Commercial Code.

We verified that the CSR Information covered the consolidated 
scope, meaning the Company and its subsidiaries as defined by 
Article L. 233-1 and the companies under its control as defined by 
Article L. 233-3 of the French Commercial Code, within the limits 
specified in the methodological note presented in the “Scope” 
section of the management report regarding the exclusion of Delta 
Daily Food (Canada) and Proconi (Slovenia).

On the basis of our work and given the above limitations, we certify 
the presence of the required CSR Information in the management 
report.

2  REASONED OPINION ON THE RELIABILITY 
OF THE CSR INFORMATION

Nature and scope of our work

We conducted approximately fifteen interviews with the individuals 
responsible for the preparation of the CSR Information within the 
Communication and CSR, Human Resources, Environment, 
Marketing, Sourcing and Nutrition departments in charge of the 

data collection procedures and, in some cases, in charge of the 
internal control and risk management procedures, in order to:

 k Assess the appropriateness of the reporting framework in 
terms of its relevance, completeness, reliability, neutrality 
and comprehensibility, taking into account the sector’s best 
practices whenever applicable;

 k Verify the implementation of procedures for collecting, 
compiling, processing, and verifying the completeness and 
consistency of CSR Information and familiarise ourselves with 
the internal control and risk management procedures relating 
to the compilation of the CSR Information.

We determined the nature and scope of our tests and verifications 
in accordance with the nature and the significance of the CSR 
Information in relation to the Company’s characteristics, the social 
and environmental challenges associated with its activities, its 
strategy in terms of sustainable development and best sector 
practices.

For the CSR Information we deemed the most important(2):

 k For the consolidating entity, we reviewed source documents 
and conducted interviews intended to corroborate any 
qualitative information (organisation, policies, activities, etc.). 
We applied analytical procedures to quantitative data and, 
using sampling techniques, verified the calculations and data 
consolidation. We also verified their coherence and consistency 
with other information provided in the management report;

 k At site level, we selected3) based on its activities, its 
contribution to the consolidated indicators, its location and a 
risk assessment, we conducted interviews to verify the correct 
application of procedures and carried out detailed sample-
based tests to verify the calculations performed and compare 
the data with the documentary evidence. The selected facility 
represents 12% of the workforce and 11 to 31% of the 
quantitative environmental data.

With regard to the other consolidated CSR Information, we 
assessed its consistency in relation to our knowledge of the 
Company.

Finally, we assessed the relevance of the explanations relating 
to the complete or partial absence of certain information, where 
relevant.

(1) ISAE 3000 – Assurance engagements other than audits or reviews of historical information.

(2) Environmental and societal information: general policy on the environment, pollution and waste management (the quantity of COD, the prevention, reduction 
and remediation measures for discharges into the air, water and soil, the volume of waste produced and recovered, the waste prevention, recycling and 
elimination measures), energy consumption, greenhouse gas emissions, measures adopted to improve energy efficiency and water consumption), the 
consumption of raw materials and the measures adopted to improve their efficient use); the regional, economic and social impact (employment, regional growth, 
impact on neighbouring and local populations), relations with stakeholders (conditions for dialogue, partnership and sponsorship activities), the importance 
of subcontracting and the taking into account in the sourcing policy and relations with suppliers and subcontractors of the social and environmental issues 
and the measures adopted to promote consumer health and safety.

 Social information: employment (total headcount and staffing breakdown, hiring and lay-offs), health and safety conditions in the workplace, occupational 
accidents, particularly in terms of frequency and severity, as well as occupational illnesses, the training policies implemented and the total number of training 
hours.

(3)  The Traiteur de la Mer (TLM) facility in Chantonnay (Traiteur activity).
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We believe that the sampling methods and the size of the samples 
we used, based on our professional expertise, enable us to issue 
a conclusion of limited assurance. A higher level of assurance 
would have required more extensive verification work. Due to the 

use of sampling techniques and to the other limitations inherent in 
the operation of any information and internal control system, the 
risk of the non-detection of a material misstatement in the CSR 
Information cannot be completely eliminated.

Conclusion

On the basis of our procedures, we have not identified any material misstatements that might call into question the fact that the CSR 
Information, taken as a whole, is presented in a true and fair manner in accordance with the reporting framework.

Paris La Défense, 25 April 2014

The independent third party organisation

Ernst & Young et Associés

Éric Mugnier Bruno Perrin

Sustainable development partner Partner
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3.1 Governance and control structures

Fleury Michon’s governance focuses on making sure good management practices are in place to ensure long-term development and 
growth, effective human resources and job management and a sustainable future for the Company.

3.1.1 Operation

3.1.1.1 A CLEAR AND OPEN GOVERNANCE SYSTEM

To balance the demands of good management, safety and the 
long-term future of the Company, Fleury Michon’s Board of 
Directors comprises three director categories:

 k Representatives of the core family shareholders (5 of the 11);

 k Independent directors with a diverse range of skills and 
experience (4 of the 11);

 k Directors representing employee shareholders (2 of the 11).

The Board has the following general responsibilities:

 k To examine and approve the Company’s guidelines and ensure 
they are implemented;

 k To appoint the Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief 
Operating Officer, decide their compensation, and the scope 
and term of the Chief Operating Officer’s authority.

Members of the Board of Directors:

 k Grégoire Gonnord, Chairman;

 k Yves Gonnord, Vice-Chairman and Honorary Chairman;

 k Geneviève Gonnord;

 k Hervé Gonnord;

 k Philippe Magdelenat;

 k Philippe Tharaud, independent member;

 k Pierre Jourdain, independent member;

 k Nicolas Le Chatelier, independent member;

 k Nadine Deswasière, independent member;

 k Valéry Bénéteau, employee representative;

 k Bruno Billy, employee representative.

3.1.1.2 BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board of Directors has also set up dedicated committees with 
a view to enhancing its operating methods and assisting with its 
decision-making processes.

The Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Committee helps 
define the CSR policy, determine its objectives and oversee 
its implementation. Its members are: Nadine Deswasière 
(Chairwoman), Geneviève Gonnord and Bruno Billy (director 
representing employees).

The Compensation and Appointments Committee reviews and 
proposes compensation packages for the Company’s corporate 
officers. It makes sure that compensation is appropriate and that 
succession plans are in place for the main senior positions. Its 
members are: Nicolas Le Chatelier (Chairman) and Yves Gonnord.

The Audit and Risks Committee ensures the reliability of financial 
information, oversees compliance with standards, reviews the 
Group’s internal audit plan and internal control systems and 
mapping and manages risks. Its members are: Pierre Jourdain 
(Chairman), Philippe Magdelenat and Hervé Gonnord.

3.1.1.3  ACTIVE AND ENGAGED EXECUTIVE 
MANAGEMENT

Executive Management assists the Board of Directors in preparing 
and monitoring the implementation of strategic policies approved 
by the Board. It does everything possible to ensure that the 
Company is managed with due diligence and to achieve financial 
targets approved by the Board.

Executive Management is backed by the Group Management 
Committee. The Management Committee, chaired by Régis 
Lebrun, holds meetings as often as deemed necessary and at 
least twice a month. Comprised of nine permanent members, as 
well as ad-hoc members who are called in to assist in specific 
matters, the Management committee is responsible for managing 
fundamental key projects.

Members of the Management Committee:

 k Régis Lebrun – Chief Executive Officer of Fleury Michon;

 k Raymond Doizon – Chief Operating Officer;

 k Jean–Louis Roy – Head of Administration and Finance;

 k Gérard Soulard – Chairman of Fleury Michon Logistique and 
Production Manager;

 k Peggy Kerjean – Human Resources Manager;

 k Alex Joannis – Chief Executive Officer, Fleury Michon 
Charcuterie;

 k Gérard Chambet – Chief Executive Officer, Fleury Michon 
Traiteur and Traiteur de la Mer;

 k Jean–Sébastien Tamisier – Head of Research and Innovation 
(from 1 January 2014);

 k Stéphane Lopez – Head of Information Systems;

 k David Garbous – Strategic Marketing Director.
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3.1.2 Information on directorships and similar positions 
in the past five years

3.1.2.1 BOARD OF DIRECTORS

CHAIRMAN

GRÉGOIRE GONNORD

Representative of the core family shareholders.

Directorships held at 31 December 2013 and during the past five years Company

CEO SHCP SAS

MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

YVES GONNORD

Vice-Chairman and Honorary Chairman
Representative of the core family shareholders.

Directorships held at 31 December 2013 and during the past five years Company

Member of the Supervisory Board BÉNETEAU SA

Chairman SHCP SAS

Member of the Supervisory Board BABY GIFT International SAS

Legal Manager SCA de la Brosse

GENEVIÈVE GONNORD

Representative of the core family shareholders
Directorships held at 31 December 2013 and during the past five years

No other directorships or positions in other companies.

HERVÉ GONNORD

Representative of the core family shareholders

Directorships held at 31 December 2013 and during the past five years Company

Chairman GONNORD FINANCES & PARTICIPATIONS SAS
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PIERRE JOURDAIN

Independent director

Directorships at 31 December 2013 Company

Member of the Strategy Committee MERINVEST (SAS)

Member of the Supervisory Board FINANCIÈRE DE L’AVENIR (SAS)

Member of the Supervisory Board FINANCIÈRE CA (SAS)

COO ALOXOISE DE PARTICIPATION (SAS)

Member of the Supervisory Board HOLDING EUROPÉENNE DES DESSERTS (SAS)

Chairman of the Supervisory Board BAG INVEST (SAS)

Board member HG WEBER (Inc.)

Board member DCM GROUP NORTH AMERICA (Inc.)

Directorships held during the past five years

2009 to 2011 Member of the Supervisory Board VITEOLE SAS

Vice-Chairman of the Supervisory Board BRUNET HOLDING SA

Chairman of the Supervisory Board FINANCIÈRE SAVENA (SAS)

2009 to 2013 Vice-Chairman of the Supervisory Board FINANCIÈRE MARTINE SAS

Vice-Chairman of the Supervisory Board EUROPÉENNE DES DESSERTS (SAS)

Member of the Supervisory Board FINANCIÈRE BRETECHE (SAS)

COO ALOXOISE DE PARTICIPATION (SAS)

2010 to 2013 Azulis Capital’s permanent representative on the Board of Directors VMI (SA)

2011 to 2013 Member of the Supervisory Board FINANCIÈRE SUMAYA (SAS)

NICOLAS LE CHATELIER

Independent director
Directorships held at 31 December 2013 and during the past five years
No other directorships or positions in other companies

PHILIPPE MAGDELENAT

Director
Directorships held at 31 December 2013 and during the past five years
No other directorships or positions in other companies

PHILIPPE THARAUD

Independent director

Directorships held at 31 December 2013 and during the past five years Company

Legal Manager SCI VEZIN

NADINE DESWASIÈRE

Independent director

Directorships held at 31 December 2013 and during the past five years Company

Legal Manager ETHICONSEIL (SARL)

Partner BE-LINKED (SARL)
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BRUNO BILLY

Director representing employees

VALÉRY BÉNÉTEAU

Director representing employees

3.1.2.2 EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT

CEO

RÉGIS LEBRUN

Directorships at 31 December 2013 Company

Chairman ROOM SAVEURS (SAS)

Director PIATTI FRESCHI ITALIA (SPA)

Fleury Michon’s permanent representative on the Board of Directors PLATOS TRADICIONALES (SA)

Chairman DELTA DAILYFOOD CANADA (Inc.)

Chairman FLEURY MICHON CANADA (Inc.)

Chairman of the Board of Directors PROCONI (DOO)

Chairman FLEURY MICHON TRAITEUR DE LA MER (SAS)

Board member FLEURY MICHON NORGE (AS)

Directorships held during the past five years

2009-2011 Chairman 123 DÉVELOPPEMENT (SAS)

COO

RAYMOND DOIZON

Directorships at 31 December 2013 Company

Chairman CHARCUTERIES CUISINÉES DE PLÉLAN (SAS)

Chairman FLEURY MICHON CHARCUTERIE (SAS)

Chairman FLEURY MICHON TRAITEUR (SAS)

Chairman SOCIÉTÉ D’INNOVATION CULINAIRE (SAS)

Director PLATOS TRADICIONALES (SA)

Vice Chairman DELTA DAILYFOOD CANADA (Inc.)

Vice Chairman FLEURY MICHON CANADA (Inc.)

Director ECO EMBALLAGES (SA)

Directorships held during the past five years

No other directorships or positions in other companies
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3.1.3 Specific information concerning corporate officers

To the best of the Company’s knowledge, in the last five years 
none of its corporate officers has:

 k Been convicted of any fraudulent offence;

 k Been associated with a company that has been declared 
bankrupt, or placed in liquidation or receivership;

 k Been the subject of any official public incrimination and/or 
sanctions by statutory or regulatory authorities;

 k Been disqualified by a court from acting as a member of the 
administrative or management bodies of an issuer or from 
acting in the management or conduct of the affairs of any 
issuer.

3.1.4 Conflicts of interest within Executive Management 
or the Board of Directors

To the best of the Company’s knowledge and as of the date of 
publication of this document:

 k No conflicts of interest have been identified between the duties 
of the members of the Executive Management and of the 
Board of Directors and their private interests or other duties;

 k No arrangements or agreements have been made with the 
main shareholders, customers or suppliers according to which 
one of the members of the Board was selected based on their 
membership of the Board;

 k No restrictions have been accepted by Executive Management 
or one of the members of the Board of Directors concerning 
the sale of their stake in the Company’s capital.

The Board of Directors has authorised the continuation of a 
services agreement concerning the provision of consulting services 
in the areas of strategy and business development for Fleury 
Michon (contract mentioned under related party agreements). This 
services agreement with SHCP SAS concerns its directors Yves 
Gonnord and Grégoire Gonnord. During 2013, the Group paid a 
total of €689 thousand for services provided (0.1% of revenue for 
the previous year).

3.1.5 Additional information concerning corporate officers

On 25 June 2009, the Group decided to change its governance 
from a Supervisory Board and Management Board to a structure 
with a Board of Directors and Executive Management. Grégoire 
Gonnord was appointed Chairman of the Board.

CHAIRMAN

GRÉGOIRE GONNORD

Representative of the core family shareholders
Son of Yves Gonnord and Geneviève Gonnord

Business address:
Fleury Michon SA, BP 1, 85707 Pouzauges

Start of term: 25 June 2009

Current term expires on: date of the Annual General Meeting held 
in 2015 to approve the financial statements for the financial year 
ending on 31 December 2014

MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

YVES GONNORD

Representative of the core family shareholders
Vice-Chairman and Honorary Chairman
Member of the Compensation and Appointments Committee

Business address:
Fleury Michon SA, BP 1, 85707 Pouzauges

Start of term: 25 June 2009

Current term expires on: date of the Annual General Meeting held 
in 2016 to approve the financial statements for the financial year 
ending on 31 December 2015

GENEVIÈVE GONNORD

Representative of the core family shareholders
Spouse of Yves Gonnord

Business address:
Fleury Michon SA, BP 1, 85707 Pouzauges

Start of term: 25 June 2009

Current term expires on: date of the Annual General Meeting held 
in 2014 to approve the financial statements for the financial year 
ending on 31 December 2013
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HERVÉ GONNORD

Representative of the core family shareholders
Son of Yves Gonnord and Geneviève Gonnord

Business address:
Fleury Michon SA, BP 1, 85707 Pouzauges

Start of term: 31 May 2012

Current term expires on: date of the Annual General Meeting held 
in 2015 to approve the financial statements for the financial year 
ending on 31 December 2014

PIERRE JOURDAIN

Independent director
Chairman of the Audit and Risks Committee

Business address:
AZULIS
21 boulevard de la Madeleine,75001 Paris

Professional expertise
Agri-foods sector
Corporate strategy and finance
Investment capital and finance

Experience

Food and Wines From France (SOPEXA) New York
Agriculture Ministry - Food Directorate General
Banexi then Azulis Capital since 2000 (formerly Banexi Capital 
Partenaire) - Associate Director Investment Capital

Start of term: 25 June 2009

Current term expires on: date of the Annual General Meeting held 
in 2015 to approve the financial statements for the financial year 
ending on 31 December 2014

NICOLAS LE CHATELIER

Independent director
Chairman of the Compensation and Appointments Committee

Business address:
Fleury Michon SA, BP 1, 85707 Pouzauges

Professional expertise
Mergers & acquisitions
International sales & marketing
Strategy, restructuring and human resources management

Experience:
Procter & Gamble - Brand Manager
Yoplait France - Chief Executive Officer
Chairman of the fresh dairy products trade federation (Syndicat 
Professionnel des Produits Laitiers Frais)
Sodiaal - Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Entremont Group - Chairman of the Executive Board
Chairman of the cheese trade federation (Syndicat Professionnel 
des Fromages)

Start of term: 25 June 2009

Current term expires on: date of the Annual General Meeting held 
in 2016 to approve the financial statements for the financial year 
ending on 31 December 2015

PHILIPPE MAGDELENAT

Director
Member of the Audit and Risks Committee

Business address:
Fleury Michon SA, BP1, 85707 Pouzauges

Professional expertise
Strategy and marketing
Company assessment, turnaround and restructuring

Experience:
Rosières SA - Managing Director, Plants
Tiffon - Chief Executive Officer
Sarl Cohergence - Manager (strategy and development 
management consultant)
Fleury Michon Traiteur - Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
SV&GM (Consultancy arm of Salustro-Reydel) - Director, Analysis 
and Restructuring
Avenir Conseil Entreprises (mergers and acquisitions consulting) - 
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Professionnal Air Service - Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Start of term: 25 June 2009

Current term expires on: date of the Annual General Meeting held 
in 2014 to approve the financial statements for the financial year 
ending on 31 December 2013

PHILIPPE THARAUD

Independent director
Member of the Strategy Committee

Business address:
Fleury Michon SA, BP1, 85707 Pouzauges

Professional expertise:
Finance, Management, Consultant Engineer
Distribution

Experience:
Union de Brasserie - Executive Vice President
Casino - Corporate Secretary
Thomson Grand Public - Chief Financial Officer
Findis SAS - Chairman

Start of term: 25 June 2009

Current term expires on: date of the Annual General Meeting held 
in 2016 to approve the financial statements for the financial year 
ending on 31 December 2015
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NADINE DESWASIÈRE

Independent director
Member of the Strategy Committee

Business address:
ETHICONSEIL, 20 rue Cail, 75010 Paris

Professional expertise:
Marketing & Innovation
Corporate social responsibility
Management and international development

Experience:
Nestlé France - Chief Executive Officer
Ethiconseil - Manager
Be-linked - Co-founder
Speaker at ENA, HEC Executive, Institut Catholique de Paris and 
Institut Français des Administrateurs

Start of term: 25 June 2009

Current term expires on: date of the Annual General Meeting held 
in 2014 to approve the financial statements for the financial year 
ending on 31 December 2013

BRUNO BILLY

Director representing employees

Business address:
Fleury Michon, BP – 1, 85707 Pouzauges

Start of term: 25 June 2009

Current term expires on: date of the Annual General Meeting held 
in 2016 to approve the financial statements for the financial year 
ending on 31 December 2015

VALÉRY BÉNÉTEAU

Director representing employees

Business address:
Fleury Michon, BP – 1, 85707 Pouzauges

Start of term: 20 May 2010

Current term expires on: date of the Annual General Meeting held 
in 2015 to approve the financial statements for the financial year 
ending on 31 December 2014

CHANGE TO THE COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD 
PUT FORWARD TO THE ANNUAL GENERAL 
MEETING OF 28 MAY 2014
Proposal to renew the terms of office of the following directors for 
a three-year period expiring on the date of the Ordinary Annual 
General Meeting called in 2017 to approve the financial statements 
for the financial year ending on 31 December 2016:

 k Geneviève Gonnord;

 k Nadine Deswasière;

 k Philippe Magdelenat.

Proposal to appoint Christine Mondollot as a director for a three-
year period expiring on the date of the Annual General Meeting 
called in 2017 to approve the financial statements for the financial 
year ending on 31 December 2016.

CHRISTINE MONDOLLOT

Independent director
Appointment proposed at AGM of 28 May 2014

Business address:
N/A

Professional expertise:
Supermarket sector
Corporate strategy and marketing
International (emerging countries: China, Indonesia, Middle East, 
etc.)

Experience:
Virgin Group - Chairwoman of the Management Board
Galeries Lafayette Group - International Director
BHV - General Manager
Kodak France - CEO of Kodak laboratories and Executive Director 
of the Consumer Products division.
Saresco Groupe Hachette - deputy Executive Director
Groupe Pernod Ricard - Marketing Vice-President, Sales Director 
and member of the Management Committee
Procter & Gamble France – marketing
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3.2 Shareholdings and compensation

3.2.1 Compensation and benefits

The compensation paid to directors and corporate officers is 
determined by the Compensation and Appointments Committee. 
The variable elements of the compensation package are based on 
the performance of the Group and its subsidiaries, notably growth 
in revenue, operating result and net profit/(loss).

The following information about corporate officers is disclosed in 
compliance with Article L. 225-102-1 of the French Commercial 
Code. Basic and variable compensation and benefits due during 
the year to corporate officers of the Company and its subsidiaries 
totalled €806 thousand.

The Fleury Michon Group states that corporate officers are not 
entitled to any specific exit package should they change or leave 
their positions.

Moreover, during the financial year and in an effort to boost 
employee shareholding, based on a decision of the General 
Meeting of 11 February 2013, the Board of Directors decided, 
at its meeting on 25 February 2013, to award free shares and 
performance shares to Group employees and offer subscription 
or purchase warrants to employee members of Management. The 
award plan is described in Section 3.2.5.

SUMMARY OF GROSS COMPENSATION, STOCK OPTIONS AND SHARES AWARDED TO EACH CORPORATE OFFICER

In € thousands At 31 December 2013 At 31 December 2012

Grégoire Gonnord

Chairman

Compensation due for the period 160.7 160.6

Value of multi-year compensation - -

Value of options awarded - -

Value of free shares awarded - -

SUB-TOTAL 160.7 160.6

Régis Lebrun

CEO

Compensation due for the period 322.5 333.3

Value of multi-year compensation - -

Value of options awarded - -

Value of free shares awarded - -

SUB-TOTAL 322.5 333.3

Raymond Doizon

COO

Compensation due for the period 322.5 333.3

Value of multi-year compensation - -

Value of options awarded - -

Value of free shares awarded - -

SUB-TOTAL 322.5 333.3

TOTAL 806 827
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SUMMARY OF GROSS COMPENSATION PAID TO EACH CORPORATE OFFICER

In € thousands

31 December 2013 31 December 2012

Amounts due Amounts paid Amounts due Amounts paid

Grégoire Gonnord

Chairman

Salary 155.1 155.1 152.5 152.5

Bonus - - - -

Exceptional compensation - - - -

Attendance fees 5.6 8.1 8.1 -

Benefits in kind: company car - - - -

SUB-TOTAL 160.7 163.2 160.6 152.5

Régis Lebrun

CEO

Salary 267.0 267.0 262.5 262.5

Bonus 50.1 50.1 65.6 65.6

Exceptional compensation - - - -

Attendance fees - - - -

Benefits in kind: company car 5.4 5.4 5.2 5.2

SUB-TOTAL 322.5 322.5 333.3 333.3

Raymond Doizon

COO

Salary 267.0 267.0 262.5 262.5

Bonus 50.1 50.1 65.6 65.6

Exceptional compensation - - - -

Attendance fees - - - -

Benefits in kind: company car 5.4 5.4 5.2 5.2

SUB-TOTAL 322.5 322.5 333.3 333.3

TOTAL 806 808 827 819

3.2.2 Trading in the Company’s shares by management

Corporate officers and related parties carried out the following transactions concerning Fleury Michon shares in 2013 (information is 
provided in accordance with Article L. 621-18-2 of the French Monetary and Financial Code and the AMF’s General Regulations).

Name Type of transaction Date Number of shares Amount

Régis Lebrun Purchase March 2013 5,100 €102,000

Raymond Doizon Purchase December 2013 4,620 €92,240
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3.2.3 Attendance fees

The members of the Board of Directors receive fees for attendance at meetings. The amount of these fees is determined each year by 
the Annual General Meeting.

Attendance fees received by corporate officers(1)
2013

amounts due(2)
2012

amounts due(2)
2011

amounts due(2)

Grégoire Gonnord 5.6 8.1 7.4

Yves Gonnord 4.1 6.5 6.5

Geneviève Gonnord 2.6 - -

Hervé Gonnord 5.6 6.1 -

Philippe Magdelenat 11.0 12.0 12.9

Philippe Tharaud 12.5 9.1 7.5

Pierre Jourdain 15.5 16.1 13.9

Didier Pineau Valencienne - - 9.0

Nicolas Le Chatelier 15.5 15.1 13.9

Nadine Deswasière 15.5 13.1 12.9

Valéry Bénéteau - employee representative - - -

Bruno Billy - employee representative - - -

SUB-TOTAL 88 86 84

(1) No further compensation was paid to corporate officers.
(2) Attendance fees due for the period.

At the Annual General Meeting, the Board of Directors will ask shareholders to set at €218,000 the total attendance fees payable to 
members of the Board of Directors in respect of 2014. This amount is below the ceiling set by law.



2013 Registration Document -84

CorPorate governanCe3 Shareholdings and compensation

3.2.4 Benefits paid to corporate officers

Directors and corporate officers

Employment 
contract(1)

Supplementary 
pension plan(2)

Compensation or 
benefits due or that may 
be due on termination or 

change in position

Compensation relative 
to a non-compete 

clause(4)

Yes No Yes No Yes No Yes No

Grégoire Gonnord

Chairman X X X X

Start of term(3)

Current term expires on(3)

Régis Lebrun

CEO X X X X

Start of term(3)

Current term expires on(3)

Raymond Doizon

COO X X X X

Start of term(3)

Current term expires on(3)

(1) Employment contracts pre-date their appointment as corporate officers and cover a separate position. These contracts are maintained on account of corporate officers’ experience 
and seniority in the Group.

(2) The Group has a supplementary defined-benefit pension plan for management (Article 83 of contract). The contribution paid by the employer and recognised by the issuer is 
4.2% of gross compensation, paid to the benefit of the corporate officer.

(3) Corporate officers are appointed for a three-year period expiring on the date of the Annual General Meeting called in 2015 to approve the financial statements for the financial 
year ending on 31 December 2014.

(4) 12-month non-compete clause from the date of termination of the employment contract, applicable in France and extended to the countries in which Fleury Michon operates, 
covering its prepared meals business (prepared meals, charcuterie and prepared seafood). In return, a payment equal to 20% of the average gross salary for the past 12 months 
(excluding target-based bonuses) will be made.

3.2.5 Awards of capital securities and share purchase or subscription options

The Board of Directors decided, at its meeting on 25 February, 
to award free shares, performance shares and subscription or 
purchase warrants to employees and corporate officers. The share 
award plan is summarised below:

1 DECISION TO AWARD FREE SHARES UNDER 
THE FOLLOWING CONDITIONS.

The number of free shares awarded is 30 per employee. The 
beneficiary employees must work for Group companies whose 
registered offices are located in France, have completed a 
minimum length of service of three months and have worked 
without interruption within one or more of these companies 
during the vesting period. The Board of Directors decided 
that these free shares would not be effective until after a four-
year vesting period, beginning 25 February 2013 and ending 
25 February 2017. The Board of Directors decided not to 
set any holding period for the free shares at the end of the 
vesting period. They will therefore be available immediately. 
Furthermore, the free shares awarded at the end of the vesting 

period will be existing shares held in treasury by the Company, 
allocated or eligible to be allocated for this purpose;

2 DECISION TO AWARD SHARES SUBJECT 
TO PERFORMANCE REQUIREMENTS.

Plan 1: The maximum number of distributable free shares 
subject to performance requirements is 240 per beneficiary. 
The Board of Directors decided that the beneficiaries must 
be members of the Management Committee of the various 
Group companies whose registered offices are located in 
France, and Group directors who have completed a minimum 
length of service of three months and have worked without 
interruption within one or more of these companies during 
the vesting period. The free shares subject to full or partial 
fulfilment of performance criteria will be effectively delivered 
and vested at the end of a four-year +125 day vesting period, 
ending 30 June 2017. The award of shares is subject to the 
attainment of two performance criteria, for each financial year 
during the vesting period:
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HISTORY OF AWARDS OF SHARE SUBSCRIPTION AND PURCHASE OPTIONS

Information on redeemable subscription and/or purchase warrants (BSAARs).

Date of Annual General Meeting 11 February 2013

Date of Board meeting 25 February 2013

Total number of shares that may be subscribed or purchased 118,800

Date from which options may be exercised 22/03/2016

Expiry date 22/03/2020

Subscription or purchase price €47.58

Exercise terms

non-transferable  
and non-exercisable from 

22 March 2013 to 22 March 2016

Total number of share subscription or purchase options cancelled or declared null and void 57,589

Share subscription or purchase options remaining at the end of the financial year 61,211

of which number subscribed or purchased by

Régis Lebrun 10,638

CEO

Raymond Doizon 10,800

COO

Fleury Michon believes that tables 4, 5, 7, 9 and 10 of the AMF recommendation on compensation of corporate officers of 20 December 2008, 
updated on 17 December 2013, does not apply to the Group.

 ● One financial criterion consisting of the current operating 
margin being attained for the companies referred to above;

 ● One non-financial criterion relating to the holding of 
meetings with the purpose of discussing topics regarding 
the life of the Company with all employees.

The attainment of targets will be assessed independently at the 
end of each financial year by the Board of Directors’ meeting 
held after the Ordinary Annual General Meeting. Furthermore, 
the free shares awarded pursuant to this decision at the end of 
the vesting period will be existing shares held in treasury by the 
Company, allocated or eligible to be allocated for this purpose;

3 ISSUE OF REDEEMABLE SUBSCRIPTION 
AND/ OR PURCHASE WARRANTS (BSAARS).

The Board of Directors decided to issue a maximum of 
118,800 BSAARs granting the subscribers named by the 
Extraordinary General Meeting of 11 February 2013 the right to 

purchase or subscribe Fleury Michon shares. Each beneficiary 
may subscribe a minimum of 1,800 BSAARs and a maximum 
of 10,800 BSAARs. 61,211 BSAARs were issued exclusively 
to certain employees of the Group on 22 March 2013, at the 
price of €2.82. These BSAARs are non-transferable and non-
exercisable for three years, i.e. until 26 March 2016. They will 
be admitted for trading on the Euronext Paris exchange on 
23 March 2016. Each BSAAR will allow its holder to purchase 
or subscribe, at the issuer’s discretion, an existing or new 
Fleury Michon share at a price of €47.58, which represents 
110% of the average closing price of the Company’s share 
over the 20 trading days preceding 22 February 2013. The 
BSAARs may be exercised beginning on the date they are 
listed on the Euronext Paris market, i.e. 26 March 2016, until 
22 March 2020.

No free performance shares were awarded during the 2013 
financial year. Tables 6 and 8 of the AMF recommendation, below, 
summarise the compensation awarded to corporate officers.

SHARE AWARD SUMMARY TABLE

Free performance shares awarded to each corporate officer

Performance shares awarded by the 
Annual General Shareholders’ Meeting 
during the financial year to each 
corporate officer by the issuer

Plan no.  
and date

Number 
of shares 
awarded 

during 
the period

Value of shares 
according to  

the method used for  
the consolidated 

financial statements

Acquisition 
date

Availability 
date

Performance 
conditions(1)

Régis Lebrun no. 1 none

CEO 25/02/2013

Raymond Doizon no. 1 none

COO 25/02/2013

(1) The award of performance shares depends on one financial criterion (operating profitability expressed as a % of revenue and obtained at each financial year-end following the 
award date) and one non-financial criterion.
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3.3 Report of the Chairman of the Board 
of Directors
on the operations of the Board of Directors during 
the year ended 31 December 2012 and internal control 
and risk management procedures

3.3.1 Conditions related to the preparation and organisation of the work 
of the Board of Directors

3.3.1.1 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURES

The Fleury Michon Group is administered by a Board of Directors.

The Board of Directors comprises 11 members, including the 
Chairman, Grégoire Gonnord, and four independent directors. 
A Board member is deemed to be independent when he or she 
has no relationship of any kind with the Company, its Group or 
management that is such as to influence his or her freedom of 
judgement. The directors are independent within the meaning 
of recommendation R8 of the MiddleNext Code, given that the 
following criteria are all met:

 k No family ties;

 k No directorships or employment contracts with the Company 
or a Group company for at least three years;

 k No contractual financial relationship (customer, supplier, bank);

 k No equity-based relationship (non-core shareholder of the 
Company).

Section 3, “Corporate governance”, of the annual financial report 
provides information on directors’ professional experience and 
expertise (recommendation R9).

In addition, two representatives of employee shareholders are 
appointed to sit on the Board of Directors by the Supervisory 

Board of the “Fleury Michon Actionnariat” corporate mutual fund 
that holds shares in the Company.

To ensure full compliance with recommendation R10 of the 
MiddleNext Code, at the Annual General Meeting of 13 June 2013, 
the Board re-elected, for the second time, one-third of the 
directors, whose terms of office were for two years (considered 
to be too short). The term of office proposed for the renewed 
appointments was set at three years.

Members of the Board of Directors:

 k Grégoire Gonnord: Chairman of the Board, elected for a three-
year term;

 k Yves Gonnord: Vice-Chairman and Honorary Chairman of the 
Board of Directors, elected for a three-year term (formerly 
two years);

 k Geneviève Gonnord: Member of the Board, elected for a three-
year term;

 k Hervé Gonnord: Member of the Board, elected for a three-
year term;

 k Philippe Magdelenat: Member of the Board, elected for a 
three-year term;

 k Philippe Tharaud: Independent member of the Board, elected 
for a three-year term (formerly two years);

To the shareholders,

In accordance with Article 117 of the Financial Security Act of 1 August 2003 and the provisions of Article L. 225-37 of the French 
Commercial Code, I report below, in my capacity as Chairman of the Board of Directors, on the conditions related to the preparation 
and organisation of the work of the Board of Directors and the Company’s internal control and risk management procedures.

In accordance with the provisions of the Act of 3 July 2008 requiring companies to identify the code of corporate governance used 
as a reference, Fleury Michon specifies that it refers to the MiddleNext code of corporate governance for small and mid-sized listed 
companies issued on 17 December 2009 (www.middlenext.com).

The Fleury Michon Group applies all recommendations of the MiddleNext Code and provides detailed explanations with respect 
to the 15 recommendations in this report. We inform shareholders that the Board of Directors has acknowledged the points for 
attention stated in this code.

This report was approved by the Board of Directors on 11 April 2014.
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 k Pierre Jourdain: Independent member of the Board, elected 
for a three-year term;

 k Nicolas Le Chatelier: Independent member of the Board, 
elected for a three-year term (formerly two years);

 k Nadine Deswasière: Independent member of the Board, 
elected for a three-year term;

 k Valéry Bénéteau: Member of the Board representing employee 
shareholders, elected for a three-year term;

 k Bruno Billy: Member of the Board representing employee 
shareholders, elected for a three-year term (formerly two 
years).

Balanced representation of women and men on the 
Board of Directors

In accordance with the French Commercial Code and the Act of 
27 January 2011 concerning gender equality and the balanced 
representation of women and men on Boards of Directors and 
Supervisory Boards, listed companies in France will be required 
to have at least 20% of their board seats filled by women as from 
2014 and at least 40% as from 2017. Fleury Michon takes note of 
this objective and intends to take the necessary action to achieve 
compliance according to the schedule above.

Roles and responsibilities of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors’ roles and responsibilities are defined in 
accordance with Article 225–35 of the French Commercial Code.

The Board of Directors:

 k Appoints and terminates the appointment of the Chairman, 
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operating Officers. 
Determines the amount of compensation and the scope and 
duration of the authorisations granted to the Chief Operating 
Officers;

 k The Chief Executive Officer is required to provide each Director 
with all documents and information necessary to carry out his 
or her duties.

 k Examines and approves the direction of the Company’s 
activities and oversees the application thereof. Deals with all 
matters relating to the efficient running of the Company, and 
debates and decides on issues affecting it. Carries out the 
checks and audits that it deems appropriate;

 kMore specifically, examines and approves the plans 
implemented in relation to the Company’s main risks, and 
the internal control plans. Regularly monitors the activity and 
performance of the Company and ensures transparency in 
reporting. Establishes and controls the limits to corporate 
officers’ powers.

Operation of the Board of Directors

Board meetings are called by the Chairman who leads the 
discussions. The Board members are notified by all means, 
including verbally. The decisions of the Board shall only be valid if 
half of the members are present; decisions are taken by a majority 
of directors present or represented, including via videoconference, 

the Chairman having a casting vote in the case of a tie. The 
meeting agendas are set by the Chairman on his own initiative or 
on the recommendation of the Chief Executive Officer. All items 
on the agenda are documented in writing. Documents are sent 
to Board members by post or email several days prior to the 
date of the meeting, giving them the opportunity to prepare for 
the meeting and to request additional information or explanations 
(recommendation R11). The Board votes to approve its operating 
budget on an annual basis, and this budget is separate from the 
attendance fees paid to directors.

Rules of Procedure govern the working of the Board of Directors, 
in accordance with recommendation R6 of the MiddleNext Code. 
Several modifications and specifications were applied to the rules 
at the Board meeting of 14 June 2013. The Rules of Procedure:

 k Specify the terms for the working of the Board, management, 
relations with shareholders and the fundamental values 
applicable to all the Group’s subsidiaries;

 k Ensure that the Company’s long-term strategy is complied with 
and that the interests of shareholders are protected, based on 
the work of specialist committees;

 k Also specify the directors’ duties and the qualities expected 
of them;

 k Provide for the appropriate composition of the Board and 
the breakdown between directors, family shareholders, 
independent directors and employee representatives.

The essential extracts from the rules are included in this report, 
which is made public every year and made available on the 
Company’s website.

In accordance with recommendation R15 of the MiddleNext Code, 
once a year, the Chairman of the Board calls on the directors to 
give their opinion on the working of the Board and the preparation 
of its work.

Board of Directors’ meetings in 2013

The Board of Directors met six times in 2013, in accordance with 
Recommendation R13 of the Code, which calls for at least four 
meetings each year. The average attendance rate was 87%.

Board members are awarded attendance fees, the aggregate 
amount of which is submitted to shareholders for approval at 
each Annual General Meeting. The attendance fees are divided 
on the basis of each member’s attendance at the various Board 
meetings and their participation in dedicated committees, as 
specified in Recommendation R14 of the MiddleNext code. See 
Section 3 “Corporate Governance” of the Annual Financial Report 
for information on attendance fees paid.

Executive Management

The Chairman sets the Group’s strategic direction and 
delegates implementation to the Chief Executive Officer, who 
has the broadest powers to act in the Company’s name in all 
circumstances, within the limits set by the Articles of Association 
and the Group’s corporate governance charter. The Executive 
Management team thus comprises the Chief Executive Officer 
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and the Chief Operating Officer, who is responsible for overseeing 
the consistency of the subsidiaries’ operations and efficient cross-
functional relations among the various Group entities. He also 
leads the Management Committee.

Group Management Committee

The Management Committee is made up of the members of 
Executive Management, the CEOs of the Charcuterie, Prepared 
Meals and Prepared Seafood business divisions, the Senior 
Vice-President, Administration and Finance, the Head of Human 
Resources, the Strategic Marketing Director, the Research and 
Innovation Director, the Production and Supply Chain Manager and 
the Head of Information Systems. The Committee is responsible 
for backing operating management and business and performance 
reviews with its expertise and support. It also ensures that Group 
revenues and expenditures are in line with the budget and that 
corrective action is implemented where necessary.

The organisation is designed to:

 k Allow the Group to be more effective in the increasingly 
competitive French Supermarket sector;

 k Develop synergy among the subsidiaries;

 k Ensure a cross-Group view in the strategic businesses.

The Board of Directors has also set up dedicated committees with 
a view to enhancing its operating methods and assisting with its 
decision-making processes, in line with Recommendation R12 of 
the MiddleNext code. Moreover, there is a Strategy Committee, 
which is part of the holding company SHCP.

3.3.1.1.1 Compensation and Appointments 
Committee

The roles and responsibilities of the two-member Compensation 
and Appointments Committee are to:

 k Provide the Board with comments and/or recommendations 
regarding the principles and terms and conditions of 
compensation paid to the Group’s corporate officers and 
senior managers; and ensure that compensation packages 
reflect the performance of the Group;

 k Request from the CEO and Human Resources Manager 
any and all information on the level and structure of the 
compensation paid to the Group’s senior managers; the 
committee checks that this compensation is justified, 
consistent and competitive. Ensure that the Chief Executive 
Officer attracts and manages and retains the Company’s best 
talent appropriately;

 k Examine and put forward profiles of new directors and 
members of the Executive Management team; and ensure 
that individuals with high potential are identified by the 
management;

 k Commission specific studies or call on the assistance of 
outside consultants, as deemed necessary.

The permanent members are:

 k Nicolas Le Chatelier, Chairman;

 k Yves Gonnord, member.

The Compensation and Appointments Committee met twice in 
2013.

The Committee follows Recommendations R1 to R5 of the 
MiddleNext Code concerning the compensation of corporate 
officers of listed companies, and considers that its compensation 
packages are aligned with the Company’s corporate governance 
approach. The required information is specified in the Annual 
Financial Report, Section 3.2 “Shareholdings and compensation” 
in accordance with the presentation methodology recommended 
by the AMF.

R1 Concurrent employment contract: the employment contracts 
of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Operations Officer 
pre-date their appointment as corporate officers and cover a 
separate position. These contracts are maintained on account 
of the corporate officers’ experience and seniority in the Group.

R2 Definition and transparency of the compensation of 
corporate officers: compensation of the Company’s corporate 
officers complies with the recommendations of the MiddleNext 
Code. Accordingly, in accordance with the principles of the Code, 
the method for determining compensation is exhaustive, balanced, 
benchmarked, consistent, clear, measured and transparent. The 
amounts are detailed in the Annual Financial Report and the 
Registration Document.

R3 Severance pay: no compensation is paid to corporate officers 
on termination or change in their position. Régis Lebrun is the 
beneficiary of a 12-month non-compete clause included in his 
initial employment contract.

R4 Supplementary pension schemes: the Group has a defined-
benefit supplementary pension plan (Article 83) for its directors and 
corporate officers. It complies with the Code’s recommendation.

R5 Stock options and free shares: there are no stock option 
plans for Company employees and directors. As part of its policy 
aimed at motivating and compensating employees and directors, 
in February 2013 the Company took the following three decisions:

 k Award approximately 100,000 free shares (30 shares per 
beneficiary, subject to seniority criteria), with the goal of sharing 
the Group’s success with employees and thus encouraging 
a long-term outlook;

 k To award performance shares (subject to performance targets 
approved by the Board in line with the Company’s mid- and 
long-term interests) to certain employees and directors (240 
shares per beneficiary);

 k To offer members of the Group Management Committee 
the option of subscribing redeemable subscription and/or 
purchase warrants (BSAARs). The Executive Management 
team, having noted the subscription choices received by the 
members of the Group Management Committee and acting 
as the sub-delegate of the Board of Directors’ meeting of 
25 February 2013, issued 61,211 redeemable subscription 
and/or purchase warrants (BSAARs).
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3.3.1.1.2 Audit and Risks Committee

The roles and responsibilities of the three-member Audit and Risks 
Committee are to:

 k Ensure that the Group’s financial information is reliable, that it 
complies with the applicable accounting standards and that 
accounting policies are applied consistently from one period 
to the next;

 k Review the financial statements submitted to the Board of 
Directors, as well as the assessments and accounting choices 
made;

 k Review the internal audit plan and the Group’s internal control 
systems and assess their quality in relation to the issues faced 
by the Group;

 k Ensure the independence and objectivity of the Statutory 
Auditors;

 k Ensure that the Company’s practices comply with regulations 
of all types (food-related, etc.);

 k Commission specific studies or call on the assistance of 
outside consultants and/or auditors, as deemed necessary.

The permanent members are:

 k Pierre Jourdain, Chairman;

 k Philippe Magdelenat, member;

 k Hervé Gonnord, member (new member in 2013).

These members were chosen for their knowledge of the agri-foods 
sector and their additional experience and skills. Pierre Jourdain 
was appointed Chairman, owing to his specific competencies in 
the field of finance.

The Audit and Risks Committee met three times in 2013. 
During these meetings, the members interviewed the Group’s 
Chief Operating Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Audit and 
Consolidation Manager. In addition, the Statutory Auditors reported 
to the committee during the meetings devoted to examining the 
financial statements.

During the year, the Committee:

 kMade a detailed examination of the 2012 annual financial 
statements, the 2013 interim financial statements, the analysis 
of the IFRSs applicable in 2013 or applied early, the scope 
of the work of the auditors on the consolidated financial 
statements and the separate financial statements, and the 
conclusions and recommendations concerning internal 
control;

 k Examined the Group’s financial reporting (Registration 
Document), food safety and the risk of fraud;

 kMonitored the Group’s safety and risks and contingencies 
management policy.

3.3.1.1.3 Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) 
Committee

The roles and responsibilities of the three-member Corporate 
Social Responsibility Committee, created in 2013, are to:

 k Help define the Corporate Social Responsibility policy and 
determine the CSR focus areas and objectives in conjunction 
with the management;

 kMonitor the implementation and attainment of objectives;

 kWork with the management to define the communication 
strategies aimed at promoting the CSR programme;

 k Commission specific studies or call on the assistance of 
outside consultants, as deemed necessary.

The Compensation and Appointments Committee met twice in 
2013.

The permanent members are:

 k Nadine Deswasière, Chairwoman;

 k Geneviève Gonnord, Member;

 k Bruno Billy, Member (Director representing employees).

3.3.1.2 ACTIVITIES DURING 2013

The Board of Directors met six times in 2013 - on 25 February, 
4 April, 14 June, 29 August, 30 October and 8 December 2013 - 
notably to review the documents related to the prior year’s annual 
financial statements, the interim financial statements, business 
forecasts and the strategic direction.

In accordance with Recommendation R11 of the MiddleNext code, 
all of the members of the Board and all representatives of the 
Works Council invited to attend Board meetings were sent within 
the legally-prescribed timeframe all the documents and information 
required to fulfil their duties.

The Statutory Auditors attended the Board meetings during which 
the annual and interim financial statements were reviewed.

3.3.1.3 OTHER INFORMATION

Information on the shareholder base and items that could have 
an impact in the event of a public tender offer is disclosed in 
Chapter 7 “Information on the Company and its capital” of the 
2013 Annual Financial Report, as required by Article L. 225-100-3 
of the French Commercial Code.

The procedures for participating in General Meetings, as described 
in the Articles of Association, are as follows:

 k The procedures for calling Annual General Meetings are 
governed by French law. Annual General Meetings are held 
at the head office or any other address provided in the call 
to meeting;

 k Holders of registered shares may attend on presentation of 
proof of their identity, provided that their shares have been 
entered in the Company’s share register at least three days 
prior to the meeting. Holders of bearer shares must present 
a certificate from their custodian stating that the shares have 
been placed in a blocked account until the close of the General 
Meeting.

The procedures for holding General Meetings are governed by 
French law.
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3.3.2 Internal control and risk management procedures

The report on internal control and risk management procedures is 
based on the recommendations set out in the Application Guide 
for the Reference Framework issued by the AMF applicable to 
Small and Mid Caps.

3.3.2.1 INTERNAL CONTROL PARTICIPANTS 
AND OBJECTIVES

Internal control is a process carried out by the Board of Directors, 
Executive Management and staff to provide reasonable assurance 
- and not an absolute guarantee - that the following objectives 
will be achieved:

 k Ensure that the Group’s accounting and financial information 
is reliable and fairly stated;

 k Establish, enhance and maintain an organisational structure 
designed to prevent and/or manage the exposure of the 
Company and its subsidiaries to food, business, financial, 
legal and other risks;

 k Guarantee compliance with applicable laws and regulations;

 k Protect assets.

The internal audit unit is part of the Finance Department and 
reports to the Management Committee and the Audit and Risks 
Committee. Drawing on an approach based on risk identification 
and assessment, the internal audit unit is responsible for (i) 
orchestrating the Group’s internal control procedures and assessing 
whether they are effective and appropriate, (ii) communicating 
best practices and encouraging constant improvement in this 
area, and (iii) ensuring that Fleury Michon meets the internal 
control objectives described above. The internal audit unit is also 
responsible for harmonising accounting procedures and making 
sure they are applied consistently throughout the Group so that 
Fleury Michon’s financial information is completely accurate.

3.3.2.2 RISK MANAGEMENT

The main objectives associated with the risk management 
processes are:

 k To create and preserve the value, assets and reputation of 
the Company;

 k To mobilise the Company’s employees around a shared vision 
of the main risks and strive to ensure that the actions are 
consistent with the Group’s values.

The safety policy implemented is thus comprised of four focus 
areas: the safety of people, the protection of the food chain, the 
safeguarding of assets and the prevention of psychosocial risks.

The main risks facing the Group are described in Section 1.6 Risk 
Factors, of the Annual Financial Report.

3.3.2.3 INTERNAL CONTROL ORGANISATION 
AND PROCEDURES

The Group’s decision-making structure is organised around 
its strategic axes by way of three operating segments: French 
Supermarkets, International and Services (included in the other 
segments). Internal control procedures are based on the following 
principles:

 k The Group is organised into business units that reflect its 
growth paths and strategic objectives. This matrix organisation 
defines the missions, powers and delegated powers of the 
cross-functional departments and strategic business units;

 k The budget control process comprises three stages:

 ● a three-year growth plan is drawn up annually for each 
business unit,

 ● an annual budget forecast is established and the estimates 
are revised during the year,

 ● performance is tracked in monthly reporting that allows 
Management to monitor each business unit and compare 
results to targets;

 k A quality management system is deployed internally to cover all 
key processes, including raw material purchases, investments, 
production, quality, marketing, sales and logistics. The system 
is assessed on an annual basis in connection with Fleury 
Michon’s ISO 9001:2000 and IFS certifications and internal 
audits. The system’s procedures and instructions define 
methods, responsibilities and mandatory verifications;

 k The principal operating subsidiaries share an information 
system that covers accounting and financial management, 
sales management, production management and human 
resources management. A users’ charter ensures effective 
administration of the IT environment.
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3.3.2.4 PROCEDURES RELATING TO 
THE PREPARATION AND PROCESSING 
OF ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL 
INFORMATION

The accounting and finance function is managed by a centralised 
team at corporate headquarters that implements the accounting 
methods and procedures for all of the Group’s companies. 
Procedures for preparing and processing accounting and financial 
information are based on the following general principles:

 k Segregation of tasks;

 k Budget control in each subsidiary;

 k Uniform financial reporting of business and financial results 
on a regular basis;

 k A monthly performance analysis by the Group Management 
Committee.

The Group prepares six-month and annual consolidated financial 
statements on 30 June and 31 December of each year. Group 
companies receive a detailed schedule so that they can provide 
quarterly sales figures and interim and annual financial data within 
a reasonable timeframe.

Accounting and financial data are consolidated by a dedicated unit 
in the Finance Department to ensure that the consolidated figures 
are uniform and consistent. The consolidated financial statements 
are prepared from data provided in reporting packages and from 
the original accounting balances and financial statements.

The consolidation process-which is set out in a specific 
consolidation manual-ensures that data are prepared in 
compliance with applicable standards, that the accounts are 
comparable, and that the necessary information is provided on 
complex transactions.

Lastly, the Chief Financial Officer or members of his team make 
trips to the non-centralised subsidiaries to support the process 
and the Statutory Auditors verify the Group’s accounting and 
financial information when they review the interim and annual 
financial statements.

During the financial year and as part of the phased roll-out of an 
ERP solution (staged roll-out for companies in France scope); the 
Canadian subsidiary has also adopted the Group’s I.T. system for 
the Finance module.

3.3.2.5 ASSESSMENT OF INTERNAL CONTROL 
PROCEDURES

The internal control organisation, based on the centralisation of 
controls, on the preparation and processing of accounting and 
financial information for all the subsidiaries, and on tight control 
over cash flows, provides reasonable assurance that the following 
objectives are met:

 k Completion and optimisation of transactions;

 k Reliability of financial information presented to management 
and other interested parties;

 k Compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

In accordance with Article L. 225-235 of the French Commercial 
Code, as amended by the Financial Security Act no. 2003-706 
of 1 August 2003, the Statutory Auditors have issued a report 
attached to their general report, setting out their comments 
concerning this report.

11 April 2014

Chairman of the Board of Directors

Grégoire Gonnord
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3.4 Statutory Auditors’ report on 
the Chairman’s report
Report prepared in accordance with Article L. 225-235 
of the French Commercial Code, on the report prepared by 
the Chairman of the Board of Directors of Fleury Michon

To the shareholders,

In our capacity as Statutory Auditors of Fleury Michon and in application of the provisions of Article L. 225-235 of the French Commercial 
Code, we present below our report on the report prepared by the Chairman of the Board of Directors of Fleury Michon in application of 
Article L. 225-37 of the French Commercial Code for the year ended 31 December 2013.

The Chairman of the Board of Directors is required to prepare and submit to the Board for approval, a report noting the internal control 
and risk management procedures implemented within the Company and providing the other information required by Article L. 225-37 of 
the French Commercial Code, notably concerning corporate governance.

Our role is to:

 k Report to shareholders our comments on the information contained in the Chairman’s report concerning the internal control and risk 
management procedures related to the preparation and processing of accounting and financial information;

 k Confirm that the report also includes the other information required by Article L. 225-37 of the French Commercial Code. It should 
be noted that our role is not to verify the true and fair nature of this other information.

We conducted our work in accordance with professional standards applicable in France.

INFORMATION ON INTERNAL CONTROL PROCEDURES RELATED TO THE PREPARATION AND PROCESSING 
OF ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The professional standards require that we perform the necessary procedures to assess the fairness of the information provided in the 
chairman’s report in respect of the internal control and risk management procedures relating to the preparation and processing of the 
accounting and financial information. These procedures consist mainly in:

 k Reviewing the internal control and risk management procedures related to the preparation and processing of accounting and financial 
information, as described in the Chairman’s report, as well as existing documents;

 k Reviewing the work on which the information given in the Chairman’s report is based, as well as existing documents;

 k Determining if any major failures we may have detected in internal control procedures related to the preparation and processing of 
accounting and financial information have been disclosed properly in the Chairman’s report.

Based on our procedures, we have no matters to report concerning the information about the Company’s internal control and risk 
management procedures related to the preparation and processing of accounting and financial information, as contained in the report of 
the Chairman of the Board of Directors prepared in accordance with Article L. 225-37 of the French Commercial Code.

OTHER INFORMATION

We attest that the Chairman’s report contains the other information required by Article L. 225-37 of the French Commercial Code.

Orvault and Nantes, 25 April 2014

The Statutory Auditors

RSM Secovec ERNST & YOUNG Atlantique

Jean-Michel Picaud Luc Derrien
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The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). Changes 
in accounting and other methods are described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

The annual financial statements of Fleury Michon SA have been prepared in accordance with accounting policies applicable in France.

4.1 Economic and trading environment 
and operating highlights

Against a background marked by particularly complex 
economic conditions, with a slowdown on the food market 
and the beginnings of a shift in consumption patterns, Fleury 
Michon managed to maintain annual revenue growth, with a 1% 
increase to €697.9 million. The brand continues to grow, building 

on its sound fundamentals and the efficient business model 
implemented for several years, combining quality and innovation.

2013 saw Fleury Michon consolidate its leadership in ready-to-eat 
charcuterie, pork hams and poultry cuts, prepared meals and surimi.

4.2 Analysis of activity and consolidated results

The Group’s business is organised around three growth areas: 
French Supermarkets, International Operations and Services, 
which is included in the “Other” segment.

Annual consolidated revenue totalled €697.9 million, an increase 
of €7 million, with overall performance up by 1% over the year. 
Revenue in the fourth quarter, however, declined by -3.1%.

4.2.1.1 FRENCH SUPERMARKETS

The French Supermarkets segment posted a rise of +1.7%, on 
a food market that edged up by 1.3%(1). Sales for the Fleury 
Michon brand outperformed the market at +2.7%, as the Group 
maintained its advertising, marketing and sales efforts throughout 
the year. The various market segments enjoyed contrasting 
fortunes:

 k The Self-Service Charcuterie segment was very dynamic, 
climbing 5.6%;

 k The prepared meals business declined 2.1% and suffered 
collateral damage from the “horsegate” scandal in 
February 2013;

 k Surimi (Prepared Seafood) was adversely affected by 
inclement weather in spring, at the start of the season. The 
market declined by 6.4% over the year, and although Fleury 
Michon remained the market leader, sales fell by 9.9%.

4.2.1.2 INTERNATIONAL

As regards International operations, revenue decreased by 7.9% 
(compared with +6.8% last year) and by -3.8% excluding currency 
effects. The Canadian activity recorded an 11.7% falloff in sales 
(-6.4% at constant exchange rates), with a sharper decline in the 
second half of the year. This decline affected airline catering, as 
well as the overall catering and frozen prepared meals segments. 
The total of other consolidated international activities (Slovenia, 
Switzerland and exports) rose 3.6% over the financial year.

(1) Source: Nielsen Scantrack, growth in value of supermarket products in 2013.

4.2.1 Consolidated revenue
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The two joint venture activities (equity-accounted companies 
in Spain and Italy) performed well despite very unfavourable 
conditions on national markets. Non-consolidated revenue for 
these businesses stood at €129.5 million (€48.6 million in Spain 
and €80.9 million in Italy).

4.2.1.3 SERVICES (INCLUDED IN “OTHER”)

The “Services” operating segment comprises support services and 
assistance to subsidiaries (logistics, human resources, information 

systems and finance), and the Services business (travel prepared 
meals and catering) operations conducted by the Group’s 
companies, which are not presented separately.

Revenue generated by this segment grew by 1.2% to €48.9 million 
from €48.4 million in 2012, led by the robust sales performance of 
the Room Saveurs delivered meals business, which offers a wide 
range of brands and products (up 8.6%).

4.2.2 Consolidated results

2013 was marked by slower sales growth and the maintenance of 
profitability in a difficult context, at a level below that of last year but 
above that of 2011. The Group’s operating margin rose to 4.6% 
from 5.3% in 2012 owing to three key factors:

 k A fiercely competitive environment and high prices of raw 
materials;

 k Increased communication investment to support the brand;

 k The start-up of the new industrial facility in Cambrai (France).

Operating profit totalled €32.2 million, down from €37 million 
in 2012. This figure includes unfavourable non-recurring items 
amounting to negative €1.05 million (compared with €3.3 million).

Net financial income amounted to -€1.3 million, an improvement 
of €1.7 million over the year, mainly as a result of lower finance 

costs, the performance of surplus cash investments and gains on 
derivatives not eligible for hedge accounting.

The contribution of equity-accounted companies (in Italy and 
Spain) to the Group’s results improved by €0.3 million thanks 
to the gradual recovery in the Italian business and the positive 
contribution of the Spanish business, in the amount of €0.8 million.

After tax and the Group’s negative share in profits/(losses) of 
associates, net profit attributable to owners of the parent came 
to €16.2 million in 2013, compared with €17.9 million in 2012. This 
represented a net margin of 2.3% versus 2.6% the year before.

Overall, there was no significant seasonal impact on sales. 
However, the Group’s activity means that its results can vary 
significantly from one half-year period to another.

4.3 Group’s financial position and cash flow

Net finance costs declined once again to €1.1  million at 
31 December 2013 from €2 million in 2012, reflecting lower 
benchmark interest rates (three-month Euribor), the surplus 
cash investment policy and a reduction in debt levels. Net 
debt improved from €93 million in 2012 to €91.1 million for 
the period.

The industrial capital expenditure programme was substantial over 
the year, amounting to €27 million, though it was lower than last 

year, when it reached €40 million owing to the construction of the 
Cambrai facility.

Prepayments and assets under construction were €7.3 million at 
year-end 2013, versus €9 million in 2012.

The Group’s financial position improved and continued to be 
sound, with gearing (net debt to equity ratio) down to 0.51 in 
2013, compared with 0.55 the previous year.
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4.4 Recent events and 2014 outlook

Continuing the trend seen in 2013, which was favourable to 
national brands and fresh self-service products, and despite the 
uncertainties still affecting the economy, Fleury Michon remains 
confident thanks to its solid fundamentals, which are:

 k The trust that consumers place in its brand;

 k Its ability to innovate, including on mature markets. The Group 
plans to launch more than 80 new Fleury Michon brand 
products in 2014;

 k Its values of cooking quality, naturalness and safety;

 k Its committed teams, mobilised to work in pursuit of the 
Group’s corporate vision;

 k Its management and its stable shareholding structure.

The Group will seek to secure its Fleury Michon brand position 
in French Supermarkets and continue to deepen its international 
footprint. With more than €290 million in non-current assets and 
control of gearing, Fleury Michon has the resources it needs.

In this context and on the basis of the available information, the 
Group projects growth of 4%.

4.5 Parent company results (Fleury Michon SA)

4.6 Outlook (Fleury Michon SA)

The annual financial statements of Fleury Michon SA have been 
prepared in accordance with legal and regulatory requirements in 
France. Fleury Michon SA has applied the rules concerning asset 
recognition described in standards CRC 2002-10 and 2004-06 
and CNC recommendation 2004-15.

The parent company’s revenue is not representative of the Group’s 
business as a whole. Fleury Michon SA’s revenue consists primarily 
of management fees received from subsidiaries for administrative, 
accounting, financial, IT, human resources and communications 
services, and rent from the leasing of manufacturing facilities.

In 2013, the parent company’s revenue rose to €36,345 thousand 
from €31,916 thousand the previous year. Operating income stood 
at €1,925 thousand, as against €1,969 thousand in 2012.

Financial income mainly comprised dividend income from 
subsidiaries, which amounted to €20,168 thousand in 2013 versus 

€10,776 thousand in 2012. In order to reflect the best estimate 
of the value of the shares at the reporting date in relation to their 
value in use, the following impairments were recognised:

 k €9,660 thousand on the Proconi shares;

 k €22,000 thousand the Delta Dailyfood shares.

After net additions to provisions for impairment in value of shares 
in subsidiaries and affiliates and the cost of net debt, net financial 
income came to -€9,335 thousand.

Exceptional items represented income of €223  thousand, 
compared with -€1,306 thousand in 2012. This amount was 
impacted by disposals of fixed assets (€800  thousand) and 
provisions for risks (€335 thousand).

Net profit after tax and employee profit-sharing amounted to 
-€7,274 thousand versus €10,940 thousand in 2012.

Fleury Michon SA will continue to provide administrative, accounting, IT, human resources and communications services to the Group’s 
companies and to lease manufacturing facilities to them.
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4.7 Appropriation of earnings and dividends 
(Fleury Michon SA)

The Company’s net loss for 2013 came to €7,273,626. 
Including retained earnings of €20,824,384 brought forward 
from prior years, total funds available for distribution amount 
to €13,550,758.

At the Annual General Meeting, we will recommend that this 
amount be appropriated as follows:

Payment of a dividend of €1.20 per share €5,265,308

Appropriation to retained earnings €8,285,450

TOTAL €13,550,758

A gross dividend of €1.20 will be paid in respect of each share, 
payable within five trading days after the close of the Annual 
General Meeting, i.e. by 4 June 2014. Dividend payments for 
the last three years were as follows (information disclosed in 

compliance with Article 243 bis of the French General Tax 
Code):

Year
Number 

of shares
Dividend 

per share

2010(1) 4,595,757 €0.91

2011 4,387,757 €0.91

2012 4,387,757 €1.20

(1) Number of shares outstanding before the capital reduction on 6 July 2011.

Beginning on 1 January 2013, the revenue distributed as dividends 
to individuals who are French tax residents will be taxed according 
to the sliding income tax scale. They are eligible for the 40% tax 
deduction mentioned under Article 158-3-2 of the French General 
Tax Code.

4.8 Supplier payment deadlines 
(Fleury Michon SA)

In accordance with Articles L. 441-6-1 and D. 441-4 of the French Commercial Code, the Fleury Michon Group presents information on 
the maturities of the Company’s trade payables in the table below:

At 31 December 2013.

In € thousands Past due

Payable not past due at 31/12/2013

Total
Due within 
one month

Due in one 
totwo months

Due in two to 
three months

Due beyond 
three months

TOTAL TRADE PAYABLES 134 954 1,625 0 0 2,713

At 31 December 2012.

In € thousands Past due

Payable not past due at 31/12/2012

Total
Due within 
one month

Due in one to 
two months

Due in two to 
three months

Due beyond 
three months

TOTAL TRADE PAYABLES 147 1,205 929 1 3 2,285
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4.9 Capital expenditure and other investments, 
management of shares in subsidiaries 
  and affiliates and review of subsidiaries 
(Fleury Michon SA)

Capital expenditure on property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets during the period totalled €1,224 thousand, 
mainly for office refitting, improvements to the information system 
and a range of investments in the production facility buildings 
(charcuterie, prepared meals and prepared seafood). The Group 
took out finance leases in 2013 for a total of €431 thousand to 
cover developments and upgrades to the ERP system. Total 
current prepayments to suppliers of fixed assets amounted to 
€553 thousand at year-end 2013.

The Company carried out a number of transactions on subsidiaries’ 
securities and loans made to these companies:

 k 50% capita l  increase of Piatt i  Freschi I ta l ia,  i .e. 
€2,174  thousand, and recognition of the reversal of the 
€2,748 thousand provision for impairment, accounted for in 
a previous year, to reflect the current value of the securities at 
the reporting date. The Company also added €4,326 thousand 
to the loans and advances made to this subsidiary (bringing 
the total to €16,926 thousand);

 k Rebuilding of Proconi’s equity by incorporating the current 
account advance of €4,990 thousand and a cash capital 
increase of €1,010 thousand followed by a capital reduction 
of €5,280 thousand. This extra cost of the shares was fully 
impaired, in the amount of €6,000 thousand. In addition, an 

impairment loss of €3,660 thousand in relation to the value in 
use at year-end was also recognised;

 k Impairment of the securities of Fleury Michon Canada Inc. 
for €22,000 thousand to reflect the improved estimate of the 
value of the securities on the inventory date as a result of 
Management’s new strategy direction;

 k A debt waiver of €770 thousand granted to Fleury Michon 
Polska. Trading activity was discontinued definitively at the 
end of the year;

 k Participation in line with the ownership percentage (40% of 
share capital) in the capital increase of Fleury Michon Norge, 
i.e. €71 million, and implementation of a current account 
agreement to support the development and distribution of 
prepared meals in Norway.

See Section 4.2, “Analysis of activity and consolidated results” 
of this report, as well as the list of subsidiaries and affiliates, for 
further details of significant events during the year concerning the 
Group’s principal entities.

No transactions involving the acquisition of substantial or 
controlling interests in companies based in France were carried 
out by Fleury Michon during the financial year.
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4.11 Information presented in other sections 
of the Annual Financial Report

Information included in the Management Report is included in full 
in the various sections of this document:

 k Risk factors and Research and Development – Sections 1.5 
and 1.6;

 k Social and environmental reporting – Chapter 2;

 k Compensation and report on internal control procedures – 
Chapter 3;

 k Five-year financial summary – Section 6.7;

 k Information on the Company and its share capital – Chapter 7.

4.10 Events after the reporting period

No material events or events after the balance sheet date that provide further evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the 
reporting period occurred between the end of the reporting period and the date the financial statements were approved for publication.
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5.1 Balance sheet

ASSETS

In € thousands Notes 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

NON-CURRENT ASSETS 3.1 296,071 294,607

Goodwill 3.2 48,047 48,685

Intangible assets 3.3 3,319 2,881

Property, plant and equipment 3.4 208,390 211,515

Non-current financial assets 3.5 21,258 16,961

Investments in associates 3.6 13,752 13,142

Deferred tax assets 3.12 1,305 1,424

CURRENT ASSETS 3.1 239,343 253,123

Inventories and work in progress 3.7 54,697 60,157

Trade receivables 3.8 81,370 85,526

Other accrued receivables 3.8 25,410 20,983

Current financial assets 3.5 149 140

Cash and cash equivalents 3.9 77,717 86,317

TOTAL ASSETS 535,414 547,730

LIABILITIES

In € thousands Notes 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

CONSOLIDATED EQUITY 179,293 167,514

Share capital 13,383 13,383

Additional paid-in capital 13,590 13,417

Reserves and retained earnings 135,925 122,685

Profit for the period 3.20 16,232 17,901

Non-controlling interests 103 128

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 3.1 159,454 167,508

Long-term provisions 3.10 20,807 21,318

Long-term borrowings 3.11 125,436 134,403

Deferred tax liabilities 3.12 7,364 5,108

Other non-current liabilities 3.13 5,847 6,680

CURRENT LIABILITIES 3.1 196,728 212,708

Short-term provisions 3.10 3,442 3,166

Short-term borrowings 3.11 43,404 44,890

Trade payables 3.14 81,486 92,875

Other accrued liabilities 3.14 68,396 71,776

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 535,414 547,730
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5.2 Statement of comprehensive income

5.2.1 Income statement

In € thousands Notes 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

REVENUE 3.15 697,929 690,958

Materials cost of sales -341,308 -331,752

Employee benefits expense 3.16 -174,017 -175,891

External costs and other operating income and expenses – net -105,829 -100,655

Taxes other than on income -13,004 -13,015

Depreciation, amortisation and provisions -29,906 -30,482

Change in work in progress and finished product inventories -575 1,124

RECURRING OPERATING INCOME 33,291 40,286

Other income and expenses – net 3.17 -1,055 -3,321

OPERATING INCOME 32,236 36,965

Income from cash and cash equivalents 2,225 1,705

Finance costs – gross -3,311 -3,661

Finance costs – net 3.18 -1,086 -1,956

Other financial income and expense – net 3.18 -219 -1,013

Income tax expense 3.19 -12,923 -13,947

Share in profits and losses of associates 3.6 -1,799 -2,147

CONSOLIDATED NET PROFIT 16,209 17,901

Attributable to owners of the parent 16,232 17,901

Attributable to non-controlling interests -24 0

Earnings per share (in euros) 3.20 3.70 4.08

Earnings per share excluding treasury stock (in euros) 4.01 4.39
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5.2.2 Statement of comprehensive income

In € thousands Notes 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

CONSOLIDATED NET PROFIT 16,209 17,901

+/- Effect of translating foreign operations -2,659 219

+/- Fair value adjustments to cash flow hedges 945 -3,098

+/- Fair value adjustments to available-for-sale financial assets 14 12

+/- Share of other comprehensive income of associates 223 60

+/- Taxes on other comprehensive income 414 1,090

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME RECLASSIFIED 
SUBSEQUENTLY TO PROFIT/(LOSS) -1,063 -1,718

+/- Actuarial gains and losses on defined-benefit 
pension plans(1) 496 -7,030

+/- Share of other comprehensive income of associates 202 -206

+/- Taxes on other comprehensive income -179 2,538

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME NOT RECLASSIFIED 
SUBSEQUENTLY TO PROFIT/(LOSS) 518 -4,697

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME -544 -6,415

Comprehensive income 15,664 11,486

Attributable to owners of the parent 15,690 11,485

Attributable to non-controlling interests -26 1

(1) Of which €3,332 thousand at 31/12/2012 being the impact of early application of IAS 19 revised concerning the cost of past services, further to the amendment of the national 
collective bargaining agreement for the charcuterie industry effective on 1 February 2011.
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5.3 Statement of cash flows

In € thousands Notes 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

Cash flows from operating activities

Consolidated net profit 16,209 17,901

Depreciation, amortisation and provisions 28,294 31,624

Other non-cash income and expense items -1,082 37

Net (gains) and losses on disposals of assets 203 902

Share in (profits)/losses of associates 1,799 2,147

Cash flow after net finance costs and income tax expense 45,423 52,611

Finance costs – net 1,086 1,956

Income tax expense (including deferred taxes) 12,923 13,947

Cash flow before net finance costs and income tax expense 59,432 68,514

Income tax paid 3.21 -15,719 -12,087

Change in operating working capital 3.21 -4,783 12,698

NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES 38,930 69,125

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 3.21 -27,079 -30,585

Proceeds from the disposal of property, plant and equipment 
and intangible assets 40 293

Acquisitions of financial assets -6,688 -5,152

Proceeds from the disposal of financial assets 163 141

Dividends from associates 275 439

Effect of changes in Group structure 0 0

NET CASH USED BY INVESTING ACTIVITIES -33,290 -34,864

Cash flows from financing activities

Purchases and sales of treasury stock – net 12 -1,325

Dividends paid -4,860 -3,730

Issue of share purchase warrants 173 0

Proceeds from new borrowings 27,070 35,661

Repayments of borrowings (including finance leases) -34,991 -29,654

Interest paid – net -1,086 -1,956

Net change in employee profit-sharing reserve -185 422

CHANGE IN CASH PROVIDED/(USED) BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES -13,866 -583

+/- Impact of change in exchange rates 105 93

CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS -8,121 33,771

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 80,498 46,727

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 3.9 72,377 80,498
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5.4 Consolidated statement of changes in equity

In € thousands Share capital

Additional 
paid-in 
capital

Treasury 
shares

Other 
reserves and 

retained 
earnings

Equity 
attributable 

to owners of 
the parent

Non-
controlling 

interests Total

AT  1 JANUARY 2012 13,383 13,142 -8,382 142,690 161,107 127 161,234

Consolidated net profit - - - 17,901 17,901 0 17,901

Other comprehensive income 
(loss) - - - -6,416 -6,416 1 -6,415

Comprehensive income - - - 11,485 11,485 1 11,486

Capital transactions - - - - - - -

Purchases and sales 
of treasury – stock - - -1,327 -149 -1,475 - -1,475

Dividends paid during the year - - - -3,730 -3,730 - -3,730

Changes in Group structure - - - - - - -

Other movements - - - - - - -

AT 31 DECEMBER 2012 13,383 13,417 -9,709 150,295 167,386 128 167,514

Consolidated net profit - - - 16,232 16,232 -24 16,209

Other comprehensive income 
(loss) - - - -542 -542 -2 -544

Comprehensive income - - - 15,690 15,690 -26 15,664

Capital transactions - - - - - - -

IFRS 2 Share-based 
payments(1) - - - 728 728 - 728

Purchases and sales 
of treasury -stock - - 16 -2 14 - 14

Dividends paid during the year - - - -4,860 -4,860 - -4,860

Changes in Group structure - - - - - - -

Other movements(2) - 173 - - 173 - 173

AT 31 DECEMBER 2013 13,383 13,590 -9,693 161,850 179,129 103 179,293

(1) Value at 31/12/2013 – Free and performance-based share awards to employees and executives of the Group (EGM of 11 February 2013).
(2) Issue of share purchase warrants (BSAARs subscription of 22 March 2013).
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Note 1 Summary of significant accounting policies, measurement rules 
and methods and basis of consolidation

1.1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES

In compliance with Regulation (EC) no.  16/06/2002 on the 
application of international accounting standards, the 2013 
consolidated financial statements of Fleury Michon and its 
subsidiaries (hereinafter referred to as the Group) have been 
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS), as adopted by the European Union.

The financial statements are presented in accordance with IAS 1 
and IAS 7, as well as with Recommendation 2009-R.03 issued 
by the French National Accounting Board. The income statement 
is presented by nature and cash flows are reported using the 
indirect method.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in euros, 
rounded to the nearest thousand (unless specified otherwise). The 
financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors 
on 11 April 2014 and have been prepared on a historical cost 
basis, with the exception of available-for-sale financial assets 
and financial assets and liabilities (including derivatives), which 
are measured at fair value.

1.1.1 Changes in accounting methods

The accounting methods used to prepare the consolidated 
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2013 
comply with the International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRSs) adopted by the European Union at the same date. This 
section deals exclusively with new standards, amendments to 
existing standards and interpretations with a material impact and 
that apply to the Group. To view all of the texts adopted by the 
European Union, see:

http://ec.europa.eu/internal_market/accounting/ias/index_en.htm.

The accounting methods used to prepare the consolidated 
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2012 are 
unchanged from those used for the 2012 financial statements.

stanDarDs, amenDments anD interPretations 
effeCtive as of 1 January 2013

 k Amendments to IAS 1 on Presentation of Items of Other 
Comprehensive Income

 k IAS 19R Employee Benefits – for defined-benefit plans

 k IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

Standards, amendments and interpretations effective as of 
1 January 2013 did not have a material impact on the financial 
statements, since Fleury Michon opted for early application of 
IAS 19 revised. The main impacts for the Fleury Michon Group in 
FY 2012 of early adoption was the full recognition of the remaining 
unrecognised past service costs, as a reduction in equity, in the 
amount of €3.3 million (i.e. €2.1 million net of deferred taxes).

stanDarDs, amenDments anD interPretations Whose 
aPPliCation is not manDatory as of 1 January 2013

 k IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements

 k IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements

 k IFRS 12 – Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

 k IAS 28 revised – Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

With respect to IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements, which replaces 
IAS 31, the Company plans to account for joint ventures by the 
equity method. It currently uses this method for its joint ventures, 
in accordance with the option offered under IAS 31. The Group 
reviewed its consolidation methods and principles for its holdings 
in Platos Tradicionales, PFI, Fres.Co, FM Suisse and FM Norge 
in light of these new standards and concluded that they had no 
material impact on the preparation of its financial statements.

Fleury Michon does not expect its consolidated financial 
statements to be materially affected by any of the other new 
standards, amendments to existing standards or interpretations 
that are not yet applicable and have not been early adopted by 
the Group.

1.1.2 Change in accounting estimates

In accordance with IAS 16, the useful life of property, plant and 
equipment is reviewed periodically. The impact of changes to useful 
life was accounted for prospectively as a change in accounting 
estimate. Without this change in estimate, depreciation would 
have been greater than €2,344 thousand in the 2013 consolidated 
financial statements.

1.1.3 Management estimates and assumptions

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with IFRS requires Management to make estimates 
and assumptions that are reflected in the reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities in the balance sheet, assets and liabilities 
at the date of the financial statements, as well as revenues and 
expenses for the reporting period.

These estimates are based on information available when they 
are established. They may be revised if the underlying conditions 
change. Actual results could differ. Estimates and assumptions 
mainly concern impairment tests, deferred tax assets, employee 
benefits and business commitments. The 2013 estimates are 
based on the same types of underlying management assumptions 
as those used in 2012.



2013 Registration Document - 109

ConsoliDateD finanCial statements 5

5

Notes
Note 1  Summary of significant accounting policies, measurement rules and methods and basis of consolidation

1.2 MEASUREMENT RULES AND METHODS 
AND BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

1.2.1 Method and scope of consolidation

All companies over which the Group exercises control are fully 
consolidated. Control is deemed to exist when the Group owns, 
directly or indirectly, more than half of the voting rights of an entity. 
Companies that are jointly controlled are accounted for by the 
equity method, in accordance with the option provided in IAS 31. 
Associates over which the Group exercises significant influence 
are also carried at equity. Significant influence is deemed to exist 
when the Group holds 20% or more of the voting rights directly 
or indirectly.

Fleury Michon does not control any special purpose entities, either 
directly or indirectly.

Intra-group transactions among fully consolidated companies 
are eliminated in consolidation, as are dividends, provisions for 
impairment of investments in consolidated companies, provisions 
for receivables, capital gains on disposals and other material intra-
group balances, profits and losses.

1.2.2 Translation of the financial statements of foreign 
subsidiaries

The assets and liabilities of subsidiaries that use another functional 
currency than the euro are translated into euros at official period-
end exchange rates. Income statement items are translated at the 
average exchange rate for the period.

1.2.3 Operating segments

An operating segment is a component of an entity (i) that engages 
in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur 
expenses, (ii) whose operating results are reviewed regularly by the 
entity’s chief operating decision maker and (iii) for which discrete 
financial information is available.

The Group’s management reporting system reflects its decision-
making structure, which is organised around strategic business 
areas. Results and data used to assess the Company’s financial 
position are based on three operating segments: French 
Supermarkets, International and Out of Home Catering. Since 
Out of Home Catering has not yet matured to the point where 
it meets the criteria of the standard for separate presentation, it 
is included in “Other Segments” along with subsidiary support 
functions (holding company and logistics company). The chief 
operating decision maker reviews the segments’ results regularly 
on the basis of this internal reporting, which is the key document 
for evaluating performance by strategic business area and for 
validating the allocation of budget resources in the short and 
medium term.

The following criteria were taken into account in defining operating 
segments:

 k Economic characteristics and cost price structure;

 k Type of products and services;

 k Type of production processes;

 k Type or category of customer;

 k Product distribution methods, logistics and commercial 
practices;

 k Regulatory environment.

The differentiating factors used by the Group were as follows:

 k French Supermarkets: fresh self-service products 
sold in the prepared meals and charcuterie sections of 
supermarkets under the Fleury Michon name or distributor 
labels; production and distribution governed by regulations 
applicable in France;

 k International: fresh self-service pre-packed products; 
production and distribution governed by regulations applicable 
outside France; business under development and no mature 
presence in the markets concerned;

 k Other: Services, not presented separately (Out of Home 
Catering and Travel prepared meals), and support and 
assistance to subsidiaries (logistics, HR, IT and finance).

Financial information for each of these segments is provided in 
Section 5.5, Note 3.1.

1.2.4 Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for in accordance with 
IFRS 3 revised and IAS 27 revised. The main accounting policies 
applied are as follows:

 k Non-controlling interests may be measured at fair value or 
at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the 
acquiree’s identifiable net assets;

 k Acquisition costs are expensed;

 k Contingent consideration (e.g., earn-out clauses) must be 
measured at fair value at the time of the business combination);

 k For business combinations, changes in a controlling interest 
only impact equity (attributable to owners of the parent and 
non-controlling interests). Goodwill is measured on the date 
that control is obtained;

 k Losses attributable to non-controlling interests must be fully 
attributed to those interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over 
the fair value of the Group’s share of the acquired assets and 
liabilities. Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries is 
included in assets under “Goodwill”, whereas goodwill arising on 
the acquisition of associates is recorded under “Investments in 
associates”.

1.2.5 Goodwill

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units (CGUs) that are 
tested annually for impairment. An asset is impaired when its 
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the 
higher of value in use (determined using the discounted cash flow 
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method) and fair value less costs to sell. The assumptions applied 
to determine value in use are based on Management’s medium- 
and long-term business plans, and the discount rate for CGUs is 

determined by reference to the Group’s weighted average cost of 
capital. Any impairment losses are allocated in priority to goodwill, 
with the balance deducted from assets of the CGUs concerned.

GOODWILL: ALLOCATION OF GOODWILL TO CASH GENERATING UNITS (CGUS)

Name of CGU Goodwill/currency Description

Charcuterie CGU €18,301 thousand Segment: French Supermarkets – historic self-service charcuterie (ham) business.

Prepared Meals CGU €13,300 thousand
Segment: French Supermarkets – historic prepared meals and surimi  
in the self-service prepared meals market

Canadian frozen foods 
& airline catering CGU

$CAD 8,020  
thousand

International segment – historic frozen foods and airline catering business  
on the North American continent

Canadian fresh 
products CGU -

International segment – development of fresh prepared meals for the supermarket 
sector in Canada (no goodwill allocated to this business)

Proconi CGU €2,514 thousand
International segment – prepared meals for the supermarket sector and institutional 
food service – Slovenia

Delivered meals CGU €8,465 thousand
Other – delivered meals in France (included in Out of Home Catering,  
not presented separately)

1.2.6 Intangible assets

Intangible assets are identifiable, non-monetary assets without any 
physical substance that are held for use in the production or supply 
of goods or services, for rental to others, or for administrative 
purposes. Acquired intangible assets are recognised at cost if 
it is probable that the expected long-term economic benefits 
attributable to the asset will flow to the Group, and if the cost of the 
asset can be measured reliably. After initial recognition, intangible 
assets are carried at cost and are amortised on a straight-line 
basis over their estimated useful lives.

Research and development costs, product innovation expenses, 
and internally-generated trademarks and patents are expensed 
in the year in which they are incurred. Development costs that 
meet the asset recognition criteria in IAS 38 are recognised in 
assets, i.e. assets that are separable, non-recurring and which 
are expected to generate significant long-term economic benefits. 
Development costs are amortised from the date that the related 
asset becomes available for use.

1.2.7 Property, plant and equipment

An item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset 
when it is probable that the future economic benefits associated 
with the item will flow to the Group, and the cost of the item can 
be measured reliably. When significant separate parts of an asset 
have different useful lives or generate a different pattern of benefits, 
each such part is recognised separately.

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. The cost of 
an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase 
price, including import duties and non-refundable purchase taxes, 

after deducting trade discounts and rebates, as well as any costs 
directly attributable to bringing the asset to its required working 
condition. The carrying amount of the Canadian fresh food CGU’s 
underlying assets are tested using the fair value method.

The Canadian CGU’s fresh food assets are tested for impairment 
once there is an indicator of impairment during the period. 
The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment 
are reviewed on a regular basis and any resulting changes in 
accounting estimates are recognised prospectively. Property, plant 
and equipment are depreciated over the following useful lives:

Type of asset Useful life

Buildings 20 to 30 years

Fixtures and fittings 10 to 20 years

Machinery and equipment 6 to 15 years

Furniture and office 
and computer equipment 6 to 10 years

BorroWing Costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the financing of 
major projects and that are incurred during the construction period 
are capitalised as part of the cost of the assets concerned.

investment grants

In accordance with IAS 20, government grants related to assets 
are presented in the balance sheet under “Other non-current 
liabilities” by setting up the grant as deferred income. Fair value 
differences on initial recognition of interest-free or low interest-
rate borrowings granted by a local authority are recognised as 
government grants.
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finanCe leases

In accordance with IAS 17, finance leases under which substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the 
Group are recognised as both an asset and a related liability in 
the balance sheet based on the fair value of the leased item at 
inception of the lease.

1.2.8 Financial assets

Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value based on the 
price paid and are subsequently measured at fair value. The Group 
classifies its financial assets on initial recognition according to the 
four categories defined by IAS 39, based on the intended holding 
period. It reviews this classification at the end of each half-year 
and full-year period.

IFRS 7 amended also determines a hierarchy of three levels of 
inputs applicable to financial instruments measured at fair value:

 k Level 1: quoted prices for similar instruments;

 k Level 2: observable market inputs;

 k Level 3: inputs not based on observable market data.

The Group uses valuation techniques based on observable market 
inputs (level 2), particularly rate swaps and currency forwards to 
measure asset and liability derivatives recognised at fair value.

Shares in unlisted non-consolidated companies and advances to 
these companies are classified as “Available-for-sale” (AFS) and 
are measured at fair value, with changes in fair value recognised 
directly in equity. If there is no active market for the shares, fair 
value is estimated. If the fair value cannot be estimated reliably, the 
asset is measured at amortised cost less any impairment losses. 
These financial assets are classified as current or non-current 
assets based on their maturities.

Items recognised under “Trade and other receivables” (see 
Note 1.2.10) are current assets and are classified as “Loans and 
receivables” under IAS 39.

Assets recognised under “Cash and cash equivalents” (see 
Note 1.2.11) are classified as “Held for trading” and are measured 
at fair value. Changes in fair value are recognised through profit 
or loss.

Treasury shares are recorded as a deduction from equity and the 
impact of sales and purchases of shares are recorded in equity.

1.2.9 Inventories

Inventories are stated at initial cost, comprising all costs of 
purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing 
the inventories to their present location and condition. The cost of 
inventories is determined using the weighted average cost method. 
Non-recoverable inventories, corresponding to inventories that 
are damaged or have become obsolete, are written down to net 
realisable value. Spare parts inventories that are associated with a 
specific asset and which represent a material amount are recorded 
under property, plant and equipment.

1.2.10 Receivables

Receivables are initially recognised at fair value, generally 
corresponding to the invoiced amount. No discounting is applied 
as no unordinary deferred settlement terms apply. An impairment 
loss is recorded when the carrying amount of a receivable exceeds 
its probable recoverable value.

1.2.11 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and money-
market mutual funds, as well as short-term, highly liquid 
investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash.

1.2.12 Provisions

A provision is booked when the Group has a present obligation 
as a result of a past event where it is probable that an outflow of 
resources will be required to settle the obligation without any inflow 
of economic resources of at least an equivalent value, and where 
the amount of the obligation can be reliably estimated.

1.2.13 Employee benefits – Post-employment benefits

The Group’s employee benefit obligations correspond to retirement 
bonuses and long-service awards. They are measured using the 
projected unit credit method based on actuarial assumptions that 
are reviewed yearly. The calculation takes into account:

 k The status, age and seniority of each employee;

 k The expected retirement age (63);

 k The personnel turnover rate (low turnover);

 k The employee’s individual monthly average salary, including 
bonuses, plus payroll taxes;

 k The expected rate of salary increases (2.5% to 3% depending 
on the employee category);

 k The discount rate (benchmark: Iboxx € corporates AA 10+, 
i.e. 3.17% at 31 December 2013);

 k National mortality tables (based on INSEE 2007 data).

As retirement is deemed to be voluntary, payroll and other taxes 
are due on the amounts paid to employees at the retirement date.

All actuarial gains and losses are recognised directly in equity.

1.2.14 Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at the fair value of the 
proceeds received and are classified as “Designated” (i.e. not 
held for trading).

Long- and short-term financial liabilities mainly comprise bank 
borrowings, finance lease liabilities and other borrowings. Interest 
on borrowings is recorded as an expense by reference to the 
applicable contractual rate which, based on the terms set by the 
Group’s banks, corresponds to the effective interest rate. Long- 
and short term financial liabilities may be subject to acceleration 
clauses (see Note 1.3 “Financial Risks”). A financial liability is 
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considered non-current if the Group has an unconditional right to 
settle it at least 12 months after the closing date. Otherwise, it is 
recorded under current liabilities.

1.2.15 Derivatives and hedging instruments

The Group uses derivative financial instruments purchased over-
the-counter as fair value and cash flow hedges of currency 
and interest rate risk. Existing derivative instruments used for 
hedging purposes are designated as cash flow hedges and 
recognised in the balance sheet at fair value. As these hedges 
qualify for hedge accounting under IFRS, the effective portion 
of changes in the fair value of the derivatives is recognised in 
equity and the gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is 
recognised immediately in the income statement. Changes in 
the fair value of derivative financial instruments that do not fulfil 
the hedge accounting criteria are recognised directly in income 
for the period.

Derivatives are never used for speculative purposes.

1.2.16 Deferred taxes

Deferred taxes are recognised on temporary differences between 
the carrying amount of assets and liabilities and their tax base. The 
deferred tax rate used in the opening and closing balance sheets 
of French companies for 2013 was 38%. Due to the increase 
in the exceptional surtax from 5% to 10.7% of corporation tax 
applicable to deferred taxes in the year and until 2014 (inclusive), 
the tax rate is raised from 36.1% to 38%. A rate of 34.43% will 
be applied in subsequent years.

Deferred tax assets relating to tax loss carryforwards are 
recognised when it is probable that they will be recovered at a 
reasonably determinable date, based on available information and 
assumptions at the end of each financial year.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities for the same consolidated tax 
group are presented net in the balance sheet where permitted 
by law.

1.2.17 Payables

Payables are initially recognised at fair value, generally 
corresponding to the invoiced amount. No discounting is applied 
as no unordinary deferred settlement terms apply.

1.2.18 Revenue

The Group’s revenue primarily comprises finished product sales. 
Revenue from sales is recognised when the title is transferred. 
Revenue is presented net of discounts and rebates granted to 
customers, and net of costs stemming from advertising and 
listing agreements and one-off promotional campaigns invoiced 
by retailers.

1.2.19 Recognition of exchange gains and losses and 
the impact of hedging transactions

Currency effects and the impacts of hedging transactions that 
are directly related to the Group’s operating activities—notably 
purchases of raw materials—are recognised as operating income 
or expenses within operating profit.

1.2.20 Other income and expenses – net

This line corresponds to significant, non-recurring items that 
represent material amounts in relation to the Group’s overall results 
for the year. These items are presented separately from current 
operating income. They include a limited number of income and 
expense items, such as certain disposal gains and losses and 
impairment losses on property, plant and equipment or intangible 
assets, as well as certain restructuring costs or provisions for 
major claims or litigation.

Operating income includes all recurring and non-recurring items 
described above.

1.2.21 Earnings per share

Earnings per share are calculated as:

 k Net profit attributable to owners of the parent, divided by;

 k The number of outstanding shares during the financial year, 
including and excluding treasury shares.

1.3 FINANCIAL RISKS

The Group has a central organisation that manages substantially 
all market, liquidity and credit risks related to its operations. The 
Finance Department and Corporate Cash Management work 
closely together in the financial markets to:

 k Obtain financing under the best possible terms and support 
the development of the Group’s businesses;

 k Identify, evaluate and hedge financial risks.

The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its 
exposure to certain risks.

1.3.1 Currency risk

The Group prepares its consolidated financial statements in euro 
and generates more than 90% of its revenue in euro. Assets, 
liabilities, revenue and profit denominated in currencies other than 
the euro are therefore not material in relation to the consolidated 
totals. Nevertheless, the Group’s international expansion strategy 
has created exposure to other currencies, primarily the Canadian 
dollar and US dollar through its Delta Dailyfood subsidiary.

The Group uses currency hedges as well as currency futures and 
options in order to reduce the volatility of future cash flows in 
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US dollars. At 31 December 2013, the Group held the following 
currency futures and options expiring between January and 
December 2014:

(Sales)/Purchases of foreign 
currencies USD/EUR USD/CAD

Net futures(1) 11,700 -

Currency futures – asymmetrical part - -

Net currency options - -

Total 11,700 -

(1) Nominal value in thousands of dollars.

The accounting treatment of these instruments is described in 
Note 1.2.15. The effective portion of changes in the fair value of 
these instruments was recorded in equity, for +€137 thousand, 
the ineffective portion was recognised in net financial income for 
+€161 thousand. Gains and losses arising from remeasurement 
at fair value of currency derivatives that do not qualify for hedge 
accounting are recognised in profit or loss, amounting to 
+€128 thousand in 2013.

1.3.2 Interest rate risk

The Group does not hold significant interest-bearing assets aside 
from money-market mutual funds and short term, highly liquid 
investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of 
cash, recognised under “Cash and cash equivalents”. The Group’s 
exposure to interest rate risks corresponds to long-term bank 
loans net of these interest-bearing assets.

Most of the loans are at floating rates, exposing the Group to 
potential cash flow volatility. To reduce its net exposure, the Group 
uses instruments negotiated over the counter. At 31 December 
2013, the amount hedged was €69,614 thousand. The total debt 
(fixed and floating rate) was hedged at 55.2% at the year-end. 
The accounting treatment of these instruments is described in 
Note 1.2.15. The effective portion of changes in the fair value of 
these instruments was recorded in equity, for +€807 thousand, 
the ineffective portion was recognised in net financial income for 
-€126 thousand. Changes in the fair value of instruments that 
do not qualify for hedge accounting under IAS 39 led to the 
recognition of a gain of €418 thousand in the income statement.

1.3.3 Equity risk

Investments in non-consolidated companies and other investment 
securities correspond to shares in unlisted companies. If there 
is no active market for the shares, fair value is estimated. If the 
fair value cannot be estimated reliably, the asset is measured at 
amortised cost less any impairment losses.

At 31 December 2013, the Group held 335,353 Fleury Michon 
shares in treasury, directly or through the liquidity contract, 
for a total value of €9,693 thousand. As indicated in Note 1 
paragraph 1.2.8, treasury shares are recorded as a deduction 
from consolidated equity. On the basis of the closing price on 
31 December 2013, the shares held in treasury as of that date 
had a market value of €17,438 thousand.

1.3.4 Liquidity risk

The Group’s prudent management strategy ensures it has a 
sufficient level of cash and marketable securities to cover its 
commitments. At 31 December 2013, net cash amounted to 
€72.4 million (€77.7 million in cash and cash equivalents minus 
a bank overdraft of €5.3 million). Net debt totalled €91.1 million 
(down from €93 million at 31 December 2012). The Group’s loan 
agreements contain the usual covenants. Some, representing 
4.1% of the capital outstanding to credit institutions, call for 
early repayment in the event of non-compliance with financial 
ratios. At 31 December 2013, the Group complied with all its 
debt covenants except for those relating to loans in Canadian 
dollars (Delta Dailyfood) for which a waiver was obtained in 
December 2013.

Non-compliance with covenants concerns two loans:

Farm Credit Canada

The covenant ratios not complied with are:

 kMinimum operating capital ratio of 1.3 (short-term assets/
short-term liabilities);

 k Debt service coverage ratio of 1.00 (earnings before interest 
taxes and amortisation/debit interest + short-term portion of 
the long-term debt of the prior period).

In 2013, Fleury Michon obtained a Waiver letter from Farm Credit 
Canada relative to the unmet conditions. This waiver relates to 
the 12-month period ending on 31 December 2014, and does 
not amend the conditions. The amount of the loan considered 
is €3,577 thousand and is classed as long-term debt since the 
waiver was obtained before the end date.

“Invest Quebec”

The covenant ratio not complied with is:

 kMinimum operating capital ratio of 1.3 (short-term assets/
short-term liabilities).

In 2013, we obtained a Waiver letter from Invest Quebec relative 
to the unmet conditions. This waiver relates to the 12-month 
period ending on 31 December 2014, and does not amend the 
conditions. The amount of the loan considered is €2,187 thousand 
and is classed as long-term debt since the waiver was obtained 
before the end date.

The Group reviewed its liquidity risk and considers that it can meet 
its future maturities.

1.3.5 Credit risk and risks related to retail 
concentration

Although the Group’s end customers are individual consumers, 
it sells its products primarily to retail chains. Concentration in 
the retail sector has increased steadily, and a number of the 
Group’s customers now individually account for more than 10% 
of consolidated revenue (in line with distributors’ market share). If 
the concentration trend continues – resulting in fewer customers 
– the Group’s operating margin could be affected and it could 
become more exposed to customer default risk, particularly in 
the current economic environment.
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The Group reviews its customers’ credit quality and closely tracks 
its receivables. Given the high credit ratings of its main customers, 
the Group considers that its exposure to customer credit risk is 
not material.

1.4 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s strategy is to maintain a capital structure that can 
guarantee the Company’s long-term future and preserve investor 
and creditor confidence.

As part of this strategy, the Board of Directors ensures that 
dividend payments and funds required for future development 
are properly balanced. The Group also carefully monitors debt and 
its debt-to-equity ratio, which came to 0.51 in 2013, compared 
with 0.55 in 2012.

Note 2 Scope of consolidation

There were no material changes in the Group’s scope of consolidation in 2013. The list of consolidated companies is provided in 
Section 5.5, Note 3.27.

Note 3 Notes to the balance sheet and the income statement

3.1 OPERATING SEGMENTS

Segment information at 31 December 2013

In € thousands

French 
Supermarkets International Other

Intra-group 
eliminations Total

Dec. 13 Dec. 12 Dec. 13 Dec. 12 Dec. 13 Dec. 12 Dec. 13 Dec. 12 Dec. 13 Dec. 12

REVENUE 605,023 594,785 44,010 47,793 48,896 48,381 - - 697,929 690,958

SEGMENT THRESHOLD 
REVENUE 612,236 601,832 46,014 50,357 118,366 113,204 -78,686 -74,434 697,929 690,958

Sales to external customers 605,023 594,785 44,010 47,793 48,896 48,381 - - 697,929 690,958

Fleury Michon inter-segment 
sales 7,213 7,047 2,003 2,564 69,470 64,823 -78,686 -74,434 - -

OPERATING INCOME 33,336 38,482 -6,390 -3,608 5,290 2,090 - - 32,236 36,965

SEGMENT ASSETS 435,616 434,446 61,906 68,910 90,562 75,747 -137,049 -119,117 451,035  459,987

Non-current assets(1)  203,104 201,894 49,761 54,810 62,468 53,878 -20,567 -17,260  294,766  293,322

CURRENT ASSETS(2)  232,511 232,552 12,145 14,100 28,095 21,869 -116,482 -101,857  156,270  166,665

SEGMENT LIABILITIES 166,539 168,248 6,159 11,126 123,762 114,340 -116,482 -101,857 179,978  191,858

Provisions for liabilities 
and charges 19,589 19,473 10 - 4,650 5,011 - - 24,249 24,484

Trade payables 89,001 88,209 3,810 6,057 8,267 7,911 -19,592 -9,303 81,486  92,875

Other liabilities(2)  57,949 60,566 2,339 5,069 110,845 101,417 -96,890 -92,554  74,243  74,498

INVESTMENTS 23,282 36,641 1,420 2,358 9,020 6,424 - - 33,721 45,422

DEPRECIATION, 
AMORTISATION 
AND PROVISIONS 23,023 25,457 3,626 3,492 1,645 2,675 - - 28,294 31,624

(1) Excluding deferred taxes and corporate income tax.
(2) Fleury Michon’s activity – notably financial – is included in “Other”, for a value of €37,542 thousand in non-current assets at 31 December 2013, compared with the €29,859 thousand 

at 31 December 2012.
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The Group operates in the following sectors:

 k French Supermarkets: fresh self-service products sold in 
the prepared meals and charcuterie sections of supermarkets 
under the Fleury Michon name or distributor labels; production 
and distribution governed by regulations applicable in France;

 k International: fresh self-service pre-packed products; 
production and distribution governed by regulations applicable 
outside France; business under development and no mature 
presence in the markets concerned;

 k Other: Out of Home Catering not presented separately (Out 
of Home Catering and travel prepared meals), and support 
and assistance to subsidiaries (notably logistics, HR, IT and 
finance).

3.2 GOODWILL

31 December 2013 Gross goodwill
Accumulated 

impairment losses Net goodwill

French Supermarkets – Charcuterie CGU 18,301 0 18,301

French Supermarkets – Prepared Meals CGU 13,300 0 13,300

International – Frozen foods & Catering (CAN) 5,467 0 5,467

International – Proconi Slovenia CGU 2,514 0 2,514

Other – Delivered Meals CGU 8,465 0 8,465

TOTAL 48,047 0 48,047

Change in goodwill 31 December 2012

Other reclassifications 
and translation gains 

and losses 31 December 2013

French Supermarkets – Charcuterie CGU 18,301 0 18,301

French Supermarkets – Prepared Meals CGU 13,300 0 13,300

International – Frozen foods & Catering CGU (CAN) 6,105 -638 5,467

International – Proconi Slovenia CGU 2,514 0 2,514

Other – Delivered Meals CGU 8,465 0 8,465

NET GOODWILL 48,685 -638 48,047

The -€638 thousand increase in goodwill relating to the Group’s 
Canadian business stems from the translation of foreign currency 
amounts at the exchange rate prevailing at the balance sheet date.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment using the discounted 
cash flow method. The current value is determined using the 
Discounted Cash Flows method with a terminal value, based on 
forecasts approved by Management. The following are the main 
hypotheses forming the basis of the calculation:

 k A discount rate of 6%;

 k Growth to perpetuity of 2%;

 k Cash flow projections over a period of five years.

A sensitivity analysis was carried out at 31 December 2013 on the 
goodwill from the Group’s major CGUs, namely Charcuterie, Prepared 
Meals and Delivered meals, and showed that the recoverable 
amounts would be considerably higher than the carrying amounts. 
Management considers that no reasonably possible change to the 
key calculation assumptions would result in the carrying amounts of 
these CGUs being significantly higher than their recoverable values.

Canadian Frozen foods & Catering CGU

Group Management continued to apply the methodology 
introduced in 2011 by allocating the CAD 8 million in goodwill 
to the Canadian Frozen foods & Airline catering CGU (historic 
operations) and tested the recoverable amount of these operations 
using the discounted cash flow method.

This historic business did not meet the 2013 business plan targets. 
Revenue and operating income were CAD 35.5 million and CAD 
-2.4 million, respectively, versus the targets of CAD 40.4 million 
and CAD +2.2 million in the business plan. This shortfall was 
mainly due to exceptional unfavourable items (operating and 
logistics difficulties resolved in the second half).

Discounted cash flows were calculated based on a five-year 
business plan, which anticipates returning operating income to 
breakeven in 2014, through revenue composition delivering a four-
point improvement in the margin on variable costs, an expected 
reduction in structural costs and new market share gains by 2015 
(in light of sales negotiations currently under way). In more general 
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terms, the business plan targets operating income of about 5% 
of revenue each year.

A sensitivity analysis was carried out on the key assumptions of 
the value in use of the CGU. The analysis showed that:

 k If the discount rate were to be increased by 1% (i.e. 7%), 
the recoverable amounts would be lower than the carrying 
amounts by -€3.7 million;

 k If the growth rate to perpetuity were 1%, the recoverable 
amounts would be lower than the carrying amounts by 
-€2.5 million;

 k If cash flows were to be 90% of the projected amounts, the 
recoverable amount would be equivalent to the carrying 
amount.

Taking all businesses combined (i.e. Canadian Frozen foods & 
Airline catering CGU and Canadian Fresh products CGU) and 
due to a weaker economic performance than forecast in 2013 
and 2012, the recoverable value of assets was also tested using 
fair value measurement, in addition to the analysis on value in 
use, based on management’s assumptions, in order to assess 
the market value of the Delta Dailyfood business.

Based on these assumptions and estimates, there is no 
requirement to recognise impairment for the financial year, since 
the recoverable amount of DDFC (all activities) calculated is greater 
than the carrying amount of the assets.

Proconi CGU

Revenue totalled €6.5 million, practically unchanged from the 
prior year. This business volume was not sufficient to absorb 
Proconi’s fixed costs. The company delivered a similar loss to 
the previous year at -€1.5 million. The net loss did not meet the 
target set in the initial business plan, as the transfer of the raw 
materials preparation activity (meat) for the Group’s subsidiaries 
was postponed to the end of 2014. Cash flows from this activity 
will come on stream in 2015 and management anticipates a return 
to breakeven in 2016.

Based on the assumptions and estimates used, no impairment is 
booked for the financial year, since the value in use remains higher 
than the value of the assets.

A sensitivity analysis was carried out at 31 December 2013 on the 
value in use of the CGU. The analysis showed that:

 k If the discount rate were to be increased by 1% (i.e. 7%), 
the recoverable amounts would be lower than the carrying 
amounts by -€1.9 million;

 k If the growth rate to perpetuity were 1%, the recoverable 
amounts would be lower than the carrying amounts by 
-€1.5 million;

 k If cash flows were to be 97.5% of the projected amounts, 
the recoverable amount would be equivalent to the carrying 
amount.

3.3 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

31 December 2013 Gross Amortisation Net

Development costs 159 159 0

Licences and trademarks 726 428 298

Software 7,946 5,099 2,847

Prepayments to suppliers of fixed assets 174 - 174

TOTAL 9,005 5,686 3,319

Movements in intangible assets 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

At beginning of year 2,881 2,484

Amortisation -508 -529

Acquisitions/Increase 906 926

Disposals/Decrease 0 0

Reclassification 39 0

AT END OF YEAR 3,319 2,881

No development costs were capitalised during the year.
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3.4 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

31 December 2013 Gross Depreciation Net

Land 2,786 274 2,512

Land under finance leases 1,740 154 1,586

Buildings 195,670 97,500 98,170

Buildings under finance leases 23,555 1,952 21,603

Machinery and equipment 221,433 145,214 76,219

Other 4,547 3,406 1,141

Other property, plant and equipment under lease 0 0 0

Assets under construction 3,593 - 3,593

Prepayments to suppliers of fixed assets 3,568 - 3,568

TOTAL 456,891 248,501 208,390

Movements in property, plant and equipment 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

At beginning of year 211,515 199,515

Depreciation -26,057 -26,340

Acquisitions/Increase 26,125 39,345

Disposals/Decrease -250 -1,195

Reclassification -39 0

Translation adjustment -2,904 190

AT END OF YEAR 208,390 211,515

No borrowing costs were recognised during the 2013 financial 
year pursuant to IAS 23.

Since their economic performance was below expectations, 
DDFC’s assets were tested for impairment using the fair value 
method. No goodwill impairment losses were recorded in 2012, 
as the recoverable amount of the goodwill exceeded its carrying 
amount.

3.5 CURRENT AND NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS

31 December 2013
Gross financial 

assets Impairment losses
Net financial  

assets

Non-current financial assets 22,980 1,723 21,258

Shares in non-consolidated companies 2,975 1,213 1,762

Advances to subsidiaries and affiliates 17,432 457 16,975

Fixed asset investments 83 52 31

Deposits and guarantees 466 - 466

Other investments 2,024 - 2,024

Current financial assets 149 0 149

Derivative financial instruments 0 - 0

Other investments 149 - 149

Trade receivables 108,136 1,356 106,780

TOTAL 131,265 3,079 128,186
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31 December 2013

Financial assets at fair value Fair value measurement method

Available- 
for-sale 
assets

Loans and 
receivables

Assets at  
fair value Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Non-current financial assets 1,793 19,465 0 21,258 0 21,258 0

Shares in non-consolidated 
companies 1,762 - - 1,762 - 1,762 -

Advances to subsidiaries 
and affiliates - 16,975 - 16,975 - 16,975 -

Fixed asset investments 31 - - 31 - 31 -

Deposits and guarantees - 466 - 466 - 466 -

Other investments - 2,024 - 2,024 - 2,024 -

Current financial assets 0 149 0 149 0 149 0

Derivative financial instruments - - - 0 - 0 -

Other investments - 149 0 149 - 149 -

Trade receivables - 106,780 - 106,780 - 106,780 -

TOTAL 1,793 126,394 0 128,186 0 128,186 0

In accordance with IFRS 7 Financial Instruments – Disclosures, 
the valuation levels presented in the table above are determined 
as follows:

 k Level 1: Level 1 data refers to quoted prices (not restated) to 
which the entity has access on the valuation date, in active 
markets for identical assets or liabilities;

 k Level 2: Level 2 data refers to directly or indirectly observable 
asset or liability data other than quoted prices that fall under 
Level 1;

 k Level 3: Level 3 data refers to inputs not based on observable 
market data.

3.6 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

Investments in associates % interest 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

Piatti Freschi Italia 50.00% 4,433 4,405

Platos Tradicionales 47.50% 9,319 8,697

FM Norge 40.00% 0 40

TOTAL 13,752 13,142

The aggregates (presented below) of associates have been prepared in accordance with IFRS. They have been restated for harmonisation 
purposes, where necessary, for the consolidated financial statements.

Piatti Freschi Italia Platos Tradicionales Fleury Michon Norge

Equity at 31/12/2012 8,810 18,310 100

Net profit for the year -4,934 1,669 -304

Gains/losses recognised directly in income 641 219 -

Dividend distribution 0 -579 0

Capital increase 4,349 0 179

Equity at 31/12/2013 8,866 19,620 -25

% interest 50.00% 47.50% 40.00%

TOTAL 4,433 9,319 -10

Share of profit (loss) -2,467 793 -122
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Other information (IFRS) 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

Piatti Freschi Italia

Assets 115,036 117,234

Liabilities 106,170 108,424

Revenue 80,945 82,783

Platos Tradicionales

Assets 77,054 73,709

Liabilities 57,434 55,399

Revenue 48,589 45,579

3.7 INVENTORIES

31 December 2013 Gross Impairment losses Net

Raw materials 41,606 1,419 40,187

Work in progress 6,279 6,279

Semi-finished and finished products 8,578 416 8,162

Goods purchased for resale 74 5 69

TOTAL 56,537 1,840 54,697

Change in inventories 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

At beginning of year 60,157 57,232

Movements in inventories -5,454 3,004

Changes in Group structure - 0

Impairment losses -1,840 -1,834

Reversals of impairment losses 1,834 1,755

AT END OF YEAR 54,697 60,157

3.8 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Current assets – Receivables 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

Trade receivables 82,472 86,602

Provisions for doubtful accounts -1,102 -1,076

Changes in Group structure 0 0

TOTAL TRADE RECEIVABLES 81,370 85,526

Pre-paid and recoverable payroll costs 510 411

Pre-paid and recoverable taxes (incl. VAT) 13,026 16,849

Short-term advances 10 78

Current tax assets 5,356 1

Other receivables 5,651 2,799

Prepaid expenses 856 844

Changes in Group structure 0 0

TOTAL OTHER RECEIVABLES 25,410 20,983

TOTAL 106,780 106,509
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3.9 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

31 December 2013 31 December 2012

Cash 3,988 5,172

Marketable securities 73,729 81,145

Changes in Group structure 0 0

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 77,717 86,317

Bank overdrafts 5,341 5,820

Changes in Group structure 0 0

NET CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 72,377 80,497

Cash and cash equivalents includes liquid assets available in bank 
accounts. Cash equivalents amounted to €73,729 thousand and 
consisted of mutual fund shares (OPCVM), negotiable deposit 
certificates and time deposit accounts with withdrawal options 
that may be exercised at any time or, at most, every three months 
without any material risk of fluctuation in value. This amount may 
be broken down into the following two components based on fair 
value measurement:

 k Level 1: €10,349 thousand (SICAV mutual funds) – Level 
1 data refers to quoted prices (not restated) to which the 
entity has access on the valuation date, in active markets for 
identical assets or liabilities;

 k Level 2: €63,380 thousand – Level 2 data refers to directly or 
indirectly observable asset or liability data other than quoted 
prices that fall under level 1.

3.10 PROVISIONS

Provisions 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

Employee benefits – post-employment benefits 20,794 20,904

Claims and litigation and tax disputes 3,446 3,580

Investments in associates 10 0

TOTAL PROVISIONS 24,249 24,484

Long-term provisions 20,807 21,318

Short-term provisions 3,442 3,166

TOTAL 24,249 24,484

Movements in provisions 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

At beginning of year 24,484 13,171

Charges to provisions 2,306 4,978

Reversals (used provisions) -463 -137

Reversals (surplus provisions) -376 -106

Other movements -1,702 6,577

AT END OF YEAR 24,249 24,484



2013 Registration Document - 121

ConsoliDateD finanCial statements 5

5

Notes
Note 3  Notes to the balance sheet and the income statement

The change in employee benefit obligations broke down as follows:

Employee benefits – post-employment benefits 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

At beginning of year 20,904 12,584

Service cost 1,042 1,109

Past service cost 0 0

Interest cost 550 633

Benefits paid -1,206 -452

Net expense for the year 386 1,290

Actuarial gains and losses(1) -496 7,030

AT END OF YEAR 20,794 20,904

(1) The discount rate used each year is the IBoxx € Corporates AA 10+; this rate was equal to 3.17% at 31/12/2013 and 2.83% at 31/12/2012. Actuarial losses directly recognised 
in equity stood at €496 thousand. By early adoption of IAS 19R, the Group’s consolidated equity was reduced by €3,322 thousand at 31/12/2012. This corresponds to past 
service costs arising from the application of the charcuterie industry’s amended collective bargaining agreement, which modified the schedule of retirement benefits (government 
order of 24 December 2010 applicable beginning 1 February 2011).

The Group’s total retirement bonus obligation of €20,794 thousand, 
calculated in accordance with the new regulations, can be broken 
down as follows:

 k Recognised long-term benefit obligation (long-service awards): 
€935 thousand;

 k Recognised post-employment benefit obligation (retirement 
bonuses): €19,858 thousand.

3.11 BORROWINGS

Borrowings 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

Bank borrowings 128,401 137,356

Employee profit-sharing 2,838 3,023

Short-term bank loans and overdrafts 5,341 5,820

Obligations under finance leases 24,773 26,376

Derivative financial instruments(1) 1,504 3,031

Other(2) 5,983 3,688

TOTAL 168,840 179,293

Long-term borrowings 125,436 134,403

Short-term borrowings 43,404 44,890

TOTAL 168,840 179,293

(1) These financial instruments consist of fixed-rate swap contracts measured at fair value (partial hedging of the floating-rate debt) and futures contracts. At 31 December 2013, as 
part of hedge accounting, the effective portion was added to the Group’s equity in the amount of €807 thousand, while the ineffective portion was directly recognised in financial 
expense in the amount of €126 thousand. Instruments not eligible for hedge accounting were recognised in financial income in the amount of €418 thousand for the year.

(2) Including €3,577 thousand corresponding to a subsidised loan granted to Delta Dailyfood by a government agency.
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Movements in borrowings 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

At beginning of year 179,293 163,132

Additions to bank borrowings 27,050 34,595

Repayments of bank borrowings -31,066 -28,578

Increase in employee profit-sharing reserve 897 629

Decrease in employee profit-sharing reserve -1,083 -208

Increase in finance leases 431 10,291

Decrease in finance leases -2,034 -578

Increase in other borrowings 42 350

Decrease in other borrowings -2,685 -498

Movements in derivative financial instruments -1,526 2,587

Movements in short-term bank loans and overdrafts -479 -2,430

AT END OF YEAR 168,840 179,293

Borrowings by maturity Due within one year
Due in  

one to five years
Due beyond  

five years

Bank borrowings 32,197 83,846 12,357

Employee profit-sharing 288 2,549 -

Short-term bank loans and overdrafts 5,341 - -

Obligations under finance leases 2,148 9,214 13,412

Derivative financial instruments 1,504 - -

Other 1,925 4,058 -

TOTAL 43,404 99,667 25,769

The bulk of Group debt is at floating rates. Each year the Group 
enters into interest rate derivative agreements to reduce its 
exposure to interest rate risks. At 31 December 2013, the notional 
amount hedged was €69,614 thousand. The total debt (fixed and 
floating-rate) was hedged at 55.2% at the year-end.

Regarding exposure to interest rate risk, the scope used 
in the sensitivity analysis includes euro-denominated bank 
loans, leases and derivative hedging instruments. Sensitivity of 
euro-denominated debt to a fluctuation of +/-25bp (depending 
on the interest rates at 31 December 2013) is equivalent to 
+/- €180 thousand.

3.12 DEFERRED TAXES

Deferred taxes 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

Deferred tax assets 1,765 1,994

Tax consolidation -460 -569

Changes in Group structure - -

Recognised deferred tax assets 1,305 1,424

Deferred tax liabilities 7,824 5,677

Tax consolidation -460 -569

Changes in Group structure - -

Recognised deferred tax liabilities 7,364 5,108
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Deferred taxes by type 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

Deferred tax assets 1,305 1,424

Deferred tax liabilities 7,364 5,108

Deferred taxes, net 6,059 3,684

Fixed assets 16,874 14,126

Provision for post-employment benefits -6,844 -7,177

Other -3,971 -3,265

Deferred taxes, net 6,059 3,684

The tax rate used to calculate deferred taxes for subsequent years 
is 38% in 2014 and 34.43% thereafter, for French companies. 
Deferred tax assets arising from tax loss carryforwards are only 
recognised to the extent that they are considered recoverable at 

a reasonably determinable date, based on earnings forecasts. 
Unrecognised tax loss carryforwards totalled €6,647 thousand 
at year end.

3.13 OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Other non-current liabilities correspond to government grants recognised in the balance sheet in accordance with IAS 20 (see Note 1.2.7 
“Measurement rules and methods”).

Subsidies 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

Agricultural grants 2,861 3,782

European funds (EAGGF, FIFG, EAFRD) 1,279 1,484

Quebec public fund 938 1,106

Other 769 307

TOTAL 5,847 6,680

3.14 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Current liabilities – Payables 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

Trade payables 81,486 92,875

Changes in Group structure 0 0

TOTAL TRADE PAYABLES 81,486 92,875

Accrued payroll costs 56,597 56,079

Accrued taxes 1,793 3,189

Amounts due to suppliers of fixed assets 6,419 5,941

Current accounts 1,444 1,361

Subsidies 742 778

Current tax liabilities 0 3,957

Sundry payables 1,402 471

Changes in Group structure 0 0

TOTAL OTHER PAYABLES 68,396 71,776

TOTAL 149,882 164,651
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3.15 REVENUE

Revenue 31 December 2013 % change 31 December 2012

French Supermarkets 605,023 1.7% 594,785

International 44,010 -7.9% 47,793

Other 48,896 1.1% 48,381

TOTAL 697,929 1.0% 690,958

3.16 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE

Employee benefits expense 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

Employee compensation 119,533 115,270

Payroll taxes 46,817 49,088

Employee profit-sharing and incentive schemes 7,668 11,533

TOTAL 174,017 175,891

The competitiveness and employment tax credit (crédit d'impôt pour la compétitivité et l'emploi – CICE) effective as of 1 January 2013, 
was deducted from employee benefits expense (payroll taxes). The CICE amounted to €3,400 thousand and was applied in accordance 
with the objectives of the law.

3.17 OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSES – NET

This item reflects the impact of significant, unusual events occurring during the year that represent material amounts.

Other income and expenses – net 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

Provision for tax and social security disputes - -2,485

Tax reassessments accepted - -1,215

Tax credit for employee profit-sharing in prior years - 380

Employer’s charges – free share awards -1,055 -

TOTAL -1,055 -3,321

In 2013, the Company paid the full 30% employer’s contribution 
in relation to free and performance share awards to employees of 
the Fleury Michon Group (Board meeting of 25 February 2013), 
for a total of €1,055 thousand.

At 31  December 2012, other operating expense primarily 
comprised proposed increases: by the French tax and social 
security authority (URSSAF) in respect of the audit of the 2009, 
2010 and 2011 financial years; by the tax authorities in respect 
of the audit of the 2009 and 2010 financial statements for Fleury 
Michon SA, Fleury Michon Charcuterie and Fleury Michon Traiteur.

3.18 FINANCE COSTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSE – NET

Finance costs – net 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

Interest income 2,225 1,705

Interest expense -3,311 -3,661

TOTAL -1,086 -1,956

Other financial income and expense – net 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

Gains/(losses) on available-for-sale assets 0 2

Fair value gains/(losses) on derivative financial instruments 293 -296

Foreign exchange gains/(losses) 15 -56

Gains/(losses) on other financial assets and liabilities -527 -662

TOTAL -219 -1,013
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3.19 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Income tax expense 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

Current income taxes 10,462 14,793

Deferred income taxes 2,461 -846

TOTAL 12,923 13,947

Tax proof 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

Pre-tax profit 30,931 33,996

Applicable tax rate 38.0% 36.1%

Theoretical tax charge 11,754 12,273

Impact of permanent differences

Tax credits and adjustments relating to prior years -656 -1,196

Impact of research tax credit and CICE (reclassified as operating profit) -1,416 -279

Effect of differences in tax rates 502 455

Other permanent differences 469 913

Unrecognised deferred taxes for the year 2,270 1,782

TOTAL 12,923 13,947

3.20 EARNINGS PER SHARE

31 December 2013 31 December 2012

Net profit attributable to owners of the parent (in € thousands) 16,232 17,901

Number of shares 4,387,757 4,387,757

Earnings per share (in euros) 3.70 4.08

Average number of shares outstanding, excluding treasury shares 4,052,040 4,075,910

Earnings per share (in euros) 4.01 4.39

Factoring in the 61,211 share purchase warrants (BSAARs), diluted earnings per share stood at €3.95, since the Group did not issue 
any dilutive instruments as at 31 December 2013.

3.21 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

A – Change in operating working capital

Change in operating working capital 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

Change in inventories -5,454 2,925

Change in trade receivables -4,130 -666

Change in trade payables 11,389 -89

Change in other operating receivables and payables(1) 2,978 -14,867

TOTAL 4,783 -12,698

(1) Excluding corporate income tax receivables and payables.
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B – Income tax paid

Income tax paid in 2013 came to €15,719 thousand, for a total 
amount due of €10,462 thousand.

C – Investing activities

The €27,079 thousand recorded under “Acquisitions of property, 
plant and equipment and intangible assets” in 2013 breaks down 
as follows:

 k Acquisitions of intangible assets: €476 thousand;

 k Acquis i t ions of  proper ty,  p lant  and equ ipment : 
€26,125 thousand;

 k Change in amounts due to suppliers of fixed assets: 
€478 thousand.

The €6,688 thousand recorded under acquisitions of financial 
assets breaks down as follows:

 k PFI current account advance: €4,326 thousand;

 k Increase in equity investments in PFI: €2,174 thousand;

 k Other investments: €188 thousand.

D – Cash and cash equivalents

A breakdown of cash and cash equivalents is presented in 
Section 5.5, Note 3.9.

3.22 OFF BALANCE SHEET COMMITMENTS

Guarantees granted by Fleury Michon at 31 December 2013 
totalled €25,695 thousand and break down as follows:

 k €22,344  thousand for bank loans granted to Platos 
Tradicionales;

 k €2,226  thousand (CAD 3,266  thousand) for bank loans 
granted to Delta Dailyfood;

 k €1,125 thousand for bank loans granted to French subsidiaries.

A €5,453 thousand (CAD 8,000 thousand) bank bond has been 
issued to Fleury Michon as security for a loan granted to Delta 
Dailyfood.

In addition, Proconi’s bank loans are secured by collateral in an 
amount of €5,924 thousand.

3.23 EMPLOYEES

Employees by segment (full-time equivalent) 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

French Supermarkets 2,810 2,787

International 382 428

Other 518 516

TOTAL 3,710 3,730

Employees by socio-professional category (full-time equivalent) 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

Management 345 337

Technicians – Supervisors 817 784

Office staff – manual workers 2,548 2,608

TOTAL 3,710 3,730

3.24 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Fleury Michon’s main related parties are associates and the members of the Group Management Committee. Associates are companies 
over which the Group exercises significant influence and which are accounted for by the equity method. Transactions with these companies 
are not material.

Total compensation granted to the Group’s senior managers for 2013 amounted to €888 thousand, breaking down as follows:

Compensation of corporate officers 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

Wages and other short-term benefits 888 905

Share-based payments - -

TOTAL 888 905

This services agreement with SHCP SAS concerns its directors Yves Gonnord and Grégoire Gonnord. During 2013, the Group paid a 
total of €689 thousand for services provided.
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3.25 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

No material events or events after the balance sheet date that provide further evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the 
reporting period occurred between the end of the reporting period and the date the financial statements were approved for publication.

3.26 FEES PAID BY THE GROUP TO THE STATUTORY AUDITORS AND MEMBERS OF THEIR NETWORKS IN 2013

The following table sets out the fees paid to the Statutory Auditors for work conducted in 2013.

In € thousands

Ernst & Young Atlantique RSM Secovec

Amount (excl. VAT) % Amount (excl. VAT) %

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

Audit work

Statutory and contractual audit services

 • Fleury Michon 78.4 76.9 27% 28% 69.0 67.6 37% 43%

 • Fully consolidated subsidiaries 135.6 137.6 46% 50% 90.2 88.4 48% 57%

Audit related services

 • Fleury Michon 23.0 26.6 8% 10% 27.5 - 15% -

 • Fully consolidated subsidiaries 26.8 3.9 9% 1% - - - -

SUB-TOTAL 263.8 245.0 89% 89% 186.7 156.0 100% 100%

Other services provided to subsidiaries

 • Legal and tax advice - - - - - - - -

 • Other 31.0 30.0 11% 11% - - - -

TOTAL 294.8 275.0 100% 100% 186.7 156.0 100% 100%

average CAD rate in 2013 = 0.730301
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3.27 CONSOLIDATED COMPANIES

Company Headquarters Siren number

2013 2012

% Interest 
and control

Consolidation 
method

% Interest 
and control

Consolidation 
method

Fleury Michon La Gare
85700 Pouzauges 572 058 329 - Parent - Parent

Fleury Michon Charcuterie La Gare
85700 Pouzauges 439 220 203 100% Full 100% Full

Fleury Michon Traiteur La Gare
85700 Pouzauges 340 545 441 100% Full 100% Full

Fleury Michon Logistique La Gare
85700 Pouzauges 389 667 007 100% Full 100% Full

Charcuteries Cuisinées 
de Plélan

Rue de la Pointe
35380 Plélan-Le-Grand 444 525 240 100% Full 100% Full

Room Saveurs 64-68 rue du 
Dessous-des-Berges
75013 Paris 479 292 047 100% Full 100% Full

Société d’Innovation Culinaire Zone Actipôle – 
261 avenue 
J. Jacques Segard
59554 Tilloy lez Cambrai 489 625 111 100% Full 100% Full

Fleury Michon Suisse 1226 Plan-les-Ouates
(Switzerland) - 51% Full 51% Full

Piatti Freschi Italia (PFI) Via Bergamo 35
Merate (Italy) - 50% Equity 50% Equity

Platos Tradicionales Buñol (Valencia)
(Spain) - 47.50% Equity 47.50% Equity

Fleury Michon Canada (FMCI) Montréal – Québec 
(Canada) - 100% Full 100% Full

Delta Dailyfood Canada 
(DDFC)

26 rue Seguin-Rigaud, 
Québec (Canada) - 100% Full 100% Full

Proconi Ulica Staneta 
Rozmana 16
9000 Murska Sobota 
(Slovenia) - 100% Full 100% Full

Fleury Michon Polska Noberta Barlickiego 7
Bielsko Biala (Poland) - 100% Full 100% Full

Fleury Michon Norge Thomas Heftyes gate 
52 0267 Oslo (Norway) - 40% Equity 40% Equity

French companies that are over 95%-owned are included in the Fleury Michon tax group.
Full: fully consolidated companies
Equity: companies accounted for by the equity method
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5.6 Statutory Auditors’ report 
on the consolidated financial statements

Year ended 31 December 2013

To the shareholders,

In accordance with the terms of our appointment at the Annual General Meeting, we present below our report for the year ended 
31 December 2013 on:

 k Our audit of the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Fleury Michon SA;

 k The basis of our opinion;

 k The specific procedures required by law.

The consolidated financial statements have been approved by the Board of Directors. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
financial statements based on our audit.

OPINION ON THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We conducted our audit in accordance with French generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform our audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
An audit includes examining, on a test basis or through other selection methods, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made in the preparation 
of the financial statements, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets and liabilities and financial position of Fleury 
Michon and the individuals and units included in the scope of consolidation as of 31 December 2013, and of the results of their operations 
for the year then ended in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards adopted by the European Union.

BASIS OF OUR OPINION

In accordance with Article L. 823-9 of the French Commercial Code requiring the auditors to explain the basis of their opinion, we report 
the following information:

As explained in Note 1.1.3, your Company uses estimates and assumptions in preparing its consolidated financial statements. These 
estimates and assumptions primarily concern goodwill, deferred tax assets, employee benefits and business commitments. Our work 
consisted of examining the underlying data, reviewing, on a test basis, the calculations made by your Company, comparing prior-year 
accounting estimates to actual results, reviewing Management’s procedures for approving these estimates and verifying the information 
disclosed on these issues in the consolidated financial statements.

As part of our review of the financial statements taken as a whole, our assessment of these accounting estimates was included in 
formulating our audit opinion, provided above.
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SPECIFIC VERIFICATION

We have also verified the information given in the Management Report concerning the Group, as required by law and in accordance with 
French generally accepted auditing standards.

We have no matters to report regarding its fair presentation and consistency with the consolidated financial statements.

Orvault and Nantes, 25 April 2014

The Statutory Auditors

RSM Secovec ERNST & YOUNG Atlantique

Jean-Michel Picaud Luc Derrien
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6.1 Balance sheet

In € thousands Notes

31 December 2013 31 December 2012

Gross

Depreciation, 
amortisation 

and provisions Net Net

FIXED ASSETS 3-4 245,159 64,447 180,712 202,483

Intangible assets 19,404 4,530 14,873 14,655

Patents, licences and trademarks 13,740 0 13,740 13,731

Other 5,663 4,530 1,133 743

Assets under construction - - 0 181

Property, plant and equipment 5-6 58,982 26,967 32,016 33,182

Land 1,473 170 1,303 1,314

Buildings 56,297 26,172 30,125 30,964

Machinery and equipment 285 201 83 141

Other 568 423 145 97

Assets under construction 327 - 327 632

Prepayments to suppliers 
of fixed assets 32 - 32 34

Investments 166,773 32,950 133,823 154,647

Shares in subsidiaries and affiliates 154,823 32,898 121,925 142,616

Advances to subsidiaries 
and affiliates 0 0 0 0

Fixed asset investments 83 52 31 21

Other investments 11,867 - 11,867 12,010

CURRENT ASSETS 133,020 1,524 131,496 126,004

Inventories and work in progress

Receivables 5-6 60,308 1,524 58,784 43,809

Prepayments to suppliers 
of fixed assets 18 - 18 217

Accrued trade receivables 13,758 1,066 12,692 4,799

Other accrued receivables 46,531 457 46,074 38,794

Other 72,256 - 72,256 81,663

Marketable securities 9 71,602 - 71,602 81,145

Cash 654 - 654 518

Prepaid expenses 11 456 - 456 532

Translation loss 0 - 0 0

TOTAL ASSETS 378,179 65,971 312,208 328,487

Assets
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In € thousands Notes 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

EQUITY 10 152,092 163,726

Share capital 13,383 13,383

Share premiums 61,343 61,171

Legal reserve 1,554 1,554

Untaxed reserves - -

Other reserves 54,979 48,479

Retained earnings 20,824 21,244

Net profit/(loss) for the year -7,274 10,941

Investment grants 2,097 1,983

Untaxed provisions 5 5,185 4,971

PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES 5 2,955 507

PAYABLES 6 154,852 159,854

Bank borrowings 42,314 51,757

Accrued interest on other borrowings 102,341 94,943

Trade payables 3,533 3,443

Accrued taxes and payroll costs 6,066 8,964

Due to suppliers of fixed assets 241 530

Other accrued liabilities 357 217

ACCRUAL ACCOUNTS 2,309 4,401

Deferred income 0 0

Translation gain 2,309 4,401

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 312,208 328,487

Liabilities
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6.2 Income statement

In € thousands Notes 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

Operating income 37,543 34,257

Revenue 36,345 31,916

Operating grants 3 2

Reversals of depreciation, amortisation  
and provisions – expense transfers 306 1,252

Other income 889 1,086

Operating expenses 35,618 32,288

Other purchases and external charges 19,223 16,754

Taxes other than on income 1,555 1,358

Wages and salaries 8,420 7,118

Payroll taxes 4,005 3,606

Depreciation, amortisation and provisions 2,163 2,314

Other expense 252 1,138

OPERATING PROFIT 1,925 1,969

Financial income 28,267 14,001

Financial expense 37,602 3,328

NET FINANCIAL INCOME 12 -9,335 10,673

Profit before tax and exceptional items -7,410 12,642

Exceptional income 894 845

Exceptional expense 671 2,151

NET EXCEPTIONAL INCOME/(EXPENSE) 13 223 -1,306

Corporate income tax 14 86 395

Employee profit-sharing 0 0

NET PROFIT/(LOSS) -7,274 10,941
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6.3 Statement of cash flows

In € thousands 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

Cash flows from operating activities

Net profit/(loss) -7,274 10,941

Depreciation, amortisation and provisions 37,170 3,372

Reversals of depreciation, amortisation and provisions -3,408 -1,989

Net (gains) and losses on disposals of assets 4 891

Portion of grants -200 -17

Cash flow 26,293 13,197

Change in trade and other receivables -10,604 5,806

Change in trade payables and other liabilities -6,620 523

Change in operating working capital (WCR) -17,224 6,329

NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES 9,069 19,526

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets -1,224 -1,960

Acquisitions of financial assets -8,256 -1,363

Disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 4 20

Disposal of financial assets or loan repayments 143 50

Change in advances made to subsidiaries 4,924 24,713

Grants received during the year 314 373

Change in operating working capital related to fixed assets -289 -617

NET CASH USED BY INVESTING ACTIVITIES -4,384 21,216

Cash flows from financing activities

Capital increase - -

Issue of share purchase warrants 173 -

Dividends paid during the year -4,860 -3,730

Proceeds from new borrowings (including finance leases) 3,562 10,537

Repayments of borrowings (including finance leases) -12,589 -12,913

Change in interest rates on borrowings 26 13

CHANGE IN CASH PROVIDED/(USED) BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES -13,688 -6,093

CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS -9,004 34,649

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 81,166 46,517

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 72,162 81,166
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6.4 Consolidated statement of changes in equity

In € thousands
Share 

capital

Additional 
paid-in 
capital Reserves

Retained 
earnings

Profit/
(loss) Subsidies

Untaxed 
provisions Total

AT 1 JANUARY 2012 13,383 61,171 43,534 21,385 10,089 2,000 4,853 156,414

Capital transactions - - - - - - - -

Appropriation of net profit - - 6,500 -141 -6,359 - - -

Dividends paid during the year - - - - -3,730 - - -3,730

Net profit for the year - - - - 10,941 - - 10,941

Portion of grants recognised 
as earnings - - - - - -17 - -17

New grants received during the year - - - - - - - -

Provisions/reversals of untaxed 
provisions - - - - - - 118 118

AT 31 DECEMBER 2012 13,383 61,171 50,034 21,244 10,941 1,983 4,971 163,726

Capital transactions - 173 - - 173

Appropriation of net profit - - 6,500 -419 -6,081 - -

Dividends paid during the year - - - - -4,860 - - -4,860

Net profit for the year - - - - -7,274 - - -7,274

Portion of grants recognised 
as earnings - - - - - -200 - -200

New grants received during the year - - - - - 314 - 314

Provisions/reversals of untaxed 
provisions - - - - - - 214 214

AT 31 DECEMBER 2013 13,383 61,343 56,534 20,824 -7,274 2,097 5,185 152,092
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Note 1 Significant events

In 2013, Fleury Michon carried out the following transactions:

 k Grants of free shares, performance shares, and share purchase 
or subscription warrants (BSAAR) to employees and corporate 
officers of the Company, of the Slovenian subsidiary and of 
the French subsidiaries;

 k On shares in subsidiaries and affiliates:

 ● participation in the capital increase of Piatti Freschi 
Italia, for 50% or €2,174 thousand, and reversal of the 
€2,748 thousand in impairment recognised in a prior 
financial year to take account of the current value of the 
securities on the inventory date,

 ● rebuilding of Proconi’s equity by incorporating the current 
account advance of €4,990 thousand and a cash capital 

increase of €1,010 thousand followed by a capital reduction 
of €5,280 thousand. This extra cost of the shares was fully 
impaired, in the amount of €6,000 thousand. In addition, 
an impairment loss of €3,660 thousand in relation to the 
value in use at year-end was also recognised,

 ● impairment of the securities of Fleury Michon Canada Inc. 
for €22,000 thousand to reflect the improved estimate of 
the value of the securities on the inventory date as a result 
of Management’s new strategy direction;

 k €770 thousand debt waiver granted to Fleury Michon Polska.

Note 2 Summary of significant accounting policies

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
French generally accepted accounting rules, including the principle 
of prudence, and in particular, on the following basis:

 k Principle of going concern;

 k Use of consistent accounting policies from one year to the next;

 k Segregation of accounting periods;

and in accordance with the generally accepted rules for the 
preparation and presentation of annual financial statements.

COMPARABILITY WITH PRIOR-YEAR FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

There were no changes in the accounting policies or methods 
used by Fleury Michon SA in 2012 compared with those applied 
in 2011.

MANAGEMENT ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

The preparation of the parent company financial statements in 
accordance with French generally accepted accounting standards 
requires Management to make estimates and assumptions that 
are reflected in certain reported amounts. These estimates are 
based on information available when they are established. They 
may be revised if the underlying conditions change. Actual results 
could differ. The main estimates and assumptions concern the 
value in use of shares in subsidiaries and affiliates, provisions for 
contingencies and retirement bonus obligations reported in off 
balance sheet commitments.

The 2013 estimates are based on the same types of underlying 
management assumptions as those used in 2012.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Trademarks are valued at their contributed value, as determined 
at the time of the 1998 merger. The valuation was based on two 

years’ advertising and promotional spend, corresponding to the 
method generally applied in the food retailing sector. Trademarks 
are not amortised, as it is not possible to determine the period 
over which the expected future economic benefits of these assets 
will be consumed. An impairment test is performed on an annual 
basis and an impairment loss is recognised if the present value of 
the asset is lower than its carrying amount. Other intangible assets 
are stated at cost and amortised on a straight-line basis over their 
estimated useful lives (software: three to ten years).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment acquired in connection with the 
1998 merger is valued at contributed value, as determined at the 
time. Assets acquired since the merger are stated at cost.

Fleury Michon has not elected to capitalise associated borrowing 
costs.

When the components of an item of property, plant and equipment 
have different useful lives they are recognised and depreciated 
separately.

Depreciation schedule Period

Buildings 20 to 30 years

Fixtures and fittings 10 to 15 years

Machinery and equipment 6 to 15 years

Office and computer equipment 5 to 10 years

SHARES IN SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATES 
AND OTHER INVESTMENTS

Shares in subsidiaries and affiliates and other investments are 
stated at cost. An impairment loss is recognised if the fair value 
of the shares is lower than their carrying amount.
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Note 3  Fixed assets

Fair value is determined on the basis of the underlying net assets and 
the investee’s future outlook. Transaction costs are included in the cost 
of the shares in accordance with Article 9 of the 2007 Finance Act, with 
the exception of Proconi, for which transaction costs were expensed.

Treasury shares are classed under “Other investments” and stated 
at their acquisition cost. An impairment is recognised when the 
average share price for the last month of the year is lower than 
the average acquisition cost, with the exception of shares bought 
back for cancellation or to reduce the Company’s capital.

RECEIVABLES

Receivables are stated at nominal value. Provisions for doubtful 
accounts are determined on a case-by-case basis, taking into 
account any related disputes as well as the risk of non-recovery 
resulting from excessively late payments.

MARKETABLE SECURITIES

Marketable securities consist primarily of mutual fund units. An 
impairment loss is recognised when their market value at year-end 
is less than the acquisition cost.

PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES

A provision is booked when the Company has a present obligation 
towards a third party where it is probable or certain that an outflow of 
resources will be required to settle the obligation without any inflow 

of economic resources of at least an equivalent value, and where 
the due date and amount of the obligation are not precisely known.

ACCELERATED CAPITAL ALLOWANCES

As period of use takes precedence for tax purposes, an allowance 
is booked for the difference between book depreciation and 
reducing balance depreciation recorded for tax purposes.

CORPORATE INCOME TAX

Fleury Michon SA is the parent company of the tax group set up 
under the Group relief regime governed by Article 223 A et seq. 
of the French General Tax Code. The tax charge is calculated as if 
the Company were taxed on a stand-alone basis and tax savings 
arising from the utilisation of tax losses are reallocated immediately 
to loss-making subsidiaries.

In accordance with the Information Note issued by the French 
Accounting Standards Board (ANC – Autorité des normes 
comptables) on 28 February 2013, the competitiveness and 
employment tax credit (crédit d'impôt pour la compétitivité et 
l'emploi – CICE) was deducted from employee benefits expense.

LONG-SERVICE AWARDS

The provision for long-service awards is adjusted annually, taking 
into account the seniority required for the award, staff turnover, 
life expectancy and a discount rate.

Note 3 Fixed assets

Items (in € thousands)
Gross at  

1 January 2013 Acquisitions Decreases
Gross at 

31 December 2013

Patents, licences and trademarks 13,731 10 - 13,740

Purchased goodwill - - - 0

Other 5,016 473 - 5,489

Assets under construction 181 174 181 174

TOTAL INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18,927 657 181 19,404

Land 1,468 5 - 1,473

Buildings 55,327 970 - 56,297

Machinery and equipment 307 - 23 285

Others 488 80 - 568

Assets under construction 632 16 321 327

Prepayments to suppliers of fixed assets 34 32 34 32

TOTAL PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 58,257 1,103 378 58,982

Shares in subsidiaries and affiliates 146,578 8,245 - 154,823

Advances to subsidiaries and affiliates 0 - - 0

Fixed asset investments 73 10 - 83

Other investments(1) 12,010 16 159 11,867

TOTAL INVESTMENTS 158,661 8,271 159 166,773

INVESTMENTS 235,845 10,032 718 245,159

(1) Including 334,353 treasury shares, representing €9,641 thousand.
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Note 4 Depreciation and amortisation

Depreciation (in € thousands)
Depr./amort. at 
1 January 2013 Increases Decreases

Depr./amort. at 
31 December 2013

Patents, licences and trademarks 0 - - 0

Other 4,273 257 - 4,530

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 4,273 257 0 4,530

Land 154 16 - 170

Buildings 24,364 1,808 - 26,172

Machinery and equipment 167 49 14 201

Others 391 32 - 423

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 25,075 1,906 14 26,967

TOTAL 29,348 2,163 14 31,497

Note 5 Provisions

Type of provision (in € thousands) At 1 January 2013 Increases Reversals At 31 December 2013

Provisions for investments - - - -

Provisions for inventory price increases - - - -

Accelerated capital allowances 4,971 578 363 5,185

Other - - - -

UNTAXED PROVISIONS 4,971 578 363 5,185

Provisions for post-employment benefits 41 0 4 38

Provisions for taxes - - - -

Other(1) 466 2,743 292 2,917

PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES 507 2,743 296 2,955

PROVISIONS FOR IMPAIRMENT 
OF INVENTORIES(2) 4,014 31,685 2,748 32,950

Provisions for impairment of inventories and work 
in progress - - - -

Provisions for impairment of receivables 1,066 - - 1,066

Other 457 - - 457

PROVISIONS FOR IMPAIRMENT 5,537 31,685 2,748 34,474

TOTAL PROVISIONS 11,015 35,006 3,408 42,614

(1) Including a €2,743 thousand provision for the probable outflow of resources related to the share grants to employees or corporate officers of other companies in the Group to 
which the issuer belongs. This charge is offset by recording accrued income in the same amount due to the setting up of a re-invoicing agreement.

(2) Increases and reversals of impairment of shares in subsidiaries and affiliates held by the Company (see Note 1).
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Note 6 Maturities of assets and liabilities

Type of asset (in € thousands) Gross
Due within 

one year
Due beyond 

one year

Advances to subsidiaries and affiliates - - -

Loans 167 - 167

Other investments 11,700 - 11,700

INVESTMENTS 11,867 0 11,867

Trade receivables 13,758 13,758 0

Accrued personnel costs 22 22 0

Prepaid and recoverable taxes and payroll costs 5,924 5,924 0

Amounts due to Group companies and associates 40,586 40,586 0

Other receivables - - 0

CURRENT ASSETS 60,290 60,290 0

Prepaid expenses 456 456 0

TOTAL 72,612 60,745 11,867

Type of liability (in € thousands) Gross
Due  

within one year

Beyond 
one year and 

within five years
Beyond  

five years

Bank borrowings 42,221 11,489 28,231 2,500

Accrued interest on other borrowings 196 21 175 -

Short-term blank loans and overdrafts 94 94 - -

Accrued trade payables 3,533 3,533 - -

Accrued personnel costs 2,100 2,100 - -

Accrued taxes and payroll costs 3,965 3,965 - -

Due to suppliers of fixed assets 241 241 - -

Amounts due to Group companies 
and associates 102,145 102,145 - -

Other accrued liabilities 357 357 - -

Deferred income 0 0 - -

TOTAL 154,852 123,946 28,407 2,500

Note 7 Commercial paper

Trade receivables -

Accrued trade payables -

Due to suppliers of fixed assets -
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Note 8 Related party disclosures

Assets (in € thousands)

Advances to subsidiaries and affiliates -

Accrued trade receivables 11,238

Intra-group current accounts 40,586

Other receivables -

Equity and liabilities (in € thousands)

Trade payables 950

Intra-group current accounts 102,145

Operating liabilities -

Profit and loss account (in € thousands)

Financial expense 1,093

Financial income 829

Note 9 Marketable securities

Note 10 Equity

Marketable securities had a carrying amount of €71,602 thousand at year-end 2013 and consisted mainly of money-market mutual funds, 
negotiable deposit certificates and time deposit accounts.

In € thousands 31 December 2012

Appropriation  
of net profit

31 December 2012 Change 31 December 2013

Share capital 13,383 - - 13,383

Share premiums 61,171 - 173 61,343

Revaluation reserve - - - -

Legal reserve - - - -

Untaxed reserves 1,554 - - 1,554

Other reserves - - - -

Retained earnings 48,479 6,500 - 54,979

Net profit for the year 21,244 -419 - 20,824

31 December 2012 10,941 -10,941 - -

31 December 2013 - - -7,274 -7,274

Government grants  
and untaxed provisions 6,954 - 328 7,282

EQUITY 163,726 -4,860 -6,773 152,092

At 31 December 2013, the Company’s share capital was made up of 4,387,757 ordinary shares with a par value of €3.05. A dividend of 
€4,860 thousand was paid during the year.
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Note 11 Accrued expenses, accrued income and prepaid expenses

Note 12 Net financial income

Net financial income for the year stood at -€9,335 thousand, broken down as follows:

Financial income (in € thousands) 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

Dividend income from subsidiaries and affiliates 20,169 10,776

Income from other securities - 2

Other interest income 5,306 2,809

Provision reversals and expense transfers 2,792 414

Exchange gains 0.2 1

Net proceeds on the sale of marketable securities - -

Reversals of financial provisions - -

TOTAL 28,267 14,001

Financial expenses (in € thousands) 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

Charges to provisions 34,429 -

Interest expense 3,173 3,315

Exchange losses 0.2 13

Net expenses on the sale of marketable securities - -

TOTAL 37,602 3,328

NET FINANCIAL INCOME -9,335) 10,673

In € thousands 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

Accrued expenses

Accrued interest on bank borrowings 143 128

Accrued interest on other borrowings 3 3

Accrued trade payables 966 1,349

Accrued taxes and payroll costs 2,916 2,478

Due to suppliers of fixed assets 95 234

Other accrued liabilities 148 86

ACCRUED EXPENSES TOTAL 4,271 4,278

Accrued income

Accrued trade receivables 4,235 1,310

Prepaid and recoverable taxes and payroll costs 147 194

Other accrued receivables - 35

ACCRUED INCOME TOTAL 4,382 1,538

Prepaid expenses

Operating expenses 417 486

Financial expense 39 46

PREPAID EXPENSES TOTAL 456 532
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Financial provisions break down as follows:

 k A €2,743 thousand provision for the Group’s share award 
plans;

 k Increases in impairment of shares in subsidiaries and 
affiliates held by the Company (see Note 1) in the amount of 
€31,660 thousand;

 k €2,748  thousand in reversals of impairment of shares in 
subsidiaries and affiliates (see Note 1).

Exceptional income/expense for the year stood at €223 thousand, broken down as follows:

Exceptional income (in € thousands) 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

On management transactions 19 33

On capital transactions 242 207

Reversals of accelerated capital allowances 363 505

Reversals of provisions 269 100

TOTAL 894 845

Exceptional expenses (in € thousands) 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

On management transactions 86 168

On capital transactions 8 925

Charges to accelerated capital allowances 578 623

Charges to provisions 0 435

TOTAL 671 2,151

NET EXCEPTIONAL INCOME/(EXPENSE) 223 -1,306

Note 14 Corporate income tax

In € thousands Before tax Tax Net

Profit from ordinary activities (after employee profit-sharing) -7,410 62 -7,473

Exceptional items 223 24 199

TOTAL -7,187 86 -7,274

The Company has opted for group relief as governed by Article 223 A of the French General Tax Code. The French tax group is headed 
by Fleury Michon.

Note 13 Exceptional income and expense
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Note 15 Items recognised solely for tax purposes

Guarantees granted(1) 25,695

Guarantees received(2) 5,453

Retirement commitments at 31/12/2013(3) 1,828

(1) Including €22,343 thousand for bank loans granted to the Platos Tradicionales subsidiary.
(2) CAD 8 million in guarantees received, equating to €5,453 thousand at 31 December 2013.
(3) Post-employment benefit commitments are calculated on the basis of gross salaries, including payroll taxes, taking into account seniority, employee turnover rates, life expectancies 

(based on INSEE 2007 data), future salary and payroll tax levels, a discount rate of 3.17% and an average retirement age of 63. In compliance with the national collective bargaining 
agreement for the charcuterie industry, as extended by the government order issued on 24 December 2010 and effective as of 1 February 2011, the Group’s total retirement 
bonus obligation is calculated in accordance with these regulations.

At 31 December 2013, the notional amount of the interest rate swaps stood at €69,614 thousand for a market-to-market valuation of 
-€1,278 thousand.

Note 17 Lease commitments

Leased assets (In € thousands) Capitalised cost

Depreciation and amortisation

Net2013 accumulated

Software 2,313 192 467 1,847

Land 888 - - 888

Buildings 24,208 1,321 1,594 22,614

Machinery and equipment 0 - - -

TOTAL 27,409 1,513 2,061 25,348

Lease commitments (In 
€ thousands)

Payments made Payments due

Residual 
paymentYear Accumulated

Within 
one year

Due in one 
to five years

Beyond 
five years Total

Software 326 667 392 1,451 175 2,017 6

Land - - - - - - -

Buildings 2,174 2,634 2,195 9,015 11,851 23,060 109

Machinery and equipment - - - - - - -

TOTAL 2,500 3,301 2,586 10,465 12,026 25,078 116

Net profit for the year -7,274

Charges to untaxed provisions 578

Reversals of untaxed provisions -363

Corresponding tax reduction -219

Corresponding tax increase 138

PROFIT BEFORE ITEMS RECOGNISED SOLELY FOR TAX PURPOSES -7,141

Note 16 Off balance sheet financial commitments
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Note 19 Unrecognised deferred taxes

Unrecognised deferred tax liabilities (in € thousands)

Provisions for inventory price increases -

Accelerated capital allowances 5,185

Other untaxed provisions -

Investment grants 2,097

TOTAL 7,282

CORRESPONDING TAX (38%) 2,767

Unrecognised deferred tax assets (in € thousands)

Expenses deductible in the following year 57

TOTAL 57

CORRESPONDING TAX (38%) 22

Note 20 Compensation paid to members of the Board of Directors 
and Executive Management

Board of Directors 88

Executive Management 155

TOTAL 243

Detailed information on the compensation paid to corporate offers is provided in Section 3.2 “Compensation and benefits” of the financial 
report.

Note 18 Number of employees (average full-time equivalent)

31 December 2013 31 December 2012

Management 61 57

Supervisors, Technicians 73 69

Manual workers – Office staff 15 16

TOTAL 149 142

At 31 December 2012 employees had accumulated a total of 12,163 hours of training under the French statutory training entitlement.
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Note 22  Events after the reporting period

Note 21 Related-party disclosures

No material events or events after the balance sheet date that provide further evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting 
period occurred between the end of the reporting period and the date the annual financial statements were approved for publication.

This services agreement with SHCP SAS concerns its directors Yves Gonnord and Grégoire Gonnord. During 2013, the Group paid a 
total of €689 thousand for services provided.

Note 22 Events after the reporting period
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6.6 Subsidiaries and affiliates in 2013

In euros Capital Reserves % interest
Gross carrying 

amount Net carrying amount Loans and advances
Last published net 

revenue
Last published net 

profit/(loss)
Dividends received 

during the year
Date of financial 

information

1) SUBSIDIARIES

 • Fleury Michon Charcuterie 56,221,000 74,762,898 100% 64,015,000 64,015,000 - 482,893,919 22,506,927 15,179,670 31/12/2013

 • Fleury Michon Traiteur 11,980,206 34,161,782 100% 15,534,666 15,534,666 - 243,807,647 737,948 3,132,080 31/12/2013

 • Fleury Michon Traiteur de la Mer 37,000 0 100% 37,000 37,000 - - - - dormant

 • Société d’Innovation Culinaire 6,237,000 -1,015,832 100% 6,237,000 6,237,000 - 20,208,488 -2,493,928 - 31/12/2013

 • Fleury Michon Logistique 38,650 2,684,284 100% 1,074,766 1,074,766 - 38,931,372 202,529 100,000 31/12/2013

 • Société Immobilière Financière 
d’Investissement 143,055 1,506,130 100% 470,249 470,249 - 37,704 13,789 31/12/2013

 • Room Saveurs 7,800,000 3,254,285 100% 7,800,000 7,800,000 - 22,107,596 1,730,928 1,482,000 31/12/2013

 • Fleury Michon Canada Inc.(1) 25,015,344 -22,379,313 100% 24,254,200 2,254,200 20,567,340 - -24,067,994 - 31/12/2013

 • Proconi 3,373,471 -1,545,136 100% 13,460,000 3,800,000 - 6,437,517 -1,545,136 - 31/12/2013

 • Fleury Michon Suisse(2) 81,460 127,891 51.00% 34,753 34,753 - 2,777,789 -48,386 - 31/12/2013

 • Fleury Michon Polska(3) 24,071 50,083 100% 25,157 0 - 138,488 414,438 - ceased trading

 • Fleury Michon Norge(4) 89,681 -64,754 40.00% 111,405 111,405 48,864 328,469 -312,051 - 31/12/2013

2) AFFILIATES

 • Piatti Freschi Italia 16,000,000 -6,746,655 50.00% 13,118,008 13,118,008 16,925,647 80,945,000 -4,493,518 - 31/12/2013

 • Platos Tradicionales 15,500,000 5,295,945 47.50% 7,362,500 7,362,500 167,000 48,393,947 1,459,811 274,881 31/12/2013

 • Société Albigeoise de Panification N/A(5 N/A 34.00% 1,212,838 0 457,347 - - - in liquidation

 • L’Assiette Bleue N/A N/A 13.92% 75,601 75,601 5,119 N/A N/A - 31/12/2013

TOTAL - - - 154,823,143 121,925,148 38,171,317 - - 20,168,631 -

(1) Calculated using the year-end CAD exchange rate for capital (0.681617) and the average rate for the year for net profit (0.730301).
(2) Calculated using the year-end CHF exchange rate for capital (0.814597) and the average rate for the year for net profit (0.821480).
(3) Calculated using the year-end ZLT exchange rate for capital (0.240714) and the average rate for the year for net profit (0.243086).
(4) Calculated using the year-end NOK exchange rate for capital (0.119574) and the average rate for the year for net profit (0.127837).
(5) Not reported.
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In euros Capital Reserves % interest
Gross carrying 

amount Net carrying amount Loans and advances
Last published net 

revenue
Last published net 

profit/(loss)
Dividends received 

during the year
Date of financial 

information

1) SUBSIDIARIES

 • Fleury Michon Charcuterie 56,221,000 74,762,898 100% 64,015,000 64,015,000 - 482,893,919 22,506,927 15,179,670 31/12/2013

 • Fleury Michon Traiteur 11,980,206 34,161,782 100% 15,534,666 15,534,666 - 243,807,647 737,948 3,132,080 31/12/2013

 • Fleury Michon Traiteur de la Mer 37,000 0 100% 37,000 37,000 - - - - dormant

 • Société d’Innovation Culinaire 6,237,000 -1,015,832 100% 6,237,000 6,237,000 - 20,208,488 -2,493,928 - 31/12/2013

 • Fleury Michon Logistique 38,650 2,684,284 100% 1,074,766 1,074,766 - 38,931,372 202,529 100,000 31/12/2013

 • Société Immobilière Financière 
d’Investissement 143,055 1,506,130 100% 470,249 470,249 - 37,704 13,789 31/12/2013

 • Room Saveurs 7,800,000 3,254,285 100% 7,800,000 7,800,000 - 22,107,596 1,730,928 1,482,000 31/12/2013

 • Fleury Michon Canada Inc.(1) 25,015,344 -22,379,313 100% 24,254,200 2,254,200 20,567,340 - -24,067,994 - 31/12/2013

 • Proconi 3,373,471 -1,545,136 100% 13,460,000 3,800,000 - 6,437,517 -1,545,136 - 31/12/2013

 • Fleury Michon Suisse(2) 81,460 127,891 51.00% 34,753 34,753 - 2,777,789 -48,386 - 31/12/2013

 • Fleury Michon Polska(3) 24,071 50,083 100% 25,157 0 - 138,488 414,438 - ceased trading

 • Fleury Michon Norge(4) 89,681 -64,754 40.00% 111,405 111,405 48,864 328,469 -312,051 - 31/12/2013

2) AFFILIATES

 • Piatti Freschi Italia 16,000,000 -6,746,655 50.00% 13,118,008 13,118,008 16,925,647 80,945,000 -4,493,518 - 31/12/2013

 • Platos Tradicionales 15,500,000 5,295,945 47.50% 7,362,500 7,362,500 167,000 48,393,947 1,459,811 274,881 31/12/2013

 • Société Albigeoise de Panification N/A(5 N/A 34.00% 1,212,838 0 457,347 - - - in liquidation

 • L’Assiette Bleue N/A N/A 13.92% 75,601 75,601 5,119 N/A N/A - 31/12/2013

TOTAL - - - 154,823,143 121,925,148 38,171,317 - - 20,168,631 -

(1) Calculated using the year-end CAD exchange rate for capital (0.681617) and the average rate for the year for net profit (0.730301).
(2) Calculated using the year-end CHF exchange rate for capital (0.814597) and the average rate for the year for net profit (0.821480).
(3) Calculated using the year-end ZLT exchange rate for capital (0.240714) and the average rate for the year for net profit (0.243086).
(4) Calculated using the year-end NOK exchange rate for capital (0.119574) and the average rate for the year for net profit (0.127837).
(5) Not reported.
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6.7 Five-year financial summary

Indicator (in euros) 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

1. Financial position at year-end

a) Share capital 14,017,059 14,017,059 13,382,659 13,382,659 13,382,659

b) Number of shares outstanding 4,595,757 4,595,757 4,387,757 4,387,757 4,387,757

c) Number of convertible bonds - - - - -

2. Results of operations

a) Revenue excl. tax 24,579,161 27,257,133 28,519,238 31,916,420 36,344,861

b)  Profit before tax, depreciation, 
amortisation, provisions  
and employee profit-sharing 10,301,761 8,887,945 12,163,591 12,718,514 26,574,784

c) Corporate income tax 376,095 -522,082 124,410 395,330 86,455

d) Employee profit-sharing -5,762 0 0 0 0

e)  Profit after tax, depreciation, 
amortisation, provisions  
and employee profit-sharing 4,539,869 9,426,880 10,089,239 10,940,820 -7,273,626

f) Dividends paid 4,182,139 4,182,139 3,992,859 5,265,308 5,265,308

3. Per share data

a)  Earnings after tax and employee 
profit-sharing, before depreciation, 
amortisation and provisions 2.16 2.05 2.74 2.81 6.04

b)  Earnings after tax, depreciation, 
amortisation and provisions  
and employee profit-sharing 0.99 2.05 2.30 2.49 -1.66

c) Dividend per share 0.91 0.91 0.91 1.20 1.20 *

4. Employee data

a) Average number of employees 142 138 135 142 149

b) Total payroll 6,188,865 6,818,297 6,749,537 7,117,978 8,415,119

c) Total benefits 2,953,608 3,250,129 3,322,458 3,606,365 4,009,545

* Subject to approval by the Annual General Meeting.
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6.8 Statutory Auditors’ report on the financial 
statements

Year ended 31 December 2013

To the shareholders,

In accordance with the terms of our appointment at the Annual General Meeting, we present below our report for the year ended 
31 December 2013 on:

 k Our audit of the accompanying financial statements of Fleury Michon SA;

 k The basis of our opinion;

 k The specific procedures and information required by law.

The financial statements have been approved by the Board of Directors. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 
statements based on our audit.

OPINION ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We conducted our audit in accordance with French generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform our audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. An audit 
includes examining, on a test basis or through other selection methods, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made in the preparation of the 
financial statements, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, based on French generally accepted auditing standards, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets 
and liabilities and financial position of the Company at 31 December 2012 and the results of operations for the year then ended.

BASIS OF OUR OPINION

In accordance with Article L. 823-9 of the French Commercial Code requiring the auditors to explain the basis of their opinion, we report 
the following information:

Note 2 to the financial statements relating to shares in subsidiaries and affiliates and other investments describes the method used 
to determine the fair value of shares in subsidiaries and affiliates, and how impairment losses are calculated. We assessed whether 
the accounting policy applied by the Company was appropriate, based on the information available at the date of our review, and the 
reasonableness of the assumptions used and the resulting values.

These assessments were made in the context of our audit of the parent company financial statements, taken as a whole, and therefore 
contributed to the formation of the opinion expressed in the first part of this report.
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SPECIFIC PROCEDURES AND INFORMATION

We have also performed the specific procedures required by law, in accordance with professional standards applied in France.

We are satisfied that the information given in the Management Report and the documents sent to shareholders on the financial position 
and the financial statements is fairly stated and agrees with those financial statements.

We have verified that information provided in accordance with Article L. 225-102-1 of the French Commercial Code on compensation 
and benefits paid to corporate officers and commitments granted in their favour is fairly stated and agrees with the data provided in the 
financial statements or with data used to prepare those statements and, when appropriate, with data obtained by your Company from 
companies in which it holds a controlling interest or that hold a controlling interest in your Company. On the basis of these verifications, 
we certify the accuracy and fair presentation of this information.

In accordance with the law, we have verified that the Management Report contains information on the identity of shareholders and voting 
rights.

Orvault and Nantes, 25 April 2014

The Statutory Auditors

RSM Secovec ERNST & YOUNG Atlantique

Jean-Michel Picaud Luc Derrien
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7.1 Information on the Company

CORPORATE NAME

Fleury Michon

HEADQUARTERS

La Gare, 85700 Pouzauges, France

Telephone: +33 (0)2 51 66 32 32

LEGAL FORM

French société anonyme (joint-stock corporation) administered by 
a Board of Directors, governed by the French Commercial Code

DATE OF INCORPORATION AND TERM

Origin of the funds or business: acquisition by merger on 
7  November 1998 with the company, Fleury Michon, RCS 
(Business Registry) no. 552 016 875 (production of food products 
began on 1 April 1921).

Term: 99 years, to expire on 6 November 2097, unless this term 
is extended or the Company is dissolved before this date.

REGISTRATION NUMBER

572 058 329 RCS (Business Registry) of LA ROCHE-SUR-YON

FINANCIAL YEAR

1 January to 31 December

CORPORATE PURPOSE (ARTICLE 2 OF THE ARTICLES 
OF ASSOCIATION)

The Company’s activities are as follows:

 kManufacturing and sale of all food products, in particular 
including meat, fish, cured meats, vegetables, fruit, etc.;

 k Purchase, management and potential resale of al l 
shareholdings in French or non-French companies;

 k Performance of all types of commercial, financial, administrative 
or other services as well as the execution of all types of 
financial, real estate or commercial transactions for the benefit 
of companies in which it holds a stake or for third parties;

 k And in general, any commercial, financial, industrial or real 
estate transactions directly or indirectly related, in the whole 
or in part, to the stated corporate purpose or likely to promote 
the Company’s establishment, expansion or growth.

STATUTORY THRESHOLDS 
(ARTICLE 20 OF THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION)

Without prejudice to the provisions of Article L. 233-7 of the French 
Commercial Code

I. Any person who holds, either directly or indirectly as defined 
under the abovementioned law, at least 2% of the total voting 
rights attached to shares or of the Company’s share capital 
and who crosses either above or below the 2% threshold of 
voting rights or capital, or any multiple of this percentage, 
is required to inform the Company of the total number of 
voting rights or capital that he or she holds by registered 
letter with acknowledgement of receipt sent to the corporate 
headquarters within a period of fifteen days from the date the 
shares are registered.

II. In the event of failure to make such declaration under the terms 
and conditions mentioned above, any shares exceeding the 
percentage that should have been declared will be stripped of 
their voting rights in accordance with Article L. 233-14 of the 
abovementioned Code, at the request, recorded in the minutes 
of the Annual General Meeting, of one or more shareholders 
holding at least 2% of the voting rights associated with the 
shares issued by the Company.

RIGHTS ASSOCIATED WITH SHARES 
(ARTICLE 10 OF THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION)

I. Each share in the Company entitles the bearer to participate 
and vote in General Shareholders’ Meetings under the 
conditions and with the exceptions set forth by law and 
regulations.

The voting right associated with a share belongs to the 
beneficial owner at both Ordinary and Extraordinary General 
Meetings. The bare owner, however, has the right to participate 
in all General Meetings.

Nevertheless, double voting rights are associated with all 
fully paid up shares that have been registered in the name of 
the same holder for at least four years. If capital is increased 
through the incorporation of reserves, income or issue 
premiums, this double voting right will apply, from the time 
of issue, to new registered shares awarded free of charge to 
shareholders on the basis of shares already held that bear 
this entitlement.

II. Each share gives its holder ownership interest in the Company’s 
assets, distributed profits and liquidation dividends, this 
interest being proportionate to the percentage of the capital 
that the share represents.

In the event of distribution or redemption, each share grants 
entitlement to the same net amount. Consequently, all shares 
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will be aggregated for the purposes of any tax exemptions 
that may affect the Company and to which such distribution 
or redemption may give rise.

III. Whenever several shares are required to be held for the 
purpose of exercising any right, shareholders are personally 
responsible for pooling together the required number of shares 
and do not hold any right against the Company.

BUYBACK OF THE COMPANY’S OWN SHARES 
(ARTICLE 19 OF THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION)

The Company may purchase its own shares on the market, 
under the conditions set forth by Article L. 225-209 of the French 
Commercial Code.

SHAREHOLDER IDENTIFICATION 
(ARTICLE 7 OF THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION)

Shares may take the form of registered shares or bearer shares, 
at the shareholder’s discretion.

They will be recorded in the books kept by the Company or by an 
authorised intermediary, in accordance with the terms set forth by 
the laws and regulations in force.

In order to identify the bearer shares that it has issued, the 
Company reserves the right to avail itself of the provisions set forth 
in Article L. 228-2 of the French Commercial Code at any time.

ALLOCATION OF PROFITS 
(ARTICLE 23 OF THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION)

Five percent of the profit for the fiscal year, less any losses carried 
forward, will be set aside to form the legal reserve. This deduction 
is no longer required once the legal reserve has reached one-tenth 
of the share capital. It applies again when, for any reason, the 
reserve falls below said one-tenth. The balance of said profit, plus 
any retained earnings, forms the distributable earnings.

However, the Annual General Meeting has the power to deduct 
any amounts that it deems necessary from this profit, before any 
dividends are paid out, so that these amounts may be carried 
forward to the next fiscal year or applied to one or more general 
or special reserves for which it shall freely determine the purpose 
or allocation.

The Annual General Meeting may also decide to distribute funds 
drawn from its available reserves in accordance with the law. In 
this case, the decision will expressly state the reserve accounts 
from which the amount will be deducted. However, apart from 
reductions in capital, no profits may be distributed to shareholders 
if equity is, or would be thereafter, less than the amount of capital 
plus reserves that may not be distributed in accordance with the 
law or the Articles of Association.

When paying dividends, the Annual General Meeting has the right 
to grant each shareholder the option of receiving the dividend 
either in cash or shares, under the conditions set forth by law.

If shareholders wish to receive their dividend in the form of shares, 
they must make a request to this effect by the deadline set forth by 
the Annual General Meeting. This deadline may not exceed three 
months from the date of said Meeting. The request period may 
be suspended for up to three months by the Board of Directors 
in the event of an increase in capital.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETINGS 
(ARTICLES 17-18 OF THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION)

The procedures for calling Annual General Meetings are governed 
by French law. Annual General Meetings are held at the head office 
or any other address provided in the call to meeting.

Holders of registered shares may attend on presentation of proof 
of their identity, provided that their shares have been entered in the 
Company’s share register at least three days prior to the meeting. 
Holders of bearer shares must present a certificate from their 
custodian stating that the shares have been placed in a blocked 
account until the date of the General Meeting.

If the Chairperson of the Board of Directors is absent, the Meeting 
will be chaired by a member of the Board of Directors appointed 
for this purpose.

The procedures for holding General Meetings are governed by 
French law.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
(ARTICLE 11 OF THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION)

I. The Board of Directors must consist of a least three members 
and no more than 18 members. Company employees may 
only be elected as members of the Board of Directors if 
their employment contract corresponds to an actual job. 
Furthermore, members of the Board of Directors may never 
sign an employment contract with the Company. The number 
of directors connected with the Company through employment 
contracts may not exceed one-third of the sitting directors.

Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph 2 of Article L. 225 
19 of the French Commercial Code, the number of members 
of the Board of Directors over the age of 70 May not exceed 
one-half of the sitting directors.

Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph 4 of Article L. 225 
19 of the French Commercial Code, if the statutory limit is 
exceeded, the oldest member will be considered to have 
automatically resigned, such resignation not taking effect, 
regardless of the date on which said age limit is reached, until 
the date of the next Annual General Meeting called to approve 
the financial statements for the previous year.

One or two employee shareholders will also be appointed 
by the Annual General Shareholders’ Meeting to represent 
employee shareholders as a member(s) of the Board of 
Directors. Candidates for these appointments are designated 
by the members of the Supervisory Board of the Fleury 
Michon corporate mutual fund that holds shares on behalf of 
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employees. These people will not count toward the minimum 
and maximum number of members of the Board of Directors.

II. These people will not count toward the minimum and maximum 
number of members of the Board of Directors. Members of 
the Board of Directors may be re-elected. Their term expires 
at the end of the Annual General Meeting called to approve 
the financial statements for the past year and held the third 
year following their election.

To ensure that all Directors’ terms do not end during the same 
year, one-third of the terms of the Directors will expire each 
year (with the proviso that this rule does not apply to the Board 
members representing employee shareholders).

POWERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
(ARTICLE 13 OF THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION)

I The Board of Directors determines the direction of the 
Company’s activities and oversees the application thereof. 
Subject to those powers expressly granted to Annual General 
Shareholders’ Meetings and within the limits of the Company’s 
corporate purpose, the Board of Directors concerns itself with 
all issues affecting the Company’s operations and addresses 
issues concerning the Company at its meetings.

The Board of Directors carries out the checks and audits 
that it deems appropriate. The Chief Executive Officer of 
the Company is required to provide each Director with all 
documents and information necessary to carry out his or her 
duties.

II The Board of Directors appoints and dismisses the Chief 
Executive Officer and any Chief Operating Officers, where 
applicable.

III. The Chief Executive Officer must request authorisation from 
the Board of Directors before selling property that belongs 
to the Company, selling all or part of the shareholdings that 
belong to the Company or granting security interests on the 
obligations undertaken by the Company.

Nevertheless, the Board of Directors may give the Chief 
Executive Officer prior authorisation to carry out such 
operations, not to exceed a certain maximum for each 
operation. Such authorisation may be valid for up to twelve 
months and may be automatically extended, if necessary, for 
up to eight weeks prior to an upcoming Board of Directors’ 
meeting.

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT 
(ARTICLE 16 OF THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION)

I. In accordance with the provisions of Article L. 225-51-1 of the 
French Commercial Code, either the Chairperson of the Board 
of Directors or another individual appointed by the Board of 
Directors to serve as Chief Executive Officer is responsible for 
the executive management of the Company.

The choice between these two management options is made 
by the Board of Directors when appointing its Chairperson. 
Shareholders and third parties must be informed of this 
decision in accordance with regulations.

The Board of Directors’ decision relative to the choice of 
executive management structure is made by majority vote 
among the Directors present or represented.

The option selected by the Board of Directors is not subject 
to change except upon the renewal or replacement of the 
Chairperson of the Board of Directors or upon the expiration 
or the Chief Executive Officer’s term.

II. Depending on the choice made by the Board of Directors and in 
accordance with the provisions above, either the Chairperson 
or an individual appointed by the Board of Directors to serve 
as Chief Executive Officer will be responsible for executive 
management.

The Chief Executive Officer’s term lasts three years.

If the Board of Directors decides to separate the positions 
of Chairperson and Chief Executive Officer, it must appoint 
a Chief Executive Officer, determine his or her compensation 
and, where applicable, the limits on his or her powers.

The Board of Directors may dismiss the Chief Executive Officer 
at any time. If the Chief Executive Officer does not also serve 
as Chairperson of the Board of Directors, his or her dismissal 
may be grounds for compensation, if he or she is dismissed 
without just cause.

The Chief Executive Officer is given the broadest possible 
powers to act in all circumstances on behalf of the Company. 
The Chief Executive Officer will exercise said powers within 
the limit of the corporate purpose and subject to the powers 
expressly attributed by law to General Shareholders’ Meetings 
and to the Board of Directors.

The Chief Executive Officer represents the Company in its 
relations with third parties. The Company is bound by the acts 
of the Chief Executive Officer that do not fall under the scope 
of the corporate purpose, unless it can prove that the third 
party knew that the act fell outside the scope of this purposes 
or that it could not have been unaware considering the 
circumstances; mere publication of the Articles of Association 
is not sufficient to constitute such proof.

III. At the proposal of the Chief Executive Officer, regardless 
of whether this function is performed by the Chairperson 
of the Board of Directors or by another person, the Board 
of Directors may appoint one or more individuals as Chief 
Operating Officers to assist the Chief Executive Officer.

The maximum number of Chief Operating Officers is five.

The compensation provided to Chief Operating Officers is 
determined by the Board of Directors.

The Board of Directors determines the scope and duration 
of the powers granted to the Chief Operating Officers with 
the Chief Executive Officer’s agreement. The Chief Operating 
Officers assist the Chief Executive Officer as regards the 
internal operations of the Company but are granted the same 
powers as the Chief Executive Officer with regard to third 
parties.

CHANGES TO SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Shareholders’ rights may be modified under the conditions set 
forth by the regulations in force.
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7.2 Information on capital

7.2.1 Share capital

The Company’s share capital is made up of 4,387,757 shares with 
a par value of €3.05, fully paid-up.

In a press release dated 22 March 2013, the Company announced 
that it was issuing 61,211 redeemable subscription and/or 
purchase warrants (BSAARs). These BSAARs are non-transferable 
and non-exercisable for three years, i.e.. until 23 March 2016. 
Each BSAAR will allow its holder to purchase or subscribe, at the 
issuer’s discretion, an existing or new Fleury Michon share at a 

price of €47.58. The BSAARs may be exercised beginning on the 
date they are listed on the Euronext Paris market, i.e.. 23 March 
2016, until 22 March 2020.

The Company has not issued any other dilutive instruments as of 
the date of this document.

Neither the issuer’s shares nor the shares of the issuer’s 
subsidiaries have been pledged in any way.

7.2.2 Share capital history

Capital transaction
Number of 

shares
Cumulative 

number of shares Par value Total capital

Situation at 01/01/1999 - 4,487,724 3.04898(1) 13,682,982.27

Initial public offering, share issue 511,000 4,998,724 3.04898(1) 15,241,011.22

Incorporation into capital, conversion in euros - 4,998,724 3.05 15,246,108.20

Increase in capital, convertible bond issue 97,200 5,095,924 3.05 15,542,568.20

Reduction in capital, cancellation of treasury shares -500,167 4,595,757 3.05 14,017,058.85

Reduction in capital, cancellation of treasury shares -208,000 4,387,757 3.05 13,382,658.85

Situation at 31/12/2013 - 4,387,757 3.05 13,382,658.85

(1) Par value of 20 French francs (€3.04898).
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7.3 Share ownership

7.3.1 Breakdown of share capital and voting rights

Breakdown of share 
capital and voting 
rights

At 31 December 2013 At 31 December 2012 At 31 December 2011

Number 
of shares

% 
of capital

%  
of voting 

rights
Number 

of shares
% 

of capital

%  
of voting 

rights
Number 

of shares
% 

of capital

%  
of voting 

rights

SHCP (Société 
Holding de Contrôle 
– Gonnord family) 2,074,963 47.29% 58.89% 2,132,775 48.61% 57.62% 2,101,525 47.90% 57.17%

Shares held by 
individuals (Chartier-
Gonnord families) 537,929 12.26% 10.80% 537,929 12.26% 15.29% 581,679 13.25% 16,21%

SUB-TOTAL FOR 
SHAREHOLDERS 
ACTING IN CONCERT 2,612,892 59.55% 69.69% 2,670,704 60.87% 72.91% 2,683,204 61.15% 73.38%

Other members of the 
family group 
(Magdelenat) 288,387 6.57% 8.34% 299,245 6.82% 7.78% 299,245 6.82% 7.63%

Public 976,625 22.26% 17.12% 886,612 20.20% 14.58% 922,580 21,03% 14.36%

Corporate mutual fund 
holding shares on 
behalf of employees 174,500 3.98% 4.85% 195,115 4.45% 4.73% 195,115 4.45% 4.63%

Treasury shares 335,353 7.64% - 336,081 7.66% - 287,613 6.55% -

TOTAL 4,387,757 100% 100% 4,387,757 100% 100% 4,387,757 100% 100%

To the best of the Company’s knowledge, there has not been any 
material change in this breakdown between 31 December 2013 
and the date of this document.

The Company is controlled as described above and has taken 
measures to ensure that this control cannot be abused by:

 k Including independent Directors on the Board of Directors, 
the Audit and Risks Committee and on the Compensation 
Committee;

 k Separating the functions of President and CEO.

The Gonnord and Chartier families hold more than 50% of the 
Company’s capital and 64.54% of the theoretical voting rights 
directly or indirectly as at 31 December 2013.

No special rights are attached to any of the Company’s shares, with 
the exception of the double voting rights attached to all fully paid-up 
shares that have been registered in the name of the same holder for 
at least four years in accordance with paragraph 3 of Article 10 of the 
Company’s Articles of Association (decision by the Annual General 
Meeting of 13 May 2002). This entitlement to double voting rights 
expires for any shares converted to bearer status or transferred, 
except in cases where the transfer involves a change of name in the 
nominal register subsequent to family inheritance or endowment.

The Articles of Association do not include any clause that restricts 
the exercise of voting rights or the transfer of shares, which are 
freely tradable. Furthermore, there are no reciprocal agreements or 
commitments pertaining to the purchase of shares representing at 
least 0.5% of the capital or voting rights of the Company.
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7.3.2 Shareholding thresholds crossed during the last 12 months

The Company was informed that the following thresholds were 
crossed during the last 12 months:

 k On 26 March 2013, the Gonnord-Chartier families acting in 
concert declared that they hold 2,677,704 Fleury Michon 
shares representing 4,571,026 voting rights, i.e. 61.03% of 
the capital and 65.76% of the theoretical voting rights of this 
company;

 k In a letter dated 27 March 2013, the Gonnord-Chartier families 
acting in concert declared, as a formality, that on 28 February 
2013 they had fallen below the 2/3 threshold with respect to 

their Fleury Michon voting rights and that they held 60.18% 
of the capital and 65.23% of the voting rights within the 
Company;

 k In a letter dated 21 March 2013 and supplemented by another 
letter on 27 March 2013, Geneviève Gonnord declared that 
she had individually fallen below the 15% threshold with 
respect to her Fleury Michon voting rights and that she held 
12.27% of the capital and 14.61% of the AGM voting rights 
within the Company.

7.3.3 Agreements between shareholders of which the Company is aware 
and that could restrict share transfers

In a letter dated 10 June 2002, Société Holding de Contrôle et de 
Participations (FHC was merged on 30 December 2011) and the 
members of the Gonnord family, namely Yves Gonnord, Geneviève 
Gonnord, François Chartier, plus Grégoire Gonnord, Claire 
Gonnord, Marie Gonnord, Pierre Gonnord and Hervé Gonnord, 

informed the Company that as from 3 September 2002 they would 
act in concert in relation to exercising their voting rights in Fleury 
Michon SA.

There is no shareholder agreement in place.

7.3.4 Employee share ownership

At the time of the Company’s IPO, employees purchased 150,000 
shares through the Fleury Michon Actionnariat corporate mutual 
fund, representing 3% of the share capital. At 31 December 2013, 
employees held 174,500 shares via the corporate mutual fund, a 
reduction of 20,615 shares compared with 2012. The percentage 
of the share capital held by employees under the Company 
savings plan stands at 3.98%, down slightly from the 4.45% 

in the prior year. In accordance with paragraph 4 of Article 11-I 
of the Company’s Articles of Association, the Annual General 
Meeting has appointed two employee shareholders to the Board 
of Directors. Candidates for these appointments are designated 
by the members of the Supervisory Board of the Fleury Michon 
corporate mutual fund that holds shares on behalf of employees.
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7.3.5 Treasury shares

No purchases of treasury shares occurred during the financial 
year. In its ninth resolution, the AGM of 13 June 2013 authorised 
the Company to buy back its own shares for a further 18-month 
period, up to 10% of the Company’s capital, in accordance with 
Article L. 225-209 of the French Commercial Code, European 
Commission Regulation (EC) no.  2273/2003 implementing 

the Directive on insider trading and market manipulation, and 
Articles 241-1 to 241-6 of the AMF’s General Regulations.

At 31 December 2013, the Company held 334,353 shares in 
treasury with a carrying amount of €9,641 thousand, representing 
an average price of €28.84 per share.

Description of the share buyback programme Number of shares Sale price per share Value in € thousands

Treasury shares at 01/01/2012 285,406 29.15 8,320

Treasury shares acquired during the year 48,947 27.00 1,322

Treasury shares sold during the year 0 - 0

Treasury shares cancelled 0 - 0

TOTAL TREASURY SHARES AT 31/12/2012 334,353 28.84 9,641

Treasury shares acquired during the year 0 - -

Treasury shares sold during the year 0 - -

Treasury shares cancelled 0 - -

TOTAL TREASURY SHARES AT 31/12/2013 334,353 28.84 9,641

Including the 1,000 Fleury Michon shares held under the liquidity 
contract (36,488 shares purchased, 37,216 shares sold during 
2013, 0.02% of capital, with the aim of increasing the liquidity 
of the share price), the Company held 7.64% of its own capital 

at 31 December 2013. The annual cost of the liquidity contract 
was €22,868.

Transactions involving treasury shares in 2012 and 2013 are presented in the following table, broken down by objective:

Number of shares
Situation at 
31/12/2011 Bought back Reallocated Cancelled

Situation at 
31/12/2012 % of capital

Acquisition 285,406 - -66,019 - 219,387 5.00%

Hedging of share equivalents - - - - - -

Employee stock option and/or share 
award plans - 48,947 66,019 - 114,966 2.62%

Cancellation of shares - - - - - -

TOTAL TREASURY SHARES 285,406 48,947 0 0 334,353 7.62%

Taking into account the 2,207 treasury shares held under the liquidity contract, the Company held 7.66% of its own capital at 31 December 
2012.
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Number of shares
Situation at 
31/12/2012 Bought back Reallocated Cancelled

Situation at 
31/12/2013 % of capital

Acquisition 219,387 - - - 219,387 5.00%

Hedging of share equivalents - - - - - -

Employee stock option and/or share 
award plans 114,966 - - - 114,966 2.62%

Cancellation of shares - - - - - -

TOTAL TREASURY SHARES 334,353 0 0 0 334,353 7.62%

7.3.6 Delegations and authorisations

7.3.6.1 SHARE BUYBACK PROGRAMME – 
POWERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
REGARDING SHARE BUYBACKS

Each year, the shareholders authorise the Board of Directors to 
carry out a share buyback programme representing up to 10% of 
the Company’s capital, in accordance with Article L. 225-209 of 
the French Commercial Code, European Commission Regulation 
(EC) no.  2273/2003 of 22  December 2003 implementing 
Directive 2003/6/EC of 28 January 2003 on insider trading and 
market manipulation, and Articles 241-1 to 241-6 of the General 
Regulations of the Autorité des Marchés Financiers, or AMF (the 
French financial markets regulator). Shares may be bought back:

 k To stabilise the Fleury Michon share price through a liquidity 
contract, in accordance with a code of ethics approved by 
the AMF;

 k For the purpose of being held and subsequently remitted in 
payment or exchange for securities of another company, in 
connection with an acquisition;

 k For allotment upon exercise of stock options;

 k For the purpose of awarding them to employees or executives 
of the Group;

 k For the purpose of cancelling them as part of a capital 
reduction, in accordance with the 24-month authorisation 
granted by shareholders in the Annual General Meeting. The 
number of cancelled shares is subject to a ceiling of 10% of 
the Company’s issued capital.

The current share buyback programme, renewed for a further 
18-month period, was approved by the Annual General Meeting 
of 13 June 2013.

Share buyback programme:

 k The maximum net purchase price, excluding expenses, is set 
at €75 per share;

 k The minimum net sale price, excluding expenses, is set at 
€16 per share;

 k The maximum amount that may be invested under the 
programme is €15,000,000.

7.3.6.2 AUTHORISATION TO REDUCE 
THE COMPANY’S CAPITAL

In the fourteenth resolution of the Combined Ordinary and 
Extraordinary General Meeting held on 31  May 2012, the 
shareholders granted the Board of Directors a 24-month 
authorisation to reduce the Company’s capital by cancelling shares 
acquired pursuant to the authorisation to buy back Company 
shares representing up to 10% of the issued share capital, in 
accordance with Article L. 225-209 of the French Commercial 
Code and in application of Directive 2003/6/EC of 28 January 
2003 on insider trading and market manipulation.

Fleury Michon did not use this authorisation to reduce the 
Company’s share capital by cancelling treasury shares.

7.3.6.3 CURRENT POWERS GRANTED TO 
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS TO INCREASE 
THE COMPANY’S CAPITAL

The Extraordinary General Meeting (EGM) of 11  February 
2013 authorised the Board of Directors to issue redeemable 
subscription or purchase warrants on one or more occasions at 
its sole discretion. This authorisation is valid for a period of 18 
months from the date of this Meeting. The Board of Directors is 
thus authorised to increase the Company’s capital by a maximum 
nominal value of €503,250, equivalent to the issue of 165,000 
shares at a maximum nominal value of €3.05, and to set the issue 
price of the shares, including the share premium.
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7.4 Stock exchange information

The Company’s shares are listed on Euronext Paris.

Category: Eurolist compartment B

ISIN code: FR 0000074759 FLE
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8.1 Objectives and proposed resolutions

Resolutions tabled at the Annual Ordinary and Extraordinary General Meeting of 28 May 2014

8.1.1 Annual Ordinary General Meeting

FIRST RESOLUTION

The Annual General Meeting, having considered the management 
reports of the Board of Directors and the general report of the 
Statutory Auditors, approves the financial statements of the 
Company for the year ended 31 December 2013, as presented.

In accordance with Article 223 quater of the French General 
Tax Code, the Annual General Meeting notes that no non-
deductible expenses or charges were incurred in the year ended 
31 December 2013.

SECOND RESOLUTION

The Annual General Meeting, having considered the report of the 
Board of Directors and the general report of the Statutory Auditors, 
approves the consolidated financial statements of the Group for 
the year ended 31 December 2013, as presented.

THIRD RESOLUTION

The Annual General Meeting, having heard the Statutory Auditors’ 
special report on transactions governed by Article L. 225-38 of the 
French Commercial Code, approves the continuation of the service 
contract with Société Holding de Contrôle et de Participations 
(SHCP).

FOURTH RESOLUTION

The Annual General Meeting, having considered the Statutory 
Auditors’ special report on transactions governed by Article L. 225-
38 of the French Commercial Code, approves the continuation of 
a €30 million guarantee granted by the Company in connection 
with loans taken out by Platos Tradicionales, which was approved 
in advance by the Supervisory Board.

FIFTH RESOLUTION

The Annual General Meeting, having considered the Statutory 
Auditors’ special report on transactions governed by Article L. 225-
38 of the French Commercial Code, approves the continuation 
of a guarantee granted by the Company in connection with loans 
taken out by subsidiary Delta Dailyfood Inc. (Canada).

SIXTH RESOLUTION

The Annual General Meeting, having considered the Statutory 
Auditors’ special report on transactions governed by Article L. 225-
38 of the French Commercial Code, approves the agreement to 
waive the current account debt granted to our former subsidiary, 
Fleury Michon Polska. The said agreement was authorised by the 
Board of Directors at its meeting of 11 December 2013.

SEVENTH RESOLUTION

The Annual General Meeting, having considered the Statutory 
Auditors’ special report on transactions governed by Article L. 225-
38 of the French Commercial Code, approves the conclusion 
of a shareholder current account agreement with the simplified 
joint stock company, Très Bien Merci !. The said agreement was 
authorised by the Board of Directors at its meeting of 11 April 
2014.

EIGHTH RESOLUTION

The Annual General Meeting gives discharge to the Board of 
Directors for the year ended 31 December 2013.

NINTH RESOLUTION

The Annual General Meeting approves the recommendation 
made by the Board of Directors and resolves to appropriate profit 
available for distribution as follows:

The loss for the financial year €7,273,626

Plus retained earnings carried forward 
from prior years €20,824,384

Profit available for distribution €13,550,758

Recommended appropriation:

Payment of a dividend of €1.20 per share 
x 4,387,757 shares, totalling €5,265,308

Appropriation to retained earnings €8,285,450

TOTAL €13,550,758

The dividend per share will be €1.20, payable within five trading 
days after the Meeting or on 4 June 2014 at the latest.
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Beginning on 1 January 2013, the revenue distributed as dividends 
to individuals who are French tax residents will be taxed according 
to the sliding income tax scale. They are eligible for the 40% tax 
deduction mentioned under Article 158–3-2 of the French General 
Tax Code.

Social taxes representing a total of 15.5% of the gross dividend 
paid to individual shareholders will be withheld directly by the bank, 
so that the dividends received by shareholders are net of social 
taxes in accordance with the provisions of French Act 2007-1822 
of 24 December 2007. These taxes include CSG (8.2%), CRDS 
(0.5%) and the 4.5% social charge, surtax (0.3%) and RSA (2%).

Furthermore, as of 1 January 2013, the bank paying dividends to 
individuals who are French tax residents is required to withhold 
21% at source. This withholding represents an advance on income 
tax, which may be offset against the tax due for the year during 

which the dividend was paid. If the tax due at the end of the year 
is less than the 21% withheld, the difference will be refunded.

Therefore, the bank will deduct 21% from the amount of the 
dividend, in addition to the social taxes mentioned above (15.5%), 
for a total deduction of 36.5% applied before the dividend is paid 
to the shareholder, such that the net dividend paid to shareholders 
will be €0.762.

As an exception, people who belong to a tax household whose 
income for tax purposes from the previous year was less than 
€50,000 for single, divorced or widowed taxpayers or €75,000 
for couples, may request to be exempt from the 21% withholding. 
The exemption application must be made to the Company or the 
paying bank by the taxpayer before 31 March 2014 for income 
received in 2013.

Dividend payments for the last three years were as follows (information disclosed in compliance with Article 243 bis of the French General 
Tax Code):

Year Number of existing shares Dividend per share

2010(1) 4,595,757 €0.91

2011 4,387,757 €0.91

2012 4,387,757 €1.20

(1) Number of shares outstanding before the capital reduction on 6 July 2011.

It is also noted that, pursuant to Article 243 bis of the French 
General Tax Code, individual shareholders resident in France may 
be entitled to 40% tax relief on the full amount of the dividend 
approved by the Annual and Extraordinary General Meeting 
of 13 June 2013 (representing €1.20 per share and a total of 
€5,265,308.40).

TENTH RESOLUTION

In accordance with Article 225-45 of the French Commercial Code, 
the Annual General Meeting resolves to allocate to members of 
the Board of Directors an aggregate amount of €218,000 in 
attendance fees for 2014. This amount is below the ceiling set 
by law.

ELEVENTH RESOLUTION

The Annual General Meeting, having considered the report of 
the Board of Directors and the description of the share buyback 
programme, authorises the Board of Directors, for an additional 
18-month period commencing on 26  June 2014, with the 
option of sub-delegating authority to the Chief Executive Officer, 
to carry out a share buyback programme, in accordance with 
Article L. 225-209 of the French Commercial Code, European 
Commission Regulation (EC) no. 2273/2003 of 22 December 
2003 implementing Directive no. 2003/6/EC of 28 January 2003 
on insider trading and market manipulation, and Articles 241-1 
to 241-7 of the General Regulations of the AMF. The number of 

shares acquired under this programme may not exceed 10% of 
the Company’s capital. The purposes of this authorisation are to:

 k Stabilise the Fleury Michon share price through a liquidity 
contract with an investment firm, in accordance with the code 
of ethics approved by the AMF;

 k Purchase shares to be held for subsequent tendering in 
payment or exchange in connection with an acquisition;

 k Purchase shares to be allocated to covering the exercise 
of conversion or exchange options or any other securities 
mechanism giving entitlement to the attribution of shares;

 k Purchase shares for allocation to Fleury Michon senior 
managers or other employees, either through stock option 
plans, or more generally through any legally recognised 
programme to sell and/or grant shares to employees;

 k Purchase shares for the purpose of cancelling them as part 
of a capital reduction to increase earnings per share, in 
accordance with the 24-month authorisation granted by this 
Ordinary and Extraordinary General Meeting in its eighteenth 
resolution. The number of shares thus cancelled is subject to 
a ceiling of 10% of the Company’s share capital.

It is specified in this regard that the number of shares that could 
be purchased by the Company with a view to being held and 
subsequently remitted in payment or exchange for securities of 
another company, in connection with a merger, de-merger or asset 
transfer may not exceed 5% of the Company’s capital.
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 k The maximum net purchase price, excluding expenses, is set 
at €85 per share.

 k The minimum net sale price, excluding expenses, is set at 
€25 per share.

 k The maximum amount that may be invested under the 
programme is €15,000,000.

The shares may be bought back in one or several transactions, 
by any appropriate method, including through block purchases 
or off-market transactions, at any time, including while a public 
tender offer is in progress.

As of 26 June 2014, this authorisation replaces the authorisation 
given by the Ordinary and Extraordinary General Meeting of 
13 June 2013, which will thus remain in force until 25 June 2014.

Should the shares acquired under this buyback programmed be 
cancelled, thereby reducing the capital, the percent interest held 
by the Gonnord-Chartier families acting in concert would increase. 
Currently, the families hold 59.55% of the shares in issue and 
64.54% of the voting rights.

Full powers are given to the Board of Directors to use this 
authorisation, with the option of sub-delegating authority to the 
Chief Executive Officer, and to:

 k Place any and all buy and sell orders and enter into any and 
all agreements, including for the keeping of a register of share 
purchases and sales;

 k Carry out any and all formalities and generally do whatever is 
necessary to execute the transactions.

TWELFTH RESOLUTION

The Annual General Meeting re-elects Ms Geneviève Gonnord 
(4 rue de l’Aumônerie 85700 Pouzauges, France) to the Board of 
Directors for a three-year term to expire at the end of the Annual 
General Meeting in 2017 called to approve the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2016.

THIRTEENTH RESOLUTION

The Annual General Meeting re-elects Ms Nadine Deswasière 
(23 avenue des Fauvettes 77220 Gretz Armainvilliers, France) to 
the Board of Directors for a three-year term to expire at the end of 
the Annual General Meeting in 2017 called to approve the financial 
statements for the year ended 31 December 2016.

FOURTEENTH RESOLUTION

The Annual General Meeting re-elects Mr Philippe Magdelenat 
(17 place du Commerce, 75015 Paris, France) to the Board of 
Directors for a three-year term to expire at the end of the Annual 
General Meeting in 2017 called to approve the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2016.

FIFTEENTH RESOLUTION

The Annual General Meeting newly elects Ms Christine Mondollot 
(40 avenue Bosquet 75007 Paris, France) to the Board of Directors 
for a three-year term to expire at the end of the Annual General 
Meeting in 2017 called to approve the financial statements for the 
year ended 31 December 2016.

8.1.2 Extraordinary General Meeting

SIXTEENTH RESOLUTION

The Extraordinary General Meeting, acting under the conditions of 
quorum and majority required for Extraordinary General Meetings, 
after having reviewed the report from the Board of Directors and 
the special report from the Statutory Auditors, in accordance with 
Articles L. 225-197-1 et seq. of the French Commercial Code:

1. Authorises the Board of Directors to award shares free of 
charge, on one or more occasions, to categories of recipients 
to be designated from among the employees of the Company 
or certain companies or groups affiliated with the Company 
under the conditions set forth by Article L. 225-197-2 of the 
French Commercial Code;

2 Decides that the Board of Directors will determine the number 
of shares eligible to be awarded free of charge to each 
beneficiary;

3. Decides that the total number of free shares awarded may not 
exceed 4% of the Company’s current capital, subject to any 
potential adjustments made to maintain holders’ rights and 
that the shares awarded may not exceed the overall ceiling of 
10% of the Company’s current capital;

4. Decides that the shares awarded will be vested at the end of 
a vesting period of at least four years, the Board of Directors 
having the option of requiring beneficiaries to retain their 
shares for a certain period of time beyond this vesting period;

5. Decides that the free shares awarded pursuant to this decision 
at the end of the vesting period will be existing shares held in 
treasury by the Company, allocated or eligible to be allocated 
for this purpose.



2013 Registration Document - 167

annual general meetings 8

8

Objectives and proposed resolutions

SEVENTEENTH RESOLUTION

The Extraordinary General Meeting, acting under the conditions of 
quorum and majority required for Extraordinary General Meetings, 
after having reviewed the report from the Board of Directors and 
the special report from the Statutory Auditors, in accordance with 
Articles L. 225-197-1 et seq. of the French Commercial Code:

1. Delegates full authority to the Board of Directors, with the 
option of sub-delegating this authority under the conditions 
set forth by law, to implement the authorisation granted under 
the first resolution and:

 ● to decide which employees are entitled,

 ● to determine the exact duration of the vesting period, to 
decide whether or not to enact a retention period and, if 
so, to determine the duration thereof,

 ● to determine the number of shares to be awarded to each 
beneficiary,

 ● to determine the overall ceiling on free shares that may be 
awarded to eligible employees,

 ● to declare the date on which the free shares will be 
awarded,

 ● and, in general, to take any steps and make all decisions 
necessary for the purpose of this operation, especially as 
regards measures to protect the beneficiaries’ rights by 
adjusting the number of free shares awarded depending 
on any potential capital transactions carried out by the 
Company during the vesting period;

2 States that this authorisation will be valid for a term of 
18 months from today.

EIGHTEENTH RESOLUTION

The Extraordinary General Meeting authorises the Board of 
Directors for a period of 24-months to reduce the share capital 
by cancelling the shares that may have been acquired under 
the ninth resolution above, under the conditions set forth by 
Article L. 225-209-2 of the French Commercial Code.

As a result, the Extraordinary General Meeting grants full powers 
to the Board of Directors, with the option of sub-delegating 
authority to the Chief Executive Officer, to carry out all transactions 
required to achieve this capital reduction, notably to approve the 
final capital reduction amount, to set the terms and conditions, 
to record the reduction in capital and to amend the Articles of 
Association accordingly, to carry out all formalities and procedures 
and make all declarations and filings to all bodies, and in general, 
to take all steps necessary.

NINETEENTH RESOLUTION

Full powers are given by the Annual General Meeting to the bearer 
of an original, extract or copy of the minutes of this meeting to 
perform all filing and other formalities required by law.
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8.2 Statutory Auditors’ special report 
on regulated agreements and commitments

Year ended 31 December 2013

To the shareholders,

In our capacity as Statutory Auditors of Fleury Michon, we present below our report on regulated agreements and commitments.

We are required to report to shareholders, based on the information provided, about the main terms and conditions of agreements that 
have been disclosed to us or that came to our attention during our engagement, without commenting on their relevance or substance 
or identifying any undisclosed agreements or commitments. Under the provisions of Article R. 225-31 of the French Commercial Code, 
it is the responsibility of shareholders to determine whether the agreements and commitments are appropriate and should be approved.

We are also required to disclose to shareholders the information provided for in Article R. 225-31 of the French Commercial Code 
concerning agreements and commitments approved by shareholders in prior years which remained in force during 2012.

We conducted our review in accordance with the professional standards applicable in France. Those standards require us to verify that 
the information disclosed to us is consistent with the source documents.

AGREEMENTS AND COMMITMENTS SUBMITTED TO THE SHAREHOLDERS FOR APPROVAL

Agreements and commitments authorised during the past year

Pursuant to Article 225-40 of the French Commercial Code, we have been advised of the following agreements and commitments 
approved by your Board of Directors.

1 – agreement With fleury miChon PolsKa, a suBsiDiary of your ComPany

Type and purpose of agreement

On 11 December 2013, your Board of Directors authorised the waiver of the current account debt to your company of Fleury Michon Polska.

Amount involved

Your company waived the sum of €770,000 for the financial year ended on 31 December 2013.

Agreements and commitments authorised since the end of the financial year

We have been advised of the following agreements and commitments, authorised since the end of the financial year, approved in advance 
by your Board of Directors.

2 – agreement With trÈs Bien merCi !

Common corporate officers

Régis Lebrun, Fleury Michon’s permanent representative on the Board of Directors

Type and purpose of agreement

On 11 April 2014, the Board of Directors authorised a partner current account agreement with Très Bien Merci !. The agreement relates 
to the expenditure by your company during the three years prior to its registration.

The amounts in the current account of Très Bien Merci ! will bear interest annually at the 3-month Euribor rate +1.25%.
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Amount involved

Your company funded the development of this concept during the 2013 financial year for a total of €450,000.

AGREEMENTS AND COMMITMENTS APPROVED BY SHAREHOLDERS IN PRIOR YEARS THAT REMAINED IN FORCE 
DURING 2013

In application of Article R. 225-30 of the French Commercial Code, we have been advised of the following agreements and commitments 
that were approved by shareholders in prior years and remained in force during 2012.

1 – agreement With soCiÉtÉ holDing De ContrÔle et De PartiCiPation (shCP) sas

Common corporate officers

Grégoire Gonnord, Chief Executive Officer of SHCP

Yves Gonnord, Chairman of SHCP

Type and purpose of agreement

At its meeting of 17 December 2009, the Board of Directors authorised the continuation of a services agreement concerning the provision 
of consulting services in the areas of strategy and business development and redefined the individuals providing those services. Because 
Grégoire Gonnord no longer provides services via SHCP, the Company may provide the services itself or call in highly specialised experts 
for specific missions.

Amount involved

Your company paid €689,000 during the financial year ended on 31 December 2013.

2 – agreement With Platos traDiCionales

Common corporate officers

Régis Lebrun, Fleury Michon’s permanent representative on the Board of Directors

Raymond Doizon, Director

Type and purpose of agreement

On 21 December 2006, the Supervisory Board authorised the Management Board to issue a guarantee for loans taken out by Platos 
Tradicionales, with a ceiling of €30 million.

Amount involved

The amount of the loans guaranteed by Fleury Michon at 31 December 2013 totalled €22,343,572.

3 – agreement With Delta DailyfooD CanaDa (DDfC)

Common corporate officers

Régis Lebrun, Chairman of DDFC

Raymond Doizon, Vice-Chairman of DDFC

Type and purpose of agreement

On 22 June 2007, the Supervisory Board authorised the Management Board to issue a CAD 35 million guarantee concerning a loan 
taken out by Delta Dailyfood Canada.

Amount involved

At 31 December 2013, the amount of the loan taken out by Delta Dailyfood Canada covered by the guarantee granted by Fleury Michon 
came to CAD 3,266,055, or €2,226,199.

Orvault and Nantes, 25 April 2014

The Statutory Auditors

RSM Secovec ERNST & YOUNG Atlantique

Jean-Michel Picaud Luc Derrien
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9.1 Documents available to the public

Information on the Group is available on the corporate website www.fleurymichongroupe.com.

For additional financial information, requests can be sent to infos.finances@fleurymichon.fr.

The Articles of Association, the minutes of Annual General Meetings, the Statutory Auditors’ reports, the independent third party body’s 
report on Corporate Social Responsibility information, as well as any other corporate documents may be consulted at the Company’s 
headquarters.

The Company’s historical information (parent company and consolidated financial statements) is available online at www.fleurymichongroupe.
com, under “Finance”.

9.2 Annual and quarterly financial information

Financial press release, 14 April 2014.

2013 annual results and revenue for Q1 2014.

Business: good performance in a difficult environment

Annual revenue (in € millions) 2012 2013 Change

French Supermarkets 594.8 605.0 1.7%

International 47.8 44.0 (7.9%)

Services and Other 48.3 48.9 1.2%

TOTAL 690.9 697.9 1.0%

Against a background marked by particularly complex economic 
conditions, Fleury Michon managed to maintain annual revenue 
growth, with a 1% increase to €697.9 million. A number of factors 
affected the various business segments:

 k French Supermarkets posted revenue of €605 million, up 1.7% 
and up 2.7% for the Fleury Michon brand:

 ● the Charcuterie segment climbed 5.6% on a market that 
rose by 2.2%,

 ● the Prepared Meals business suffered collateral damage 
from the “horsegate” scandal in February, which explained 
the 2.1% drop in its sales on a market that declined by 
4.3%,

 ● the Surimi business was adversely affected by inclement 
weather in spring, at the start of the season. This caused 
this business to shrink 9.9% on a market that recorded 
a 6.4% decline;

 k Consolidated revenue for International operations fell by 7.9% 
(-3.8% at constant exchange rates) to €44 million, primarily 
due to the Canadian business. The two-joint venture activities 
performed well despite very unfavourable conditions on 
national markets. Piatti Freschi Italia edged up 2.2% in Italy, 
while Platos Tradicionales rose 6.6% in Spain;

 k Lastly, the Services business posted revenue of €48.9 million, 
up 1.2%.
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Profitability: operating and net profitability maintained

IFRS income statement items (in € millions) 2012 2013

Revenue 690.9 697.9

Operating income 37.0 32.2

Operating margin 5.3% 4.6%

Net financial income (3.0) (1.3)

Tax (13.9) (12.9)

Share of profit (loss) (2.1) (1.8)

Consolidated net profit 17.9 16.2

Net margin 2.6% 2.3%

Three key factors should be noted with respect to the Group’s 
2013 results:

 k A fiercely competitive environment and high prices of raw 
materials;

 k Increased communication investment to support the Fleury 
Michon brand;

 k The start-up of the new industrial facility in Cambrai (France).

These significant factors affected the operating income. The 
operating margin stood at 4.6% of revenue, and remained at 
a satisfactory level given the economic environment. The same 

applies to the net margin which, thanks to the improvement in net 
financial income and the share in profits and losses of associates, 
came to 2.3% of revenue for the year, which was identical to both 
half-year periods and in line with the expectations set forth in the 
press release of 29 August 2013.

The share in profits and losses of associates improved by 
€0.3  million thanks to the recovery in the Italian business’ 
profitability. The profitability of the Group’s Spanish operations 
remained positive. Overall, income for these equity-accounted 
companies came to -€1.8 million.

Financial structure: continued improvement

The Group’s balance sheet at the end of 2013 shows equity 
of €179.2 million, as against €167.5 million a year earlier. Net 
financial debt also fell by €1.9 million, with a gearing ratio of 50.7% 
compared with 55.4% at 31 December 2012.

Cash flow totalled €47.9 million and free cash flow €10.8 million.

Proposed dividend

The General Shareholders’ Meeting of 28 May approved a dividend of €1.20 per share in respect of 2013.

Fleury Michon confirms its growth strategy

The crisis affecting western economies is bringing to light a 
profound shift in our society. Consumers want to control their 
diets. This is a real opportunity for responsible brands. Fleury 
Michon has everything it needs to turn these constraints into 
opportunities.

The Group will therefore continue to apply its efforts in four major 
focus areas:

 k Intensifying the way it listens to and interacts with consumers;

 k Continuing to invest in innovation;

 k Strengthening its commitment to its segments;

 k Continuing and developing Fleury Michon’s societal 
commitment.



2013 Registration Document -174

aDDitional information9 Annual and quarterly financial information

Revenue for Q1 2014 and annual target

Contacts

In the first quarter of 2014, business was once again affected by 
the Group’s International operations and Canadian unit, although 
the good business volumes recorded in March alone reflect the 
first effects of the adjustment measures taken by the Group. The 

activities of the French Supermarkets segment over this quarter 
followed the same pattern, with a stable March compared with 
March 2013.

INVESTORS, ANALYSTS, FINANCIAL JOURNALISTS

Jean-Louis Roy, Head of Administration and Finance

OTHER JOURNALISTS AND MEDIA

Éric Coly, Head of financial communication
02 51 66 30 20
infos.finances@fleurymichon.fr
www.fleurymichon.fr

Revenue (in € millions IFRS) Q1 2013 Q1 2014 Change

French Supermarkets 151.3 146.5 (3.2%)

International 11.1 8.8 (20.7%)

Services and Other 12.1 12.6 4.1%

TOTAL 174.5 167.9 (3.8%)

Despite this first quarter, Fleury Michon has confirmed its goal of 
once again achieving profitable growth in 2014 and strengthening 
its positions both in France and abroad. In this context and given 

its ongoing marketing and communication campaigns, the Group 
is projecting business growth of around 4% in 2014.
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Statutory Auditors of the issuer

9.3 Person responsible for the financial report

2013 annual financial report declaration

9.4 Statutory Auditors of the issuer

9.4.1 Statutory Auditors of the issuer

PRIMARY STATUTORY AUDITORS

ERNST & YOUNG ATLANTIQUE RSM SECOVEC

3 rue Émile-Masson L’Arpège, 213 route de Rennes

44019 Nantes, France BP 60277

44702 Orvault Cedex, France

Member of the Rennes Regional Association  
of Statutory Auditors

Member of the Rennes Regional Association  
of Statutory Auditors

Represented by Luc Derrien Represented by Jean-Michel Picaud

ALTERNATE STATUTORY AUDITORS

Pierre Jouis Jean-Michel Grimonprez

3 rue Émile-Masson L’Arpège, 213 route de Rennes

44019 Nantes, France 44702 Orvault Cedex, France

START OF TERM

25 June 2009 9 June 2011

END OF TERM

Annual General Meeting called to approve the financial 
statements for the year ended 31 December 2014

Annual General Meeting called to approve the financial 
statements for the year ended 31 December 2016

I hereby declare that to the best of my knowledge, the consolidated 
financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 
applicable accounting standards and give a true and fair view of 
the assets, liabilities, financial position and results of operations 
of the Company and its subsidiaries; and the accompanying 
Management Report provides a fair review of the business, major 
events of the year and their impact on the results of operations 
and financial position of the Company and its subsidiaries, as 

well as a description of the main transactions with related parties 
principal risks and uncertainties to which the Company and its 
subsidiaries are exposed.

Pouzauges, 25 April 2014

The Chairman

Grégoire Gonnord
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9.4.2 Statutory Auditors of the information incorporated by reference 
in this document

PRIMARY STATUTORY AUDITORS

ERNST & YOUNG ATLANTIQUE RSM SECOVEC

3 rue Émile-Masson L’Arpège, 213 route de Rennes

44019 Nantes, France BP 60277

44702 Orvault Cedex, France

Member of the Rennes Regional Association  
of Statutory Auditors

Member of the Rennes Regional Association  
of Statutory Auditors

Represented by Luc Derrien Represented by Jean-Michel Picaud

ALTERNATE STATUTORY AUDITORS

Pierre Jouis Jean-Michel Grimonprez

46 bis rue des Hauts Pavés L’Arpège, 213 route de Rennes

44010 Nantes, France 44702 Orvault Cedex, France

START OF TERM

25 June 2009 9 June 2011

END OF TERM

Annual General Meeting called to approve the financial 
statements for the year ended 31 December 2014

Annual General Meeting called to approve the financial 
statements for the year ended 31 December 2016

9.5 Independent third party body auditing 
Corporate Social Responsibility information

ERNST & YOUNG et Associés

Tour First TSA 14444

92037 Paris La Défense Cedex, France

Département Environnement et Développement Durable (Environment and Sustainable Development Department)

Represented by Eric Mugnier
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Management report cross-reference table

9.6 Management report cross-reference table

The information contained is reproduced in full in the various chapters of the Registration Document.

Reference texts Chapter no.

Commentary on the financial year

French Commercial Code L. 225-100,  
L. 225-100-2, L. 232-1, 
L. 233-6 and L. 233-26

Objective and exhaustive analysis of developments 
in the Company’s and Group’s business, performance 
and financial position

4.2, 4.3 
and 4.5

French Commercial Code L. 225-100 and 
L. 225-100-2

Key non-financial performance indicators relevant 
to the Company’s specific business activity

N/A

French Commercial Code L. 233-6 Significant stakes acquired during the financial year in companies 
head-quartered in France

4.9

French Commercial Code L. 232-1 and L. 233-26 Significant events that occurred between the financial year-end 
and the date on which the document was drawn up

4.10

French Commercial Code L. 232-1 and L. 233-26 Foreseeable developments regarding the position 
of the Company and the Group

4.4 and 
4.6.

French General Tax Code 243 bis Dividends distributed over the three preceding financial years 
and amount of income distributed for these years eligible for 
the 40% tax deduction

4.7.

Presentation of the Group

French Commercial Code L. 225-100  
and L. 225-100-2

Description of the main risks and uncertainties faced 
by the Company

1.6

French Commercial Code L. 225-100  
and L. 225-100-2

The Company’s use of financial instruments: objectives 
and policy in relation to financial risk management

1.6.4

French Commercial Code L. 225-100  
and L. 225-100-2

Company’s exposure to price, credit, liquidity or cash flow risks 1.6.2 and 
1.6.4

French Commercial Code L. 225-102-1, 
L. 225-102-2  
and R. 225-104

Social and environmental consequences of business 
(including “Seveso” sites)

2

French Commercial Code L. 232-1 Research and development activities 1.5

Corporate governance

French Commercial Code L. 225-102-1 List of all offices and positions held in any company by each 
of the corporate officers during the financial year

3.1

French Commercial Code L. 225-102-1 Total compensation and benefits of any kind paid to each 
executive officer during the year

3.2.1

French Commercial Code L. 225-102-1 Commitments of any nature made by the Company for 
the benefit of its corporate officers, such as compensation, 
indemnities or benefits due or susceptible to become due when, 
or after, such persons assume, cease or change positions

3.2.1

French Commercial Code L. 225-184 Stock options granted, subscribed or purchased during 
the financial year by the corporate officers and the ten 
highest-earning non-executive employees of the Company, 
and stock options granted to all eligible employees, by category

3.2.5

French Commercial Code L. 225-185 Conditions for the exercise and retention of stock options 
by corporate officers

3.2.5

French Commercial Code L. 225-197-1 Conditions for the retention of free shares awarded 
to corporate officers

3.2.5
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Reference texts Chapter no.

French Monetary 
and Financial Code

L. 621-18-2 Transactions by senior executives and associated persons 
involving the Company’s shares

3.2.2

Information on the Company and its capital

French Commercial Code L. 225-100-3 Rules applicable to the appointment and replacement 
of members of the Board of Directors or Management Board, 
as well as to changes in the Company’s Articles of Association

7.1

French Commercial Code L. 225-100-3 Powers of the Board of Directors or Management Board, 
in particular concerning the issue or buyback of shares

7.1 and 
7.3.6

French Commercial Code L. 225-211 Purchases and sales of treasury shares during the financial year 7.3.5

French Commercial Code R. 228-90 Adjustments for share equivalents in the event of share 
buybacks or financial transactions

N/A

French Commercial Code L. 225-100 Table summarising the outstanding delegations granted 
by the Annual General Shareholders’ Meeting to the Board 
of Directors or Management Board in relation to capital increases

7.3.6

French Commercial Code L. 225-100-3 
and L. 233-13

Structure and changes to the Company’s share capital 7.2 and 
7.3.1

French Commercial Code L. 225-100-3 Statutory limitations on the exercise of voting rights 
and transfer of shares or clauses in agreements brought 
to the attention of the Company

7.3.1 and 
7.3.3

French Commercial Code L. 225-100-3 Direct or indirect shareholdings in the Company, of which 
the Company is aware

7.3.1

French Commercial Code L. 225-102 Employee shareholding in the Company’s capital on the last day 
of the financial year and portion of the share capital represented 
by the shares held by employees under the employee share 
ownership plan and by the employees and former employees 
under employee mutual investment funds

7.3.4

French Commercial Code L. 225-100-3 Holders of any securities conferring special control rights 
and a description of those rights

N/A

French Commercial Code L. 225-100-3 Control mechanisms within any employee shareholding system, 
where control rights are not exercised by the employees

N/A

French Commercial Code L. 225-100-3 Agreements between shareholders of which the Company 
is aware and which may give rise to restrictions on share 
transfers and voting rights

7.3.3

French Commercial Code L. 225-100-3 Agreements entered into by the Company that are amended 
or terminated in the event of a change in control, with 
the exception of those agreements whose disclosure could 
seriously harm its interests (except in the event of a legal 
obligation to disclose)

N/A

French Commercial Code L. 225-100-3 Agreements providing for indemnities payable to employees 
or members of the Board of Directors or Management Board 
in the event that they resign or are dismissed without real 
or serious cause or if their employment contract is terminated 
as a result of a public tender offer

3.2.

French Commercial Code L. 464-2 Injunctions or fines as a result of anti-competitive practices N/A

Financial statements

French Commercial Code L. 232-6 Changes in the presentation of the financial statements or 
in the valuation methods used

5.5 (Note 1)

French Commercial Code R. 225-102 Fleury Michon five-year financial summary 6.7
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10.1 Incorporation by reference

Pursuant to Article 28 of Commission Regulation (EC) no. 809/2004 
implementing the so-called “Prospective Directive” 2003/71/EC, 
the following information is incorporated by reference into this 
Registration Document:

 k Fleury Michon’s parent company and consolidated financial 
statements (IFRS) for the fiscal year ended 31 December 2012, 
as well as the corresponding Statutory Auditors’ report, are found 
in Registration Document no. R. 13-030, filed with the French 
Financial Markets Authority (Autorité des Marchés Financiers – 
AMF) on 31 May 2013.

Available online at Fleury Michon’s website http://www.
fleurymichongroupe.com under “Finance” and “Document 2012”;

 k Fleury Michon’s parent company and consolidated financial 
statements (IFRS) for the fiscal year ended 31 December 2011, 
as well as the corresponding Statutory Auditors’ report, are found 
in Registration Document no. R.13-005, filed with the French 
Financial Markets Authority (Autorité des Marchés Financiers – 
AMF) on 21 February 2013.

Available online at Fleury Michon’s website http://www.
fleurymichongroupe.com under “Finance” and “Document 2011”.

10.2 Person responsible for the Registration 
Document

Person responsible for the Registration Document

Régis Lebrun
CEO
Fleury Michon

Declaration by the person responsible for the Registration Document

I hereby declare that, having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case, the information contained in this Registration Document 
is, to the best of my knowledge, consistent with the facts and contains no omission likely to affect its import.

I hereby declare that to the best of my knowledge, the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the applicable accounting 
standards and give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and results of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries; 
and that the Management Report included in this Registration Document, the various sections of which are listed in the cross-reference table in 
Section 9.6, provides a fair review of the business development, results of operations and financial position of the Company and its consolidated 
subsidiaries, as well as a description of the principal risks and uncertainties to which the Company and its subsidiaries are exposed.

I have obtained a statement from the Statutory Auditors at the end of their engagement affirming that they have read the entire document and 
verified the information regarding the financial situation and the financial statements contained therein.

The Statutory Auditors have issued reports on the historical financial information pertaining to the year ended 31 December 2013 contained in 
this Registration Document. These reports appear in Sections 5.6 and 6.8.

The Statutory Auditors have issued a report on the consolidated financial statements pertaining to the year ended 31 December 2012, 
incorporated by reference in this Registration Document. This report contains a remark on the consolidated financial statements: Without 
prejudice to the opinion expressed above, we draw your attention to Note 1.1.1 to the consolidated financial statements, which describes the 
early adoption of the revised version of IAS 19, “Employee Benefits”.

Pouzauges, 26 May 2014
Régis Lebrun

CEO
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10.3 Cross-reference table

Registration Document cross-reference table

In accordance with Annex I of Commission Regulation (EC) no. 809/2004.

To enhance the readability of the document filed as a Registration Document, the following cross-reference table is provided to identify 
the main sections required by Commission Regulation (EC) no. 809/2004 of 29 April 2004.

Section Chapter Pages

1. PERSONS RESPONSIBLE

1.1. Name and title of the person responsible for the document 10.2 180

1.2. Statement by the person responsible 10.2 180

2. STATUTORY AUDITORS

2.1. Name and address of the issuer’s Statutory Auditors 5.5 Note 3.26, 9.4.1 127, 175

2.2.  Statutory Auditors of the information incorporated by reference in this 
document 9.4.2 176

3. SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

3.1. Historical financial information 1.1 10, 11

3.2. Information for interim periods N/A. N/A

4. RISK FACTORS

4.1. Legal risks 1.6.3 24

4.2. Industrial and environmental risks 2.5 41 to 49

4.3. Credit and/or counterparty risk 1.6.4.5 25

4.4. Operational risks 1.6.1, 1.6.2 23

4.5. Liquidity risks 1.6.4.4 25

4.6. Market risks

4.6.1. Interest rate risk 1.6.4.2 24

4.6.2. Currency risk 1.6.4.1 24

4.6.3. Risk related to shares and other financial instruments 1.6.4.3 25

4.6.4. Raw materials risk 1.6.2 23

5. INFORMATION ABOUT THE ISSUER

5.1. History and development of the Company

5.1.1. Legal and commercial name of the issuer 7.1 154

5.1.2. Place of registration and registration number of the issuer 7.1 154

5.1.3. Date of incorporation and term of the issuer 7.1 154

5.1.4. Headquarters and legal form of the issuer, governing law, country 
of origin, address and telephone number 7.1 154

5.1.5. Important events in the development of the issuer’s business 1.2, 4.4 12 to 13, 96

5.2. Investments

5.2.1. Principal investments made by the issuer 1.4.5, 4.9, 6.5 Note 1 20, 98, 138

5.2.2. Principal investments by the issuer in progress
1.4.5, 6.5  

Notes 3 & 17 20, 98, 145

5.2.3. Principal future investments by the issuer N/A
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Section Chapter Pages

6. BUSINESS OVERVIEW

6.1. Principal activities 1.1.2, 1.4 10, 15 to 21

6.2. Principal markets 1.4 15 to 21

6.3.  Exceptional factors that have influenced information provided 
under items 6.1 and 6.2 N/A -

6.4.  Extent to which the issuer is dependent on patents or licences, industrial, 
commercial or financial contracts or new manufacturing processes N/A -

6.5. Competitive position 1.4 15 to 21

7. ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE

7.1. Description of the Group and the issuer’s position within the Group 1.3 14

7.2. List of significant subsidiaries of the issuer 5.5 Notes 3.27, 6.6 128, 148 to 149

8. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

8.1. Significant existing or planned property, plant and equipment
1.4.5, 5.5 

Notes 3.3 & 3.4, 20, 116 ,117

8.2.  Environmental issues that may affect the issuer’s utilisation of the property, 
plant and equipment 2.5, 2.8

41 to 49  
69 to 71

9. OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

9.1. Financial position 4.2, 4.3 94, 95

9.2. OPERATING PROFIT

9.2.1. Significant factors 4.1, 4.2 94

9.2.2. Changes in revenue and explanation for such changes 4.2.1 94

9.2.3. Governmental, economic, budgetary, monetary or political strategies 
or factors that could materially affect the issuer’s operations 1.6 23 to 25

10. CAPITAL RESOURCES

10.1.  Information concerning the issuer’s capital resources  
(both short and long term) 5.1, 5.4, 6.1, 6.4, 7.2

102, 106, 132, 133, 
136, 157

10.2. Source and amounts of the cash flows
5.3, 6.3,

5.5 Note 3.21
105, 135,  
125, 126

10.3.  Information on borrowing requirements and the funding structure of the 
issuer

5.5 Notes 1.3, 3.9  
& 3.11 114, 120, 121

10.4. Restrictions on the use of capital resources 7.3.1 158

10.5. Sources of funds 1.4.5 & 5.5 Note 3.11 20, 121

11. RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT, PATENTS AND LICENSES 1.5 22

12. INFORMATION ON TRENDS

12.1. Major trends since the end of the previous year 4.4, 9.2 96, 172 to 174

12.2. Events that are reasonably likely to influence the outlook 4.4, 9.2 96, 172 to 174

13. PROFIT FORECASTS OR ESTIMATES N/A

14. ADMINISTRATIVE, MANAGEMENT, AND SUPERVISORY BODIES AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

14.1. Administrative and management bodies 3.1 74 to 80

14.2.  Conflicts of interest within administrative, management and supervisory 
bodies and executive management 3.1.4 78
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Section Chapter Pages

15. COMPENSATION AND BENEFITS TO PERSONS REFERRED TO UNDER ITEM 14.1

15.1.  Total compensation paid and benefits in kind granted by the issuer 
and its subsidiaries 3.2.1, 3.2.2, 3.2.3 81, 82, 83

15.2.  The total amounts set aside or accrued by the issuer or its subsidiaries 
in order to provide pension, retirement or similar benefits 3.2.4 84

16. PRACTICES OF ADMINISTRATIVE AND MANAGEMENT BODIES

16.1. End of term 3.1.5 78, 79, 80

16.2. Service contracts 3.1.4 78

16.3. Audit Committee and Compensation Committee 3.1, 3.3 74, 75, 86 to 89

16.4.  Issuer’s compliance (or non-compliance) with corporate 
governance principles 3.3 86 to 92

17. EMPLOYEES

17.1.  Number of employees at the end of the period covered by the historical 
financial information or average number during each year within this period 
and breakdown of employees 2.4.1, 5.5 Note 3.23 31 to 34, 126

17.2. Employee profit-sharing and stock options 3.2.5 84, 85

17.3. Arrangement for involving employees in the capital of the issuer 7.2.1 157

18. MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS

18.1.  Name of any person other than a member of the administrative, 
management or supervisory bodies who, directly or indirectly, holds 
a percentage of the share capital or voting rights requiring disclosure 
pursuant to French law 7.3.1, 7.3.2 158, 159

18.2. Differences between the voting rights of the major shareholders 7.3.1 and 7.3.2 158, 159

18.3. Control of the issuer 7.3.1 158

18.4.  Arrangements, the operation of which may result in a change in control 
of the Company 7.3.3 159

19. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 5.5 Notes 3.24, 8.2 126, 168, 169

20.  FINANCIAL INFORMATION CONCERNING THE ISSUER’S ASSETS AND LIABILITIES, 
FINANCIAL POSITION AND PROFITS AND LOSSES

20.1. Historical financial information 6, 10.1 131 to 152, 180

20.2. Pro-forma financial information N/A -

20.3. Consolidated annual financial statements 5, 10.1 101 to 130, 180

20.4. Auditing of annual historical financial information 5.6, 6.8, 9.4
129, 130, 151, 152, 

175, 176

20.5. Date of latest audited financial information 5 101 to 130

20.6. Interim and other financial information 9.2 172 to 174

20.7. Dividend distribution policy 4.7, 7.1, 7.2 97, 154 to 157

20.8. Legal and arbitration procedures 1.6.3 24

20.9.  Significant change in the financial or commercial situation since the end 
of the last financial year 4.4, 4.10 96, 99
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Section Chapter Pages

21. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

21.1. Share capital

21.1.1. Total subscribed capital 7.2.1 157

21.1.2. Other shares not representing capital N/A -

21.1.3. Shares held by the issuer 7.3.5 160

21.1.4. Convertible or exchangeable securities 7.2.1 157

21.1.5. Information on conditions governing any right of acquisition 
or any company seeking to increase capital 7.3.6 161

21.1.6. Conditional or unconditional option or agreement N/A -

21.1.7. Share capital history 7.2.2 157

21.2. Memorandum and articles of association

21.2.1. Corporate purpose of the issuer 7.1 154

21.2.2. Provisions and rules relating to administrative 
and management bodies 7.1 154 to 156

21.2.3. Rights associated with shares 7.1 154

21.2.4. Changes to Shareholders’ rights 7.1 156

21.2.5. Convening of Annual General Meetings and conditions for admission 7.1 154 to 156

21.2.6. Information on changes of control N/A -

21.2.7. Shareholding threshold disclosures 7.3.2 159

21.2.8. Conditions governing changes to the articles of association N/A -

22. MAJOR CONTRACTS N/A -

23.  THIRD PARTY INFORMATION, STATEMENTS BY EXPERTS 
AND DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 9.5 176

24. DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE TO THE PUBLIC 9.1 172

25. INFORMATION ON SHAREHOLDINGS 5.5 Note 3.27 128






